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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences acknowledges
Australia’s First Nations Peoples as the Traditional Owners
and Custodians of the land and gives respect to the
Elders — past and present — and through them to all
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. The Museum
recognises and shares the value and importance of
preserving, revitalising and strengthening Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander cultures, histories and achievements.
Central to achieving the Museum’s vision for reconciliation
is the exploration and fulfilment of a range of mutually
beneficial opportunities in partnership with Traditional
Owners and Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander cultures
and networks, allowing the activities of the Museum to
be linked to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples
as a fundamental human right.
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CHARTER
The Museum was established following the 1879 Sydney
International Exhibition which was its genesis. The
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Museum)
was established under the Museum of Applied Arts and
Sciences Act 1945 (MAAS Act). Aspects of the Museum’s
management and governance are also covered under the
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Regulation 2018.
At 30 June 2020 the Museum was responsible for the
Powerhouse Museum, the Sydney Observatory, and the
Museums Discovery Centre, Castle Hill.
The Museum’s Act requires it to effectively minister to
the needs and demands of the community in any or all
branches of applied science and art and the development
of industry by:
— the display of selected objects arranged to illustrate
the industrial advance of civilisation and the development
of inventions and manufactures,
— the promotion of craftsmanship and artistic taste by
illustrating the history and development of the
applied arts,
— lectures, broadcasts, films, publications and other
educational means,
— scientific research, or
— any other means necessary or desirable for the
development of the natural resources and manufacturing
industries of New South Wales.

Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2019–20
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PRESIDENT FOREWORD
I am pleased to present the Powerhouse Museum’s Annual
Report for 2019-20.
Over the past five years I have been honoured to lead the
Museum through its greatest period of transformation in its
140-year history. The Powerhouse Program will renew the
Museum will ensure the Powerhouse increases public access
to its significant collections while remaining relevant and
engaged with the changing communities of Greater Sydney
and NSW.
The Trust and Museum have long advocated that the
Museum is a single organisation, inclusive of its collection,
across the Powerhouse Museum in Ultimo, the historic
Sydney Observatory in Millers Point and the Museums
Discovery Centre in Castle Hill; and the new flagship
Powerhouse Parramatta. The Government’s announcement
in July 2020 has realised this vision and will result in the
community being able to experience more of our globallyrenowned collection.
This visionary investment by the NSW Government to
establish two world-class museums in Parramatta and Ultimo
will ensure the Powerhouse will create a generational legacy
and ensure that this institution will be forever embedded into
the contemporary identity of our great city and State.
Significant achievements have been made in the Powerhouse
Program this year with the architectural partnership of
Moreau Kusunoki and Genton selected to design Powerhouse
Parramatta following a global design competition. Planning
for the new flagship Museum has powered ahead with the
Environmental Impact Statement for Powerhouse Parramatta
placed on public exhibition and extensive consultation
conducted with local communities and key stakeholders.
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The Museum progressed the planning process to expand
the Museums Discovery Centre in Castle Hill during
2019-20. The expansion will create a new state-of-the-art
building that will allow spaces for the storage, care,
research and viewing of the Powerhouse Collection, as
well as flexible spaces for education and public programs,
workshops, talks and events.
In October 2019, the Powerhouse Collection Relocation
and Digitisation Project was launched by the Minister
for the Arts, The Hon Don Harwin. This project will see
330,000 items in the Museum’s collection digitised,
greatly increasing access to the collection for both local,
national and international audiences.
I would like to acknowledge the Trustees for their
ongoing commitment and leadership and thank them
all for their support. In 2019-20 we farewelled Trust
members: Tim Ebbeck, Darren Steinberg, Dr Alex Birrell,
and Lisa Chung AM. They brought a wealth of experience
from their respective fields and I thank them for their
service and expertise. We welcomed Suzie Laundy and
Peter Poulet who joined the Powerhouse Museum as
Trustees in January 2020.
On behalf of the Trust, I would like to commend the
Museum’s Chief Executive, Lisa Havilah, for her
transformational leadership of our institution. Importantly,
I acknowledge the dedicated museum staff for their
professionalism and ongoing achievements.
Professor Barney Glover AO
President

CHIEF EXECUTIVE FOREWORD
It has been a privilege to lead the Museum during this
remarkable time of growth and renewal. The NSW
Government’s 4 July announcement expands our institution
to create two world-class Museums – the renewal of Ultimo
and the creation of our flagship Museum in Parramatta.
Powerhouse Parramatta will be Australia’s leading
Museum for science, technology and engineering.
It will be a landmark institution that will transform
access to arts and culture for the people of Western
Sydney, and the wider NSW community. Our renewal
program for Powerhouse Ultimo gives us an opportunity
to reimagine our extraordinary Museum within the
growing Pyrmont precinct.
This year the Powerhouse focused on the creation and
presentation of Museum-produced exhibitions. These
have included Apollo 11, Linear and Jenny Kee and
Linda Jackson: Step Into Paradise. This shift in exhibition
programming away from touring exhibitions has resulted
in a significant uplift in visitor numbers and an increase
in positive media and industry engagement.
In 2019 the Powerhouse launched the inaugural creative
industries residency program. Selected residents
occupied dedicated subsidised workspaces at the
Powerhouse Museum in Ultimo with the opportunity to
collaborate with the Museum team during their residency.
The program further emphasises our commitment to
supporting NSW creative industries and the development
of contemporary practice.

The Museum continued to grow its collection in 2019-20
and established commissions for artists to create new
works for the collection through the Willoughby Bequest
2020 Commissioning Program. We continued to increase
public access to the collection through the Powerhouse
Program’s digitisation project which has seen a 33%
increase in page views of the Museum’s online collection.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2019-20 resulted in
the temporary closure of the Powerhouse Museum, Sydney
Observatory and Museums Discovery Centre this year to
protect the health and safety of staff, volunteers and our
visitors. I was proud to witness the resilience of our staff
during this period with many transitioning to providing our
audiences with digital programs or refocusing their work
towards the care and digitisation of the collection. The
Museum has continued to find solutions to providing access
to the collection and exhibitions upon re-opening. We look
forward to presenting a dynamic program in the coming year.
I would like to thank The Hon Don Harwin, NSW Minister
for the Arts, for his ongoing leadership and the NSW
Government for its continued investment into our institution.
I acknowledge the Trust for their expert guidance over
the past year and, in particular, I thank Professor Barney
Glover AO who will finish his term at the end of 2020.
Professor Glover has made a remarkable contribution to
our institution during his tenure.
I thank the staff and volunteers for their many achievements,
hard work and dedication over the past year and I look
forward to our ongoing collaboration in the years to come.
Lisa Havilah
Chief Executive
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION
In 2021 the Powerhouse will develop a new Strategic Plan
to guide the institution through to 2030, this will be
developed by organisational, industry and community
consultation that has been undertaken over the last
12 months. The Strategic Plan will focus on the development
of First Nations and culturally relevant programming;
expanding access to the collection; innovative curatorial
practice; new forms of industry engagement; and
developing programs which integrate community
participation and learning across the institution.

Powerhouse Program
The Powerhouse Program represents a once-in-a-generation
opportunity to renew one of Australia’s most significant
cultural institutions. The NSW Government investment
in the Powerhouse Program will increase cultural
participation in NSW and will underpin the future success
and cultural and community impact of the Powerhouse
across its four sites.

Powerhouse Parramatta
The creation of Powerhouse Parramatta represents the
most important cultural transformation of the institution
and signifies a major shift in how Sydney thinks about itself,
its culture and its communities. It marks the largest cultural
investment since the Sydney Opera House and, for the first
time, a State cultural institution will be located in Western
Sydney – in Parramatta, the geographical heart of Sydney.
Designed by Moreau Kusunoki (Paris) and Genton
(Sydney), the Powerhouse Parramatta will be the flagship
Museum for the institution and will be the largest museum
in NSW. With seven flexible museum spaces and over
18,000 square metres of exhibition and public spaces,
Powerhouse Parramatta will significantly increase access
to the Powerhouse collection through its constantly
changing museum exhibition programs. The Powerhouse
Paramatta, home to the Powerlab and the Academy, will
focus on science and technology.
This year an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)
was developed and placed on public exhibition in
June 2020 as part of the State Significant Development
Application for Powerhouse Parramatta. The Museum,
with its delivery partner Infrastructure NSW, undertook a
program of community consultation to ensure community
values and ideas are embedded into the future of the
Museum and precinct. More than 200 stakeholders and
1700 community members engaged with this process. As
an ongoing commitment to consultation, the Powerhouse
established a Community Reference Group in March
2020 that represents youth, heritage, First Nations,
business, education and cultural groups in Parramatta
and Western Sydney.

Powerhouse Ultimo
On 4 July 2020, the NSW Government announced
the renewal of Powerhouse, Ultimo. The Museum
is working in partnership with Create NSW to develop
a Final Business Case for Government’s consideration.
Powerhouse Ultimo will have a focus on design and
innovation. The renewal provides an opportunity to:
— ensure the Museum meets international
museum standards;
— contribute to the evolving tech and creative precincts
surrounding the site;
— reorientate the Museum’s entrance to face the
newly established Darling Square development;
— and ensure the Museum continues to deliver
contemporary narratives using the institution’s collection.

Museums Discovery Centre, Castle Hill
The Museums Discovery Centre (MDC), Castle Hill is the
home of the Powerhouse collection, where Museum staff
undertake the careful work of conservation and exhibition
preparation, as well as offering visitors an up-close-andpersonal experience of the scale and diversity of the
collection. Powerhouse and Create NSW have been
collaborating closely on the design and delivery of a new
purpose-built facility for the storage, care and viewing of
the collection, with Lahznimmo Architects as the Principal
Design Consultant. The proposed new building (to be
known as Building J) is to be located on the western edge
of the existing TAFE site, near the current eastern
boundary of the MDC site. The primary objectives of the
project are to provide new state-of-the-art spaces for the
storage, care and conservation of the collection to
support all four sites of the Museum, and to provide new
opportunities for the community to engage with the
collection through a variety of programs and experiences.
In 2019–20 the Powerhouse Museum and Create NSW
progressed a planning proposal to rezone the site for the
Museums Discovery Centre expansion in addition to a
Secretary’s Environmental Assessment Requirements
(SEARs) for the State Significant Development Application
for the construction and operation of the new building, prior
to beginning initial community and stakeholder consultation.

Image: Lahznimmo Architects

6

Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2019–20

VISITATION
Collection Relocation and Digitisation Project
The Powerhouse Collection Relocation and Digitisation
Project is one of the largest digitisation projects in Australia
which will digitally capture over 330,000 items from the
Museum’s collection. The digitisation project commenced
in October 2019 and will result in new levels of access to
the Museum’s extraordinary collection, with digital images
able to be accessed online.
In 2019–20 the Powerhouse Collection Relocation and
Digitisation team assessed 134,366 items and documented
the parent records of 29,418 items. More than 2,900 items
were also digitised this year. The Powerhouse also
established an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander team
who will focus on the Museum’s First Nations’ objects for
the Collection Relocation and Digitisation Project.

Sydney Observatory
As a nexus for academic, community and industry
engagement in the fields of astronomy, weather and
science, Sydney Observatory continues to serve as an
active public observatory, museum and education facility,
with a program of highly successful public and education
programs and tours centred on telescope viewing
experiences of the Southern Night Sky.
This year, a number of initiatives were undertaken to
enrich the visitor experience, including a new exhibition
of artefacts and archival photographs from the Museum
collection of Sydney Opera House and Sydney Harbour
Bridge (both of which can be viewed from the
Observatory), and the introduction of the Sydney
Observatory Highlights Tour, where visitors can uncover
the history of Sydney Observatory and discover the
science of contemporary astronomy on a 60-minute tour
guided by an expert astronomer.
As custodians of this exceptionally significant heritage
place, the Museum has continued research to inform the
new Conservation Management Plan for Sydney
Observatory, a significant body of work which builds on
historian James Semple Kerr’s seminal Conservation Plan
(2002/2012) for the site. Over the past year this work has
focused on research and documentation of historical and
contemporary Indigenous connections to the site.

2019-20 Visitation
Powerhouse Museum

478,020
95,135

Sydney Observatory

10,157

Museums Discovery Centre*
TOTAL onsite visitation**

583,312

TOTAL offsite visitation***

1,233,476

TOTAL visitation

1,816,788

* Museums Discovery Centre is a run in collaboration with
Australian Museum and Sydney Living Museums and visitation
to this site is attributed to all three collaborating agencies.
** Onsite visitation was impacted through the closure of the Museum
from 23 March to 1 June 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Public
programming was also temporarily suspended from 16 March 2020
to ensure the safety of staff and visitors. Upon reopening the Museum’s
sites, free timed-entry tickets and restricted capacities to enable
physical distancing were implemented.
*** Offsite visitation includes engagement with Museum collection
items on loan to other institutions.

Onsite audiences
The Museum’s visitation numbers were impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic, with all sites temporarily closing in
early 2020. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Museum
saw an increase in general admissions with visitors coming
to see Museum developed exhibitions Jenny Kee and Linda
Jackson: Step Into Paradise, Linear, and Apollo 11.

Offsite and digital audiences
Offsite visitation represents engagement through offers
delivered by the Museum outside its venues, including
public programs and touring exhibitions and through offsite
engagement with the Museum’s collection. In 2019-20 the
Museum’s offsite visitation saw a significant increase from
the previous year due to an increase in collection loans and
participation in key NSW events such as the Sydney Gay
and Lesbian Mardi Gras.
Public engagement with the Museum’s digital platforms
remained strong, with a significant increase in access to the
online collection and a pivot to online delivery of programs
and educational content in response to COVID-19.
Approximately 2,900 objects were added to the online
collection via the collection digitisation project, and page
views to the online collection for the period grew by 33%.
Within the galleries, the Apollo 11 exhibition saw the
development of an innovative Virtual Reality (VR) experience
in partnership with UNSW to mark the 50th anniversary of
the moon landing. The experience, which put visitors within
astronaut Michael Collins’ seat proved highly popular with
approximately 22,000 people taking part during the course
of the exhibition.
More recently, digital gallery guides with QR code access
were successfully implemented across Museum sites,
allowing visitors to safely access gallery information on
their own devices.

Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2019–20
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POWERHOUSE PROGRAM HIGHLIGHTS
Based on public health advice, face-to-face programming
was suspended on 16 March 2020 in response to COVID-19.
To ensure the safety of staff and visitors the Museum
closed from 23 March to 1 June 2020. Upon reopening the
Museum’s sites, free timed-entry tickets and restricted
capacities to enable physical distancing were implemented.
A selection of programs and content from all three sites
was recalibrated to maintain connection with our audiences
and to augment and amplify existing digital engagement
platforms, such as website, blogs, podcasts, live streaming
and social media. This included a rollout of educational
resources to our extensive database of schools across
NSW and a number of digital engagement opportunities
targeting diverse audiences through programs such as
Sydney Design Week, Science Festival, Biennale of Sydney
as well as digital and online programs co-developed with
the Museum’s cohort of creative residents and partners.
During this time, regular Email Direct Mail (EDMs) provided
our audiences with family friendly activities as well as
curriculum-linked support material for many families who
were working from home and managing remote education
for their school-aged children.

Exhibitions: Powerhouse Museum
100 Years of the Bauhaus
19 July 2019 – 28 May 2020
This exhibition commemorated 100 years since the
establishment of the Bauhaus and featured key Bauhausrelated objects from the Museum’s collection. Established in
1919 in the town of Weimar, Germany, the Bauhaus was the
most influential school of art and design in the 20th Century.
Australian Geographic Nature Photographer of the Year
16 August 2019 – 20 October 2019
A collection of photographs celebrating the natural heritage
of the bioregions of Australia and New Zealand, the
Antarctic and New Guinea. Photographers from around
the world were invited to submit their nature and wildlife
photographs from our region. Presented in partnership
with the Australian Museum and South Australian Museum.
Baranyi: 28 April 1770
2 June 2020 – 21 March 2021
Baranyi describes the concept of ‘yesterday’ in the language
of the Eora. This installation considers how the lives of
Australia’s First Nations Peoples changed forever when
the Endeavour sailed into Kamay (Botany Bay) on 29 April
1770. Using technology that enables visitors to move
through time and space – showing us where we have come
from, helping us understand the impact of our footprints
on Country and showing us the night sky as it was seen
from Kamay on the evening of 28 April 1770 — the last sky
before contact.
Cue: 50 Years of Australian Fashion
29 November 2020 – 26 April 2020
Cue: 50 Years of Australian Fashion was the first exhibition
to explore the unique story of the loved fashion brand.
The exhibition features 20 looks from the five decades of
Cue’s history, from strong-shouldered power suits of the
1980s to current outfits from the talented design team.
These were shown alongside designer illustrations,
photographs and advertising material that tell the story
of this enduring Australian fashion label.
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Don’t Forget to Remember: Linda Jackson and
David McDiarmid
17 October 2019 – 2 April 2020
An exhibition of work by Australian artist David McDiarmid
(1952–1995) featuring his textile work for Australian fashion
designer Linda Jackson. McDiarmid is best known for his
fiercely political and stealthily humorous artwork relating
to cultural politics. He was an artist and Artistic Director for
the Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras in the late 1980s
and early 1990s, responsible for posters and large-scale
street sculptures for the annual parade. This exhibition
of McDiarmid’s work engaged in an act of remembering,
reflecting the title of his work Don’t Forget to Remember.
Good Design Awards: RangerBot
8 February 2020 – 31 December 2020
Australia’s Good Design Awards promote excellence in
design and innovation. Each year the Museum contributes
to this program with its own MAAS Design Award. The
winning project is chosen for its contribution to improving
health, wellbeing or the environment. RangerBot is the
world’s first vision-based underwater robot. It helps coral
reef managers, researchers and community groups with
managing reef ecosystems.
Linear
15 November 2019 – 31 December 2020
This exhibition was an exploration of the significance of
line and lineage within Indigenous narratives and
practices. It brought together the unique, diverse and
personal voices of 12 leading Indigenous cultural
practitioners from across Australia, alongside artworks
and objects from the collection.
Led by the Powerhouse’s Head of Indigenous Engagement
and Strategy, Marcus Hughes, and with design by the
award-winning Jacob Nash, the exhibition explored themes
of songline, lineage and cultural legacy through the stories,
content and work from artists including Lorraine ConnellyNorthey, Maree Clarke, Mikaela Jade, Nicole Monks, Mr
Ngallametta Snr, Mr Ngallametta Jnr, Glenda Nicholls,
Wayne Quilliam, Allery Sandy, Lucy Simpson, Bernard
Singleton, Lynette Wallworth, and Vicki West.
Ngarinyin Elder David Mowaljarlai’s visual map of lines that
tie this country together, culturally, spiritually and physically,
was at the core of the exhibition. These lines hold meaning
beyond a mark on a map; they describe everything —
Land, People and Story. Whilst many of the stories in the
exhibition might appear to be discrete, they are multidimensional and deeply interconnected. Even though they
seem to travel to the right, to the left or straight ahead the
narrative lines are always crossed.
Ramin Haerizadeh, Rokni Haerizadeh and Hesam
Rahmanian: I Prefer Talking to Doctors About
Something Else
14 March 2020 – 1 September 2020
Dubai-based artists Ramin, Rokni and Hesam’s collaborative
work was created using artefacts from the Museum’s
collection. Incorporating and disorganising objects, the
artists made a sweeping arc across themes of grief, the body
and healing. The installation also included video work by
Javad Azimi and Hamid Hosseini. Presented by Powerhouse
Museum as part of NIRIN WIR, the 22nd Biennale of Sydney.

Shape 2019
29 February 2020 – 3 May 2020
Presented in association with NSW Education Standards
Authority, Shape 2019 showcased a selection of
outstanding major projects from the HSC Design and
Technology, Industrial Technology, and Textiles and Design
courses. As varied as they are creative, these projects
provide a glimpse into the minds of tomorrow’s designers.
Jenny Kee and Linda Jackson: Step into Paradise
17 October 2019 – 22 March 2020
The first in-depth survey to capture the dynamic energy of
Linda and Jenny’s creative partnership. It drew on more
than four decades of one of the most influential pairings in
the history of Australian fashion, examining the influences,
inspirations and the compelling stories behind their work.
Honoured as Officers in the Order of Australia for their
contributions to Australia’s fashion industry, Jenny Kee and
Linda Jackson transformed the nation’s fashion and
cultural heritage with their pioneering style inspired by
Australia’s cultural and natural landscape, melded with
their global influences.
The exhibition began with their creative partnership in the
1970s at the Flamingo Park Frock Salon at Sydney’s Strand
arcade and the sensational Flamingo Follies fashion
parades, branching into their distinctive individual careers
through to recent years including Jenny’s costume designs
for the Sydney Olympic Games and their collaborations
with Australian designers Romance Was Born.
New Work by Hendrik Forster and Kenny Yong-soo Son
4 June 2020 – 30 June 2021
A commission of new work by two Australian artists from
different cultural and generational backgrounds: leading
silversmith Hendrik Forster and metalsmith and designer
Kenny Yong-soo Son, who began collaborating in 2016.
Displayed alongside the teapots are sketches and cardboard
models from the prototyping stage, as well as brass
templates showing how the parts were prepared using a
computer numerical control (CNC) laser-cutting machine.
The Great Air Race
6 December 2019 – 31 December 2020
A celebration of the 100th Anniversary of the England
to Australia Air Race, won by Ross and Keith Smith in a
Vickers Vimy WWI heavy bomber, which touched down
on Australian soil on 10 December 1919. This was the first
successful flight to Australia from Great Britain in under
30 days and changed perceptions about the future of
international air travel.

Exhibitions: Sydney Observatory
David Malin Awards: Winning Sky Photos 2019
28 September 2019 – 28 January 2020
This annual exhibition features award-winning photographs
of the night sky as judged by world-renowned
astrophotographer Dr David Malin. The exhibition aims to
encourage photographers to use their vision, imagination
and skill to produce inspiring and beautiful images of the sky.
The Central West Astronomical Society organises the
David Malin Awards as part of its annual AstroFest held at
Parkes, NSW. It is Supported by Canon Australia and
CSIRO’s Astronomy and Space Sciences.
Engineering Sydney
1 June – 20 September 2020
An exhibition exploring the history, design and engineering
achievements of the Sydney Opera House and Sydney
Harbour Bridge. Key objects on display include items from
the Museum’s collection including a model of the Opera
house roof illustrating its remarkable and complex
geometry, and a Reiss microphone used and signed by
dignitaries at the opening of the Bridge in 1932.

Touring
David Malin Awards: Winning Sky Photos 2019
Big Sky Libraries – Moree Plains Shire Council, Moree
24 February – 20 March 2020
South East Arts – South East Regional Hospital, Bega
28 May – 26 July 2020

Public Programs
Jenny Kee and Linda Jackson: Step into Paradise
Programs for this exhibition were designed for a wide range
of audiences and included a talk series curated by writer,
curator and academic Dr Sally Gray, hands-on workshops
delivered by contemporary Australian artists Rosie Deacon
and Nikita Majajas and a specially designed space where
visitors created their own designs and contributions for
Jenny and Linda’s Mardi Gras parade entry.
In partnership with Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras,
the Summer Program culminated in a stunning Step into
Paradise Mardi Gras float viewed by over 500,000 people
through the inaugural live SBS broadcast. The float,
designed by Hugh O’Connor in collaboration with Jenny
Kee and Linda Jackson, was a celebration of the artists’
passionate environmental advocacy as well as honouring
collaborators and Mardi Gras founding artists, David
McDiarmid and Peter Tully.
Sydney Observatory Tours
Despite periods of diminished visibility and poor air
quality over the challenging summer bushfire season,
over 30,000 visitors attended Night Tours, Twilight Tours
or Day Tours prior to tour closures due to COVID-19.

Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2019–20
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Powerhouse NSW Creative Industries
Residency Program
The Powerhouse NSW Creative Industries Residency
Program was launched via an expressions-of-interest
process with over 65 applications received from NSWbased creatives working across diverse fields of practice.
The selected residents are provided with subsidised
workspaces at Ultimo from October 2019 and the
opportunity to collaborate with the Museum team during
their residency.
Residents include: Anna Tregloan, known for creating
immersive, cross-disciplinary work; Cat Jones,
interdisciplinary artist, writer and researcher; design studio
Common Office founded by Rob Meyerson from Western
Sydney University; designer and illustrator Dinalie Dabarera;
Electronic Music Conference, founders of the EMC Festival;
filmmaking collective Four Leg Films, Bistro and Birdland,
consisting of multi-award winning duo Chris Thompson
(producer) and Alex Barnett (post production supervisor)
from Four Leg Films, producer Elliot Clifford (Bistro) and
writer and director Kerinne Jenkins (Birdland); art and
architecture duo Heidi Axelsen + Hugo Moline; sound
designer Julian Wessels; and sculptor, video and installation
artist Rosie Deacon, internationally renowned Australian
fashion duo, Romance Was Born (Anna Plunkett and Luke
Sales); Queer Screen, one of the largest film festivals
in the Southern Hemisphere to celebrate LGBTQI+ lives,
stories and culture and producers of the Mardi Gras Film
Festival and the Queer Screen Film Festival.
Generations Fellowship
In collaboration with Create NSW and music management
and touring company Astral People, this inaugural
Fellowship supports three early career artists to carry out
a six-month program of professional development during
2020-21, connecting artists with established industry
experts and supporting intergenerational knowledge and
experience within the music industry. Recipients Olivia
Abbott, Tanaya Barat and Blake Rhodes each received
$25,000 in financial support as well as in-kind industry
mentoring and networking from Astral People.
Sydney Science Festival
This year’s Sydney Science Festival included a program of
talks by leading international and national researchers,
hands-on workshops, exhibitions and events. The festival
challenges and broadens perceptions of science while
critically examining its influential role in society. The festival
saw 77,969 visitors to over 164 events (including 26 in
Western Sydney) developed by 54 program partners in
venues across Sydney. The festival engaged with 814
scientists and science communicators and saw participation
by 8,369 students and young people.
Highlights included: Hidden World of Maths with Festival
Ambassador and STEM Educator Eddie Woo; The State of
our Oceans talk with legendary oceanographer Dr Sylvia
Earle, marine scientist Professor Emma Johnson AO and
multi-award-winning nature photographer Michael AW;
The Indigenous Sciences Symposium: dedicated to honouring
the next generation of Indigenous scientists; as well as a
fascinating forum dedicated to exploring Australian Space
Frontiers, moderated by award-winning astrophysicist Dr
Lisa Harvey-Smith, with a panel of key players including
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Aude Vignelles, Executive Director of Program and
Capability at the Australian Space Agency’ Andrea Boyd,
Flight Controller for the International Space Station working
for the European Space Agency and Dr Sarah Pearce, the
Deputy Director of CSIRO Astronomy and Space Science.
Nirin Wir: Biennale of Sydney
Led by Artistic Director Brook Andrew, NIRIN WIR
programming for the Powerhouse included a new work,
a series of talks and performances and artists-in-residency
programming at the Sydney Observatory.
Tennant Creek artist Dion Beasley and Darwin-based author
Johanna Bell shared an illustrated conversation for the
inaugural NIRIN Yarn at the Powerhouse on 14 March. Living
with deafness and muscular dystrophy, Dion uses drawing
to communicate with the world. Dion and Johanna have
collaborated on the Cheeky Dogs picture book series and
for this event they shared the joys and discomforts of
cross-cultural collaboration and what’s possible when you
chip away at the edges of entrenched practice to create
new, hybrid forms of storytelling.
Breaking Bread, a South African arts collective who embrace
community exchange through the customs, origins and
ceremony of a shared meal and Unbound Collective,
consisting of Ali Gumillya, Simone Ulalka Tur, Faye Rosas
Blanch and Natalie Harkin, who combine research and
performance to tell untold chapters of Australia’s history, were
both scheduled to work from the Museum but were unable
to progress their residency due to Covid-19 restrictions.
In March, Breaking Bread developed a food and cultural
exchange between artists and community between
Sydney Observatory and Thirning Villa in Ashfield as part
of the partnership with the 2020 Biennale of Sydney.
Paris-based artist Lily Hibberd was invited to develop a
series of events and projects as an artist in residence at
Sydney Observatory. After an initial visit to Sydney in
November 2019, the residency plans were changed due
to COVID-19. Lily’s project was adapted as an online
series titled Mapping Sydney Meridian. Her research
utilised the history of Sydney Observatory and the
Powerhouse collection to retrace the Meridian line and
consider different cultural and historical notions of time.
Lily also undertook a collaboration with Dr Toner Stevenson
about the legacy of Sydney Observatory’s ‘female
computers’, the generations of women who worked onsite
and meticulously recorded the positions of thousands of
stars as part of the Astrographic Catalogue. The Biennale
projects are the first in what will be an ongoing annual
residency program in the historic Messenger’s Cottage.

WESTERN SYDNEY AND REGIONAL NSW

EDUCATION AND DIGITAL LEARNING

New Museums Discovery Centre operational model
and curated program
A new operational model for Museums Discovery Centre
saw opening hours shift from Monday to Friday to weekends
with access to students and groups from Wednesday to
Friday. Free weekend entry was met with renewed interest
and saw a significant increase in visitation from Western and
North-Western Sydney. A new curated programming model
focused on fostering local partnerships and included a very
popular family science day with over 500 attendees, an
ongoing youth music residency in partnership with
Information and Cultural Exchange, Parramatta and youth
drama and filmmaking workshops with Shopfront. Other
program partners include Planting Seeds by Food Faith,
Bankstown Poetry Slam, West Words, Shopfront, ABC Kids
and Baulkham Hills African Ladies Troupe have been
rescheduled for later in the year.

The Museum’s Education and Digital Learning is offered
to primary and secondary learners, vacation care groups,
home schoolers. These offers are expert-led, technology
rich and curriculum-linked. The offer is centred around
the key learning areas of science, design and technology
and in 2019-20 the Museum saw over 55,000 learners
engage with on-demand and scheduled experiences,
video conferences and onsite excursions to the Museum’s
three venues.

Museum practice workshops and tours
at the Museums Discovery Centre
This series of workshops were designed to build capacity
for volunteers and staff of regional and Western Sydney
collecting organisations. Workshops included Museum
Social Media, Photographing Museum Objects and
Significance Assessments and were attended by over
43 participants from Riverstone District Historical Society,
Jindera Pioneer Museum and Historical Society Inc;
Fairfield City Museum & Gallery; Valley Heights
Locomotive Depot Heritage Museum; Orange Regional
Museum; Hawkesbury Regional Gallery; Bathurst Regional
Council; Bathurst District Historical Museum; Cavalcade of
History and Fashion; Belgenny Farm; Lake Macquarie City
Council; National Trust, Retford Park Bowral; ISMAPNG;
Campbelltown and Airds Historical Society; Bathurst
District Historical Society; Kandos Museum; WSU Whitlam
Library and Sutherland Shire Museum.

The Programs team has developed bespoke inhouse digital
applications to meet audience needs which include video
conferences and hands-on digital programs designed
for Special Education Groups and NESA-accredited
professional learning for teachers in physical computing
and digital technologies using ThinkerShield, a custom
Arduino shield and learning tools developed by MAAS.
Full STEAM Ahead
Full STEAM Ahead has run since 2016 with Commonwealth
Bank Australia as the 2019 major sponsor in partnership
with Australian Business Community Network (ABCN).
1500 year 8 learners from Western Sydney schools
participated in coding workshops, video conferences
focused on careers in technology, a technology expo and
a hackathon. The program also featured ‘girls only’ days
to encourage female participation in STEM activities and
teacher professional development to support teachers
continuing to immerse learners in technology.
Home schooling
Over the last decade home schooling in Australia has
undergone an approximate five-fold growth and this has
been reflected in attendances to our dedicated Home
Schooler days. The programs cater to diverse ages and
interests and were delivered to over 100 learners at both
the Powerhouse and MDC.

Mobile digital unit outreach to Hay
In partnership with South West Arts and hosted by Hay
TAFE, the Museum presented STEAM workshops to
schools in the western Riverina region of NSW from
14–15 August 2019. Small remote and regional schools
travelled to Hay for Coding, 3D Printing and even Coding
for Kindy sessions. Over 113 learners participated from
Hay Public school; School of the Air: Hay; Carrathool
Public; Clare Public; St Mary’s Parish Primary Hay; and
St Joseph’s Parish Primary Balranald.

Apollo 11 – Public Program
In conjunction with the Museum’s Apollo 11 exhibition, the
Education team developed a range of skills-based digital
games and challenges which were enjoyed by 1653 learners
from 60 schools. The Apollo 11 schools offer allowed
learners to explore this significant historical event as well as
the key role Australia played in receiving and transmitting
images from the moon. Learners tried their hand at docking
simulations and explored where to build future lunar bases.

‘The impact of what our partnership has inspired cannot
be underestimated. When a year 5–6 girl living on a
remote farming station can interact with a cool, young
woman in her 20s teaching her coding and talking about
her career in astrophysics, she can imagine the
possibilities for her own life, and expresses them without
being told it’s not possible.’
—Kerry Anne Jones, Executive Officer, South West Arts.

Sustainability Expo
Sydney Observatory partnered with the Department of
Education’s Observatory Hill Environmental Education
Centre to conduct a day of mentoring STEM workshops
attended by 30 teachers and 173 learners. In this event,
high school students were partnered with primary school
students to further develop their environmental leadership
skills as well as participate in a range of Observatory
education programs.
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Linear – Public Program
In conjunction with the Museum’s Linear exhibition, the
Linear program engages learners with Indigenous histories,
cultures, design and technology through the voices of
leading Australian Indigenous artists, designers and
makers. The program was developed in collaboration with
Indigenous artists and the Museum’s Indigenous curatorial
lead and is co-delivered by Museum Educators and
Indigenous staff. In addition to Indigenous history and
culture, the program explores more deeply the processes
and materials used in the making of artworks featured in
the exhibition. A video conference version has been
developed to allow for greater accessibility and outreach.
Shape 2019 – Public Programs
In partnership with the National Education Standards
Authority a series of seminars were delivered to over
1000 year 11 and year 12 students in Design and Technology
and Industrial Technology. This program supported the
Shape 2019 exhibition featuring exemplar HSC student
work. Students attended industry talks and an expo with
professionals presenting case studies in a wide range of
disciplines from graphic design through to architecture.
The expo showcased technologies that students could
use in their projects as well as professional insights from
practitioners Nancy Liang, Zara Pasfield and representatives
from the Australian Institute of Engineering.
The Shape Expo and Seminars featured video conferences
showcasing designer expertise including Jenny Kee and
Linda Jackson for Textiles and Design, Zara Pasfield for
Design and Technology and Lauren Volk and Jo Westbury
from the Museum workshop for Industrial Technology.
The video conferences were filmed and made available as
educational resources for teachers and students via the
Museum’s website.
Red Room Poetry
For the second year, the Museum partnered with the
Red Room Poetry Competition with learners enjoying an
online poetry workshops featuring Museum Curator,
Campbell Bickerstaff and Red Room poet-in-residence,
Sara Saleh. The workshops reached 50 primary and
secondary learners from regional and Sydney-based
schools who participated in creative exercises to help
build their poetry writing skills. The workshop was filmed
and made available on the Museum website for wider
distribution to schools, along with a learning resource
for the object in focus, the tyre swan.
Digital holiday programs
With a focus on hands-on STEM based learning, over
200 digital learning holiday workshops were delivered at
all three Museum venues. Learners explored how to
code, build props and conducted science experiments.
The holiday offer featured ‘just for girls’ workshops
designed to create safe and easy entry points for girls
into technology.
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Special access kit
This weekly program is designed specifically for people
living with a disability to participate in creative workshops.
The content is driven by the participants with some people
having participated in workshops for over a decade.
These much-loved workshops focus on music and film
making and culminate in the participants presenting their
work to staff, carers, family and friends in a highly valued
event staged in the Kings Cinema.
The Young Creators Conference 2019
The Young Creators Conference has been held annually
at the Powerhouse Museum as part of Sydney Science
Festival. Based on the successful Maker Faire model,
the conference allows learners from K-12 to showcase
their STEAM-related projects and to share their passions,
ideas and processes with their peers, industry experts
and museum visitors. In 2019 the conference saw 190
learners from 12 public and private schools, display their
projects. High quality learning demonstrated through
the integration of arts and sciences was well represented
through diverse projects such as electronic floor pianos,
dresses embedded with LEDs, Rube Goldberg machines,
360 VR films, kinetic artworks and 3D models of
reimagined school environments displayed through VR.

INDIGENOUS ENGAGEMENT
Indigenous smoking ceremony
In January 2020, Museum staff and volunteers gathered
in the Powerhouse Museum courtyard to take part in the
second annual Indigenous smoking ceremony, led by
Matthew Doyle. Proceedings began with a cleansing of
the Museum’s buildings the night before and concluded
with a ceremony involving participants through burning
leaves, followed by a moment of quiet contemplation
and reflection. A smoking ceremony also took place on
15 November 2019 for the launch of the Linear exhibition.
Reconciliation Action Plan update
This year the Powerhouse celebrated three years since the
launch of its first Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP). Since
the RAP was launched in May 2017 we have achieved and
exceeded all targets. Key achievements include the
development and implementation of the Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Recruitment and Retention Strategy,
the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Media and
Communications Strategy and the Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander Procurement Policy. The Powerhouse is
currently developing the next iteration of our RAP that
will run from 2020-22.
Statement of Understanding
A Statement of Recognition and Understanding between
the Powerhouse and Dharug Strategic Management Group
was signed by Professor Barney Glover (President, MAAS)
and Julie Jones (Chair, DSMG) in May 2020. The signing
took place online.
A Statement of Understanding between the Powerhouse
and the Deerubbin Local Aboriginal Land Council (DLALC)
was signed by Professor Barney Glover (President, MAAS)
and Kevin Cavanagh (CEO, DLALC) in May 2020.
The signing took place online.
Mabo 2020
In the place of the usual Mabo 2020 lecture, Head of
Indigenous Engagement Marcus Hughes delivered a
presentation to all Museum staff at an all-staff meeting on
the anniversary of Mabo Day, Wednesday 3 June 2020.
He presented a moving selection of photographs from the
high court case Mabo v Queensland on Mer (Murray Island)
in 1992, which we acquired from Trevor Graham. He also
presented on the Deed of Deposit.
ICIP Deed of Deposit
In 2017, the Museum displayed two of Eddie Koiki Mabo’s
shirts in the Sydney Observatory exhibition, Mabo Decision
25th Anniversary. During that time, the Mabo family
indicated their wish for these items to be retained and cared
for by the Museum. Where acquisitions into the collection
require full transfer of title to the Museum via the Deed of
Gift, the Australian ICIP Deed of Deposit ensures that ICIP
rights and title to the objects covered by the Deed are
retained by Traditional Owners or Custodians of the ICIP,
and allows for obligations regarding the objects care, access
and use to be documented. The Australian ICIP Deed of
Deposit was developed with Terri Janke and Company, who
also worked with the Museum to develop the MAAS
Australian ICIP Protocol with ongoing consultation with the
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Collection Management
Reference Group and the Mabo family during the process.
The Mabo shirts are the first use of the Deed of Deposit.

Baranyi
This exhibition uses technology that enables us to move
through time and space – showing us where we have come
from, helping us understand the impact of our footprints
on Country and showing us the night sky as it was seen
from Kamay on the evening of 28 April 1770 — the last sky
before contact.
MAAS ATSI Collection Management Reference Group
The ATSI Collection Management Reference Group was
formed in May 2020. Its directorate is to meet quarterly
and work with the Head of Strategic Collections to manage
and monitor the implementation of a six-month pilot
program, which explores the way in which the Museum’s
ATSI Collection is managed. The team provides high-level
advice on issues relating to cultural content, protocol,
language and any other Indigenous cultural perspectives
associated with the CRD Project.
Elders in Residence
The Museum had two Elders in Residence in 2019-20:
Aunty Phemie Bostock, who consulted on Step Into
Paradise as a former member of Linda Jackson’s studio;
and Uncle Bruce Pascoe, who contributed to the MAAS
publication Success and Failure.
Carbon dating
Under the guidance of the Museum’s Indigenous staff and
stakeholders, the Museum used carbon dating to investigate
several Indigenous artefacts within the collection:
— Boomerang: The boomerang’s age was investigated in
partnership with the Australian Nuclear Science and
Technology Organisation (ANSTO) using carbon dating,
a technique that determines how long ago a plant or
animal has died. Tests indicate the timber dates from
between 1520 and 1795. This object is part of the Royal
Australian Historical Society (RAHS) collection which
was donated to the Powerhouse Museum in 1981. It was
located under 10 metres of earth east of Bunnerong
Road, during excavations to extend the Sydney sewage
system. The RAHS number is 360. It was donated to the
RAHS by Charles Henry Bertie, who retired as Sydney
City Librarian in 1939.
— Grinding stones: A collection of four Australian
Indigenous grinding stones were analysed by Dr Judith
Field, University of New South Wales, School of
Biological, Earth and Environmental Sciences. Samples
were extracted from the stones and examined visually by
using a brightﬁeld microscope with Nomarski optics.
Using geometric and morphometric features the grinding
stones were found to have starch grains of their surface.
This provides important information regarding the
possible use of these grinding stones. Starch grains are
tell-tale characteristics of plants that can remain long
after the decomposition of the rest of the material. The
understanding of historical plan use, for sustenance and
plant-based medicines, as well as agricultural practices is
enhanced by the identiﬁcation of residual starch remains.
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COLLECTION
A total of 132 new acquisitions comprising 505 objects
were added to the Museum’s collection throughout
2019-20. Objects were acquired through the Museum of
Applied Arts and Sciences Foundation as well as through
donations and major bequests. Highlight acquisitions
across the Museum’s disciplines are outlined below.
A full list of acquisitions can be found in the Appendices.

Acquisition highlights
Indigenous acquisitions
Three major acquisitions by Indigenous artists and
designers were purchased to enrich the Museum’s
collection of contemporary Indigenous arts and culture.
Lucy Simpson’s Echidna Quill Necklace uses traditional
materials combined with contemporary techniques,
resulting from the artist’s deep engagement with her
heritage and cultural practices. A Woman’s Rite of Passage
by Glenda Nicholls consists of three cloaks made in
keeping with the net weaving vision given to her by her
ancestors. They represent a rite of passage to Country
and quietly remember the mostly ‘unspoken’ stories of
the lives and treatment of Aboriginal women in early
settlement of Australia. Nyinajimanha (Sitting Together)
by Nicole Monks is a suite of furniture inspired by the
campfire as a meeting place for women to weave, cook
and pass down stories. This work creates a place where
people are removed from their surroundings and invited
to immerse themselves in their immediate company.
Barry Willoughby Commission
The Museum launched the Willoughby Bequest 2020
Commissioning Program in November 2019. Six Australian
artists who work across glass and ceramics were
commissioned to create new work for the collection.
Scott Chaseling, Tim Edwards and Jennifer Kemarre
Martiniello work with blown glass while Steve Harrison,
Nicolette Johnson and Renee So work with ceramics.
The commissioned artworks will be completed and
acquired in late 2020 and early 2021.
COVID-19 collecting
The Museum developed and implemented a collection
development strategy in response to the public health,
economic and societal crisis caused by the COVID-19
pandemic. The selection of objects capture the urgency of
the time; the collaborative nature of the responses; the
political and economic imperatives; the medical treatment
and research; systems of communication and technological
innovation, and cultural and artistic expression including
data interpretation, and expressions of the care, fear and
resilience demonstrated by people and communities.
Contemporary practice
Reflecting our major commitment to contemporary,
creative practice Hog/Human by Ramesh Mario
Nithiyendran is a significant multi-media sculpture. It
represents a key development in the artist’s practice
both materially and conceptually and explores themes of
secular idolatry, patriarchy and heteronormativity in the
context of figurative sculpture. Ramesh has transformed
the traditional portrait bust, typically reserved for upper
society echelons, into a satirical yet potent comment on
contemporary idols, cultural norms and gender politics.
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Nature Laughs Last
The Museum acquired material in response to the
extreme bushfires that swept through large parts of
Australia in 2019-20. Strengthening the collection of
material focused on contemporary social and political
issues, Nature Laughs Last was created by Adelaide
street artist Peter Drew in response to a personal loss
after he experienced a death in the family in late 2019.
It was also a response to the bushfires, expressing the
fear and grief felt by communities after the massive loss
of bushland, wildlife and human life.
White Queen vase
A major sculptural ceramic vase by the AustralianAmerican ceramic artist Donna Green was purchased
with funds provided by Powerhouse Friends of Ceramics
through Utopia Art Sydney. White Queen is the artist’s
breakthrough work in terms of size, volume and bold
gestural modelling to stretch the material’s physical
boundaries and create organic energy.
Stephen Bird ceramics
Four ceramic works made by Stephen Bird, one of the
most original and highly regarded contemporary
ceramicists working in Australia, were donated through
the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program.
Drawing on historical ceramic traditions, his figures and
decorative vessels tell subversive stories relating to
contemporary aspects of popular culture, history, war,
violence, politics and religion through universal themes
such as love and death.
Bush Multicreature
Acquired with funds from the Barry Willoughby Bequest,
Bush Multicreature is a recent example of the creative
practice of interdisciplinary artist Jenny Orchard. Part
of a series called Hidden Suburbs, Bush Multicreature
is a genetically modified hybrid combining an unlikely
combination of crocodile, possum, banksia and human
genetic material. It reflects the astonishing variety of
Orchard’s imaginary hybrid creatures which explore her
personal cosmology, ceramics history and contemporary
issues including gender, race and biotechnologies.
International ceramics
Donated by a private donor in South Korea, Translated Vase
TVJ 4 by the internationally renowned artist Yeesookyung
is an excellent example of contemporary work drawing on
and challenging Asian ceramic traditions. This piece is a
unique work as it was created from fragments of remarkable
Goryeo style celadon vessels reproduced by the legendary
Korean potter Jo Manho.
Morris Minor automobile
The Museum acquired a Morris Minor automobile made in
Sydney, at the Nuffield plant in Zetland. The plant differed
from the British car maker’s other overseas plants as much
of the content going into the cars was manufactured in
Sydney, which created a genuine auto industry in the Sydney
metropolitan area. The car was first owned by Mrs Thelma
O’Keefe, mother of Australia’s first rock ‘n roll star, Johnny
O’Keefe and was donated to the Museum by Michael Rose
AM, nephew of Johnny O’Keefe and Barry O’Keefe.

Posters and protest material
The Museum purchased and acquired by donation several
important collections of protest material and wartime
posters. A selection of placards and signs created by
students for the School Strike for Climate held in Sydney
on 20 September 2019 was acquired to document this
vital social movement organised to influence governments
around the world to act on climate change. Sixteen
anti-Vietnam War posters were purchased, enhancing
the collection across the disciplines of graphic art and
Australian culture and documenting the social movement
against conscription in response to Australia’s involvement
in the Vietnam conflict during the 1960s and 1970s.
The Museum accepted a gift from the Australian War
Memorial of 15 World War II posters documenting the
graphic style of poster art in the 1940s and propaganda
used to urge young men to enlist in the armed forces.
Wi-Fi technology
Australia’s role in the technological research that
successfully overcame the barriers to wireless technology
has been strengthened through the donation of a collection
of computer chips, a chip plot diagram and four Wi-Fi
access points. These items were developed by teams at
CSIRO and Macquarie University who looked at the problem
of radio waves bouncing indoors and causing signal echo.
By building new hardware and adapting radio astronomy
research they invented a way to format radio signals and
transmit them at high speed.

Industrial robot
Augmenting the Museum’s collection of industrial
technology and manufacturing, the Museum received a
donation of a Cincinnati Milacron T3, the first
commercially available computer-controlled industrial
robot. This robot is thought to have been used in a
training facility at the Ford assembly plant in Homebush,
Sydney, from around 1980 until the plant’s closure in 1994.
It represents a period of significant transition in industry
across the world as automated robots were introduced
into manufacturing in the USA, Europe and Japan.
Florence mobile game
Developed by the Australian independent games studio
Mountains and receiving widespread international acclaim,
Florence is the first mobile phone application acquired by
the Museum. With a new approach to game interaction and
design, the narrative style challenges traditional competitive,
combat or reward-based games. This acquisition includes
the game application on an iPad and tablet, along with
digital files of the game playthrough. The accompanying
archive includes sketchbooks, source code, digital design
drawings and concept artwork, along with promotional
material such as collector cards and pins. This acquisition
documents the design, production and use of mobile phone
applications and games in Australia at the time of acquisition.

Commonwealth Fashion Exchange dress
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural
Gifts Program by KITX, this dress was designed by
Australian designer Kit Willow and made in collaboration
with artisans from the Solomon Islands as part of the
inaugural Commonwealth Fashion Exchange in 2018. This
program paired fashion designers and artisans from across
the 52 Commonwealth countries to raise awareness
around ethical production and sustainability and highlight
the positive impact of global artisan fashion trades.
Beril Jents fashion
The Museum received a donation of 19 outfits and
dresses by Beril Jents (1918-2013), one of Australia’s most
important couturiers. This collection dates from the 1950s
to the early 1970s and enables the Museum to represent
the pinnacle of the designer’s career including examples
of her highly regarded tailoring and evening gowns.
Edison street tubes
In line with collection development priorities across
engineering, science and technology, the Museum
acquired a set of Edison street tubes. These are
examples of the first underground electric power cables
installed and used in Australia. They supplied power to
Queensland Parliament House for 20 years from 1886
and were recovered in 2018 as part of the Queens’ Wharf
redevelopment. These objects illustrate the work of
Thomas Edison and exemplify a period of rapid research
and technological progress internationally to develop
electricity generation and transmission standards.
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ARCHIVES

COLLECTION PARTNERSHIPS

Australian Culinary Archive

National games collecting strategy

A major new collecting initiative was the establishment
of the Australian Culinary Archive in November 2019.
This nationally significant archive explores the intrinsic
role of food in our cultural heritage. It celebrates
innovation and facilitates partnerships and collaborations
between the food industry, communities and the
Museum. The collection includes a broad range of
materials in digital and material form, from menus and
recipes to podcasts and photographs that will be
donated by chefs, restaurateurs and writers, food
growers and producers, cooking and food historians,
media and entertainment programs, designers, visual
communicators and scientists. Working with industry
consultant Julie Gibbs, the Museum has gained pledges
from over 20 leading chefs to donate their archives,
including Tony Bilson, Peter Gilmore, Neil Perry, Kylie
Kwong, and the family of the late Margaret Fulton.

Together with the Australian Centre for the Moving Image
and the National Film and Sound Archive, the Museum
has signed a Memorandum of Understanding to undertake
a three-year pilot project to explore collaborative
approaches to the acquisition, preservation, storage and
access of Australian videogames. This project will focus on
new potential joint acquisitions and explore opportunities
for collaborative approaches in relation to existing
collections where there is already existing overlap in
holdings. This partnership has evolved through research
for acquisition of the Florence mobile game and archive
and ongoing staff development in time-based media
preservation. It will strengthen the Museum’s capacity to
collect, preserve and display time-based media.

Modular Archive
A large archive created and owned by Stephen Pavlovic,
founder of Modular Recordings, is currently being
assessed and catalogued. Documenting the history of
one of Australia’s most successful independent record
companies, the archive includes the Modular vinyl and
CD catalogue, promotional material, video and audio
recordings of artists’ performances and interviews never
seen before, original artwork commissioned by Modular,
and company archives which document the inner
workings of this contemporary record company.
Publications, exhibitions and programs evolving from this
significant acquisition are in the early planning stages.

Bazmark Archive
The Museum’s collection of material celebrating the
creative partnership between film director, screenwriter
and producer Baz Luhrmann and costume, production
and set designer, film producer and interior designer
Catherine Martin has been enhanced through the
addition of a selection of archival material. Consisting
primarily of research material, costume illustrations,
production notes and photography relating to Bazmark
productions Strictly Ballroom, Moulin Rouge!, Romeo +
Juliet, Australia and The Great Gatsby, the archive
provides insight into their creative process, the extensive
and meticulous research that goes into each production
and the inventive interpretation of references drawn
from across history and cultures.

Speedo Archive
Speedo Pacific donated 38 objects, which supplements
the Museum’s world-renowned collection of Speedo
material. New additions included Australian swim team
costumes designed for the XXI Commonwealth Games
and examples from two new ranges: Speedo Modesty
range and the Archive Collection. The Speedo Archive
Collection was based on research into the Museum’s
Speedo collection of vintage swim and leisurewear.
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Outgoing loans
The Museum loaned 218 collection objects to 33 institutions
in 41 individual loan arrangements. Throughout NSW and
locally we have supported exhibitions by lending objects
from the collection to organisations including The National
Trust of Australia (New South Wales) for display at Old
Government House (Parramatta), the Art Gallery of New
South Wales and the Biennale of Sydney for display at the
Museum of Contemporary Art (MCA), Campbelltown Arts
Centre and the National Art School. The collection was
represented nationally in a diverse range of contexts
including exhibitions at the Mornington Peninsula Regional
Gallery, the Heide Museum of Modern Art and the Museum
of Australian Democracy at Old Parliament House.

Incoming loans
Each year the Museum sources incoming loans for inclusion
in our exhibition program. This year we managed 87 active
incoming loans, comprising 1078 items. Highlights of
significant loans included the exhibition Jenny Kee and
Linda Jackson: Step into Paradise, supported by 12 loans
including significant assistance from Linda Jackson and
Jenny Kee, loans from the National Gallery of Australia
and National Gallery of Victoria. Linear was supported by
11 loans, five of which were negotiated directly with artists
represented in the show including Vicki West, Lorraine
Connelly-Northey, Bernard Singleton, Wayne Quilliam and
Mikaela Jade. Apollo 11 was supported by four loans,
including two from the United States of America. The
exhibition Cue: 50 Years of Australian Fashion consisted
of one loan of 62 objects which include outfits from the
Cue archive. The Good Design Awards display consisted
of two loans, one from the Australian Museum. Shape 2019
consisted of one loan of 37 objects from high school
students across the state.

COLLABORATION AND RESEARCH
Collection storage access
The Museum’s collection storage across both sites
(Ultimo and Castle Hill) was accessed by 665 visitors
across 147 separate requests. Museum staff conducted
26 guided tours and facilitated 31 research requests.
Additionally, there were 11 separate donor or family
viewings and 42 special interest groups. Visitors included
recipients of the Powerhouse Residency Program Luke
Sales and Anna Plunkett from Romance Was Born,
Willoughby Bequest 2020 Commissioning Program
artists Jennifer Martiniello, Tim Edwards, Clare Belfrage,
Scott Chaseling, Steve Harriston and Nicolette Johnson
and several descendants of Joseph Box who viewed
shoes from the Museum’s Joseph Box Collection.

Research and Photo Library
The Research Library welcomed 47 visitors and
responded to 316 external reference enquiries. As a
member of the Libraries Australia Document Delivery
(LADD) service, managed by the National Library of
Australia, the Research Library supplied 44 book loans
and nine articles to libraries in Australia and New
Zealand. The Research Library added seven
bibliographic records and 34 holdings and updated six
holdings for contribution to the Trove discovery service.
External researchers included university academics,
fashion designers, independent curators, costume
designers, architects and film scholars. The Research
Library was closed for refurbishment from 14 October
2019 to 20 January 2020.
The Photo Library responded to 378 public enquiries,
and accessioned, catalogued, uploaded and archived
4372 new digital photographs. Of these, 2713 were from
the Museum’s Photography Department, and 1659 were
from the Digital Studio. The Photo Library created KE
EMu multimedia list entries for 75 folders and drawers of
film negatives and transparencies, comprising 74,172
un-digitised images from 1980 to 2000. There were
37,344 images from the Buildings and Programs
categories, and 36,828 images from the Public Relations
category. The Photo Library supplied images to clients
such as St Andrew’s Cathedral, Cambridge University
Press, Blackfella Films and the Deutsches Museum.

The Museum is an industry partner on four Australian
Research Council (ARC) Linkage projects. These projects
assist the Museum in building an internationally and
nationally respected research culture and expand the
knowledge and skills base across the Museum. These
projects are deepening and widening the diversity and
quality of the Museum’s partnerships with tertiary and
industry partners and enriching the collection through
best practice research associated with the collection
documentation, digitisation and conservation, digital
technology innovation, education, audience research
and curatorial methodologies.
Redefining museum experience as an immersive
networked narrative is led by Scientia Professor Dennis
Del Favero at iCinema Research Centre, University of
New South Wales. This research project will lead to the
development of an artificial intelligence (AI) enhanced
collection database that facilitates networked immersive
interaction with the Museum’s collection. This will
provide a substantial contribution to the Collection
Relocation and Digitisation Project. The lead researchers
at the Museum are Matthew Connell, Acting Director of
Curatorial, Collections and Exhibitions and Arul Baskaran,
Digital Studio Manager. This project is estimated to
complete in 2023.
Innovative Learning Environments and Teacher Change
is led by Dr Wesley Imms at the University of Melbourne
and involves a large consortium of industry partners
including the Powerhouse Museum. The project is
examining the gap between the educational potential of
innovative learning environment design, and their actual
performance, working with schools, government and
industry. It is intended that this project will guide
developments in pedagogy, policy and design and
produce strategies to enable improved learning in schools
across Australia and New Zealand. The lead researcher
at the Museum is Peter Mahoney in Education and Digital
Learning and is expected to be complete in late 2020.
A national framework for malignant plastics in museum
collections is led by Dr Petronella Nell at the University of
Melbourne. The Museum’s lead researcher, Conservator
Sue Gatenby, is collecting data, analysing plastic
samples and assisting with recommendations regarding
plastics conservation. The project is projected to run
until February 2021 and is an important research project
in conserving our nationally and internationally
significant plastics collection and contributing to a
national museum collection initiative.
The final outcome of ARC Linkage Project Curating
Third Space: The Value of Art Science Collaborations in
partnership with UNSW Art & Design was the international
conference Anxiety, Culture and the Future. Convened
by research leads, Katie Dyer (Powerhouse Museum),
Professor Jill Bennet, Associate Professor Lizzie Muller,
Dr Vanessa Bartlett (UNSW Art & Design) and Prof Lynn
Frogget (UCLAN), the two-day event hosted by the
Powerhouse Museum and the Art Gallery of New South
Wales explored collaborative cultures that enmesh arts
with science, clinical and other knowledges to create new
ways to imagine the future.

Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2019–20

17

Fellowships
Our Visiting Research Fellowship Program provides a
supported and collaborative environment for researchers
to undertake research related to the Museum’s collection,
education, conservation and museum practice. The
fellowships enable researchers to access the Museum’s
resources to support their research for a short period of
time. The Museum partnered with six Visiting Research
Fellows during this period. Research generated from
these Visiting Research Fellowships is profiled in scholarly
articles in nationally significant journals and discussed
in talks for Museum staff and stakeholders. These
fellowships are enriching knowledge about the collection
and creating new opportunities regarding the objects’
re-contextualisation and social relevance.
Dr Oliver Bown’s (School of Art and Design, UNSW,
Co-Director of the Interactive Media Lab) Visiting
Research Fellowship resulted in the exhibition Spiral and
the Mechanical Music Factory that opened in February
2019 and closed in September 2019. This installation
featured a musical composition and installation that
explored the mechanical and performative nature of
self-playing instruments and showed how artists are
rethinking the experience of music through contemporary
music technologies. The project was realised through
a collaboration with the musical ensemble Tangents
and received support from Bitscope, ROLI, Ableton
and Musos Corner.
Dr Anna Madeleine Raupach is a multi-disciplinary artist
working across drawing, animation, installation, AR and
VR, and a Lecturer in Printmedia and Drawing at ANU
School of Art and Design. Her project investigated
augmenting objects using AR to reimagine narratives of
Australian weather and meteorological events. Drawing on
objects in the Museum collection such as measurement
devices; firsthand descriptions of weather conditions; and
the Astrographic Catalogue of Stars, she explored how
people have observed natural phenomena throughout
history, both personally and scientifically. This research has
resulted in three new creative practice artistic installations.
Dr Fiona Cameron, Senior Research Fellow at the Institute
of Culture and Society, Western Sydney University
investigated the mitigation of climate change through the
collection with a specific focus on the development and
impact of the Boulton and Watt rotative steam engine.
Dr Patricia Flanagan (School of Art and Design, UNSW,
Co-Director of the Interactive Media Lab) researched a
project titled Geographies of Making: Tracing the
Material Gestures of Craft. Her research investigated
new perspectives on textiles and ways of sharing the
traditional wisdom embodied in craft practices through
development of interactive media interfaces and
artefacts. In particular, the research project investigates
a selection of Chinese textiles in the collection.
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Adjunct Associate Professor Catherine de Lorenzo (Monash
University) explored Australia at the 1937 Paris Exhibition.
Her project drew on the Museum’s archives that expand on
the Australian pavilion at the Paris International Exhibition
when Australia shifted from presenting itself as a primary
producer to a nation proud of its art and design. The
research focused on the archives of individual practitioners,
including photographer Russell Roberts, and designers
Douglas Annand, Richard Haughton James, Dahl Collings,
Geoffrey Collings and Michael O’Connell.
Asti Sherring is a senior time-based art conservator at
The Art Gallery of New South Wales. Her Visiting
Research Fellowship project was entitled Crossing the ice
archive: applying time-based art conservation principles
for the preservation of an applied arts and sciences
collection. This research investigated the potential cross
over of contemporary conservation ethics and digital
preservation between applied arts and science collections
and time-based artworks.

PEOPLE
During this period, particularly with the challenges
presented by COVID-19, the Museum recognised the
value of encouraging a work environment that supports
the health and wellbeing of its employees.
There was a major focus on the recruitment for the
Powerhouse Program’s Campaign team. This brought
new talent to the organisation and provided internal
development opportunities for many existing staff.

Developing our people
The Powerhouse is committed to developing the
capabilities of its people. Over 2019-20 there were over
180 courses delivered, more than 5,000 hours (+47%) of
training, to over 2000 participants.
— Aligned to the Powerhouse Program over 1,000 hours
of training was delivered on Project Management.
— Collection, Relocation and Digitisation Project staff
were supported with targeted technical programs.
— Professional development remains a priority; with
staff attending a range of internal and external
courses and conferences in line with their
Performance Development Plans.
— Diversity continued to be developed with programs
delivered on disability awareness and Indigenous
cultural material and its management.
— COVID-19 response included program packages for
remote working for both managers and staff.
— Study Assistance program approved 184 (+67%) hours
of study time towards tertiary studies.

Inclusion and diversity
The Museum is committed to promoting a fair workplace
which is free of all forms of harassment and discrimination
for all staff members, contractors and volunteers. The
Museum actively promotes policies and practices that
promote equity principles and protect against discrimination
or harassment against a staff member or job applicant
based on age, sex, pregnancy, disability, race, colour, ethnic
or ethno-religious background, descent or nationality,
marital status, carer’s responsibilities, sexuality or gender.
This year the Museum saw all diversity measures in the
workforce profile increase by over 100%. Accessibility
will also be in embedded in all design aspects of the
Powerhouse Program.

Health and wellbeing
The health and wellbeing of Museum staff has been
particularly important this year. The Wellbeing program
based on the Five Ways to Wellbeing (Connect, Give,
Take Notice, Keep Learning, and Be Active) continues to
grow and develop with a multitude of regular programs
made available each month.
The wellbeing program offered subsidised activities
including health checks, flu vaccinations, yoga and
meditation classes, run club, as well as providing monthly
fruit boxes to staff kitchens. Quarterly social events
have a focus on wellbeing and fitness passport has been
actively promoted.

Uprise, our EAP, offers a research-backed resilience
program that provides online coaching to improve
mental fitness based on scientific evidence. In 2019-20
an average of 10 staff engaged with Uprise each month,
with 85% utilising the coaching service. We continue
to support the mental health peer program, supporting
mental health first-aid officers to provide informal
support to employees in the workplace and connect
them to formal support.

Volunteers
The Museum’s community of volunteers provides
invaluable support across all parts of the organisation,
enriching the experience the collection and exhibitions
offer. Our team of 228 volunteers donated 17,630 hours
this year to the Museum, assisting staff to deliver
programs and services and strengthening community
links to the collection. Specialist volunteers were
recruited to enhance visitor experiences at the Sydney
Science Festival and Seniors Festival. This year
volunteers adapted their programs to include virtual
tours, sharing their collection stories via digital
interfaces, to a range of aged care homes and other
vulnerable communities that were housebound.

Workplace health and safety
Over the past 12 months the Museum has focused on
the continual improvement of our safety management
systems, and work practices. Some of the safety
initiatives undertaken have included:
— Safety education and training for staff including
testing and tagging, confined spaces, working from
heights, health promotion, forklift training, mental
health awareness for first aid officers, first aid
training, fire warden training, hazardous chemical
training, due diligence training for senior managers
— Hazard inspections and workplace assessments
— Providing flu vaccinations for staff
— Updating WHS policies and procedures
— Updating WHS risk register
— Providing a confidential counselling service through
the employee assistance program.
In 2019-20, 14 workers’ compensation claims were
received, 13 of which were lodged. All workplace
incidents are investigated thoroughly within 24 hours of
the incident occurring and causative factors, preventative
strategies and corrective action is implemented as soon
as practicable. A rehabilitation program is developed as
soon as an injured worker returns to work, with the goal of
returning the worker to their pre-injury state. The Board
of Trustees and WHS committee are provided with reports
of these incidents, which are tabled at regular meetings.
Consultation arrangements are via the WHS committee
which meets bimonthly. The committee is comprised of
representative staff from various departments within
the Museum. Committee members are provided the
opportunity for frank and open discussion on any safety
concerns or issues that occur in the workplace. A member
of the Executive also attends the meetings.
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COVID-19 MANAGEMENT

GOVERNANCE

The safety and wellbeing of the Museum’s staff, volunteers
and visitors has been the Powerhouse Museum’s focus to
ensure the spread and impact of COVID-19 is minimised in
the community. The Museum has implemented measures
in line with NSW Health to minimise impacts to staff,
volunteers and visitors. This has included promoting
physical distancing through encouraging staff to work
from home, transforming the volunteer program to a digital
format, team rosters for staff required to be on site and
minimising physical meetings by using technology. The
Museum also increased signage and sanitisers throughout
and developed systems to record staff, contractors and
visitors on site to manage potential contact tracing.

Corporate governance
The Museum is operated and maintained by the Trustees
of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences, which is
constituted as a body corporate under the Museum of
Applied Arts and Sciences Act 1945 (The Museum’s Act).
The Museum is governed by a Board of Trustees
appointed under the Museum’s Act. Under the provisions
of the Act, the nine Trustees are appointed by the
Governor, on the recommendation of the Minister,
for a term of up to three years, and may serve for a
maximum of three full terms, excepting if their first term
was not a full term they may be appointed for a fourth
term. The Trustees represent the community and oversee
the management and policy direction of the Museum.
The Trust met six times in 2019-20 and held additional
Powerhouse Program project governance meetings,
in-person briefings and teleconferences as required
to consider and advise on major procedural and policy
matters related to the Powerhouse Program.
The Board of Trustees from 1 July 2019 to
30 June 2020 comprised:
Professor Barney Glover AO, President (from 3.7.2016)
David Borger (from 1.1.2019)
Paddy Carney (from 1.1.2019)
Dr Eddie Woo (from 1.1.2019)
Kellie Hush (from 1.1.19)
Suzie Laundy (from 1.1.20)
Peter Poulet (from 1.1.20)
Mr Tim Ebbeck (from 1.1.18 until 31.12.19)
Mr Darren Steinberg (from 1.1.19 until 31.8.19)
Dr Alex Birrell (from 1.1.17 until 31.12.19)
Ms Lisa Chung, Deputy President (from 1.1.17 until 31.12.19)
For details about Trustees see Appendices.
Professor Barney Glover AO satisfies the requirement
that ‘at least one person has knowledge of, or
experience in, education’.
Dr Eddie Woo satisfies the requirement that ‘at least
one person has knowledge of, or experience in, the arts
or sciences’.
Trustees are required to complete a Declaration of
Pecuniary Interests and a Related Party Disclosure
Certificate at the commencement of each financial year.
The Board of Trustees has established the Finance Audit
and Risk Management (FARM) Committee in compliance
with the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for
the NSW Public Sector.
The objective of the FARM Committee is to provide
independent assistance to the Trust by monitoring,
reviewing and providing advice about MAAS governance
processes, risk management and control frameworks,
and its external accountability obligations.
The FARM Committee supports and advises the Trust on
the financial position and performance of the Museum,
including annual financial statements and annual budget.
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The FARM Committee consists of at least three (3)
members, and no more than five (5) members, appointed
by the President of the Trust. The members collectively
develop, possess and maintain a broad range of skills and
experience relevant to the operations, governance and
financial management of the Museum, the environment
in which it operates and the contribution that the
FARM Committee makes to the Museum. At least one
member of the Committee must have accounting or
related financial management experience, with an
understanding of accounting and auditing standards
in a public sector environment.
The FARM Committee is directly responsible and
accountable to the Trust for the exercise of its
responsibilities. In carrying out its responsibilities, the
FARM Committee recognises that primary responsibility
for management of the Museum rests with the Trust.
The FARM Committee met four times during the
reporting year as follows:
30 July 2019: Paddy Carney, Allan Cook
13 November 2019: Paddy Carney, Kellie Hush, Alex Birrell
5 May 2020: Paddy Carney, Professor Barney Glover,
Eddie Woo
22 June 2020: Paddy Carney, Kellie Hush, Eddie Woo

Attestation statement (TPP 15-03)
I, Professor Barney Glover AO, am of the opinion that the
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences has internal audit
and risk management processes in operation that are
compliant with the eight (8) core requirements set out in
the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the
NSW Public Sector, specifically:
Core requirements
1.1 The agency head is ultimately responsible and
accountable for risk management in the agency
COMPLIANT
1.2 A risk management framework that is appropriate to
the agency has been established and maintained and the
framework is consistent with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009
Internal Audit Function COMPLIANT

The chair and members of the Audit and Risk Committee are:
Independent Chair, Paddy Carney
Term: 1 January 2019 – 31 December 2021
Independent Member 1, Kellie Hush
Term 30 March 2019 – 22 June 2020
Independent Member 2, Eddie Woo
Term 5 May 2020 – 31 December 21

Risk management
The Museum is committed to a risk management culture
where risk management is seen as integral to the
achievement of our strategic commitments at all levels and
where all employees are alert to risks and opportunities.
The Museum continued to embed the MAAS Risk
Management Framework and Policy, increasing risk
maturity across the organisation in 2019-20.
The MAAS Risk Framework and Policy complies with
Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the
NSW public sector (TPP 15-03) published by Treasury.
As required by the policy, the Risk Framework and
Policy is based on the international risk management
standard AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Risk Management –
Principles and Guidelines (ISO 31000). The Chief Risk
Officer regularly reports to the FARM Committee, whose
overall objective is to provide independent assistance
to the Trust in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to
financial reporting, risk management, compliance and
the audit function.

Continuous improvement
The implementation and maintenance of a sound
governance foundation continues to be a priority.
The Museum is committed to the development of policy
and planning frameworks that underpin organisational
planning and enterprise to improve business operations
and to ensure it complies with all NSW Government
obligations. In line with its commitment to move towards
a paperless office, the Museum developed education
and training modules to support staff in electronic
record keeping.

2.1 An internal audit function has been established and
maintained COMPLIANT
2.2 The operation of the internal audit function is
consistent with the International Standards for the
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing COMPLIANT
2.3 The agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is
consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ Internal
Audit COMPLIANT
3.1 An independent Audit and Risk Committee with
appropriate expertise has been established COMPLIANT
3.2 The Audit and Risk Committee is an advisory
committee providing assistance to the agency head on
the agency’s governance processes, risk management
and control frameworks, and its external accountability
obligations COMPLIANT
3.3 The Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is
consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’ Audit
and Risk Committee COMPLIANT
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FINANCE
Year in review
The Museum’s financial results were significantly impacted
by the COVID-19 global pandemic that reached Australia in
March 2020.
In compliance with health orders issued by the Chief Medical
Officer, Museum programs were suspended in mid-March,
and the Museum closed to the public on 23 March. The
Museum was re-opened to the public on 1 June with COVID
Safe visitor restrictions in place and general admissions
charges waived due to the impact on the visitor experience.
At the end of February 2020, total onsite visitation was
28% above target, and 11% higher than the previous year.
For the full year, total onsite visitation finished 12% below
target, and 31% below the previous year.
Revenue from the sale of goods and services was lower
than the previous year at $4,956,000 (2018-19: $10,393,000
including additional charges of $4,716,00 for STAR WARS™
Identities: The Exhibition), but strong revenue generation in
the pre-COVID period of the year meant revenue was only
10% below budget.
Total Government contributions were higher than the
previous year at $37,072,000 (2018-19: $31,232,000).
Recurrent funding of $35,204,000 was $5,840,000 higher
than the previous year due to a funding adjustment of
$5,320,000 to address the Museum’s cash position at the
commencement of the year.
Other grants and contributions were higher than the
previous year at $16,945,000 (2018-19: $7,896,000) with
the major contributor being grant funding of $15,383,000
to deliver key aspects of the Powerhouse Program.
Employee related expenses were $2,691,000 higher than
the previous year at $32,614,000 (2018-19: $29,923,000).
Included in this figure were Powerhouse Program related
salaries of $8,168,000.
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Other operating expenses were significantly lower than
the previous year, due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic and STAR WARS™ Identities expenditure in
2018-19. Total Other Operating expenses were $12,035,000
(2018-19: $18,738,000 including additional expenditure
regarding STAR WARS™ Identities of $5,074,000).
Depreciation and amortisation of $7,789,000 was
comparable to the prior year (2018-19: $8,070,000).
Other Expenses were $3,412,000 (2018-19: $859,000)
being non-capitalised Powerhouse Program expenditure
(non-employee related) specifically in relation to the
relocation of the Museum’s Collection.
During the year the Museum contracted independent
valuers to revalue its collection. As a result of this process
the value of the collection increased by $13,267,000 to
$327,897,000 (2019-19: $313,054,000). An independent
revaluation was also undertaken in relation to the
Museum’s land at Ultimo. This resulted in the value of
the land increasing by $33,000,000 to $343,000,000
(2018-19: $310,000,000). However, the NSW Government’s
announcement on 4 July 2020, that the Museum would
remain open at Ultimo in addition to the new flagship
Museum being built in Parramatta, triggered a non-adjusting
post reporting date event that will require overall land
and building values to be re-adjusted during the 2020-21
financial year (refer to Note 27 in the notes to
the financial statements).

FINANCIAL REPORT

STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 41C (1B) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE AND AUDIT ACT, 1983
Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and in accordance with a resolution of the
Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences we state that:
(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the applicable clauses of the Public Finance and Audit Regulation
2015, the Treasurer’s Directions and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;
(b) the financial statements and notes thereto exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30
June 2020 and the results of the operations for the year ended on that date;
(c) at the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the financial statements
misleading or inaccurate.

Professor Barney Glover
President

Lisa Havilah
Chief Executive

Date: 30 September 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Trustees of the Museum of Applied Arts
and Sciences (the Museum), which comprises the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year
ended 30 June 2020, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020, the Statement of
Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a
Statement of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information of the Museum and
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity comprises the Museum and the entity it controlled at the
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.
In my opinion, the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Museum and the consolidated entity as
at 30 June 2020, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards

•

are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015.

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the
standards are described in the 'Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements'
section of my report.
I am independent of the Museum and consolidated entity in accordance with the requirements of the:
•

Australian Auditing Standards

•

Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.
Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:
•

providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an
Auditor-General

•

mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies

•

precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

Other Information
The Museum’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020 includes other information in addition to
the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Trustees of the Museum
are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other
information I have received comprises the signed Statement in accordance with section 41C of the
PF&A Act.
My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information.
In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information, and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial report, my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other
information, and I must report that fact.
I have nothing to report in this regard.

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as the
Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the ability of the
Museum and the consolidated entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
My objectives are to:
•

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

•

issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take
based on the financial statements.
A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The
description forms part of my auditor’s report.

The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance:
•

that the Museum or the consolidated entity carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and
economically

•

about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial
statements

•

about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial
statements on any website where they may be presented

•

about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.

Weini Liao
Director, Financial Audit
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales

6 October 2020
SYDNEY

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES

Economic Entity
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Notes

Parent

Actual
2020
$000

Budget
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

Actual
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

-

-

-

32,614

29,923

Continuing Operations
Expenses excluding losses
Operating expenses
Personnel services

2(a)

Employee related

2(b)

32,614

27,714

29,923

-

-

Other operating expenses

2(c)

12,035

32,898

18,738

12,035

18,738

Depreciation and amortisation

2(d)

7,789

8,460

8,070

7,789

8,070

Finance costs

2(e)

2

2

-

2

-

Other Expenses

2(f)

3,412

-

859

3,412

859

55,852

69,074

57,590

55,852

57,590

4,956

5,514

10,393

4,956

10,393

TOTAL EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
Revenue
Sale of goods and services

3(b)

Investment revenue

3(c)

27

164

225

27

225

Grants and contributions

3(d)

54,017

64,885

39,128

54,789

39,932

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
benefits and other liabilities

3(e)

772

890

804

-

-

Other revenue

3(f)

793

309

846

793

846

60,565

71,763

51,396

60,565

51,396

Total Revenue
Gain/(loss) on disposal

4

(6)

-

74

(6)

74

Other gains/(losses)

5

-

-

(52)

-

(52)

4,707

2,689

(6,172)

4,707

(6,172)

Net increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus

46,268

-

10,000

46,268

10,000

Total other comprehensive income

46,268

-

10,000

46,268

10,000

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

50,975

2,689

3,828

50,975

3,828

Net result from continuing operations
Other comprehensive income for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to net result in
subsequent periods

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES

Economic Entity
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2020

Parent

Actual
2020
$000

Budget
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

Actual
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

6

1,847

6,208

-

1,847

-

Receivables

7

2,559

2,213

4,450

2,559

4,450

Contract Assets

8

2,126

-

-

2,126

-

Inventories

9

229

200

226

229

226

6,761

8,621

4,676

6,761

4,676

3,534

3,781

3,784

3,534

3,784

415,752

380,693

385,591

415,752

385,591

14,420

12,124

12,855

14,420

12,855

327,897

313,983

313,054

327,897

313,054

758,069

706,800

711,500

758,069

711,500

Notes

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Financial assets at fair value

10

Property, plant and equipment

12

Land and buildings
Plant and equipment
Collection Assets
Total Property, plant and equipment
Total Non-Current Assets

761,603

710,581

715,284

761,603

715,284

Total Assets

768,364

719,202

719,960

768,364

719,960

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

15

2,391

4,335

2,816

2,391

2,816

Borrowings

16

33

24

3,148

33

3,148

Provisions

17

3,828

2,550

2,992

3,828

2,992

Other Liablilties

18

Total Current Liabilities

876

20

717

876

717

7,128

6,929

9,673

7,128

9,673

78

106

109

78

109

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings

16

Provisions

17

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities

80

-

75

80

75

158

106

184

158

184

7,286

7,035

9,857

7,286

9,857

761,078

712,167

710,103

761,078

710,103

442,987

396,718

396,719

442,987

396,719

Accumulated funds

318,091

315,449

313,384

318,091

313,384

Total Equity

761,078

712,167

710,103

761,078

710,103

Net Assets
EQUITY
Reserves

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Total

Asset
Revaluation
Surplus

Accumulated
Funds

Parent

Total

Notes

Asset
Revaluation
Surplus

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Accumulated
Funds

Economic Entity

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

313,384

396,719

710,103

313,384

396,719

710,103

4,707

-

4,707

4,707

-

4,707

Net change in revaluation surplus of property
plant and equipment

-

46,268

46,268

-

46,268

46,268

Total other comprehensive income

-

46,268

46,268

-

46,268

46,268

4,707

46,268

50,975

4,707

46,268

50,975

Balance as at 30th June 2020

318,091

442,987

761,078

318,091

442,987

761,078

Balance as at 1 July 2018

319,556

386,719

706,275

319,556

386,719

706,275

(6,172)

-

(6,172)

(6,172)

-

(6,172)

-

10,000

10,000

-

10,000

10,000

Balance as at 1 July 2019
Net result for the year
Other comprehensive Income

Total comprehensive income for the year

Net result for the year
Other comprehensive Income
Net change in revaluation surplus of property
plant and equipment
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance as at 30 June 2019

-

10,000

10,000

-

10,000

10,000

(6,172)

10,000

3,828

(6,172)

10,000

3,828

313,384

396,719

710,103

313,384

396,719

710,103

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Economic Entity
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Parent

Actual
2020
$000

Budget
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

Actual
2020
$000

Actual
2019
$000

-

-

-

(30,730)

(30,003)

(30,730)

(26,749)

(30,003)

-

-

(2)

(2)

-

(2)

-

Other

(15,969)

(33,698)

(16,916)

(15,969)

(16,916)

Total Payments

(46,701)

(60,449)

(46,919)

(46,701)

(46,919)

4,971

5,514

10,469

4,971

10,469

Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Personnel services
Employee related
Finance costs

Receipts
Sale of goods and services
Interest received

12

39

15

12

15

52,623

62,385

33,151

52,623

33,151

750

2,709

1,089

750

1,089

58,356

70,648

44,724

58,356

44,724

11,655

10,199

(2,195)

11,655

(2,195)

(6,927)

(1,968)

(3,794)

(6,927)

(3,794)

-

-

74

-

74

265

-

119

265

119

(6,662)

(1,968)

(3,601)

(6,662)

(3,601)

Payment of principle portion of Lease liabilities

(32)

24

-

(32)

-

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(32)

24

-

(32)

-

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

4,961

8,255

(5,796)

4,961

(5,796)

Opening cash and cash equivalents

(3,114)

(2,147)

2,682

(3,114)

2,682

Reclassification of cash equivalents

-

100

-

-

-

1,847

6,208

(3,114)

1,847

(3,114)

Grants and contributions
Other
Total Receipts
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and
Collection assets
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of investments
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES: NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2020

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a)

Reporting Entity
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences (the Museum) is a NSW government entity and is controlled by the State of NSW,
which is the ultimate parent. The Museum is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash
generating units.
The Museum, as a reporting entity comprises all the entities under its control, namely: the Powerhouse Museum, the Sydney
Observatory, the Powerhouse Discovery Centre, the Migration Heritage Centre and the Powerhouse Foundation (all comprising
the parent entity), and the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency.
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, is an executive agency related to the Museum that was established on
24 February 2014, by the Administrative Arrangements Order 2014. The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency’s
objective is to provide personnel services to the Museum.
In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity, consisting of the controlling and
controlled entities, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated and like transactions and other events are
accounted for using uniform accounting policies.
These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 have been have been authorised for issue by the Trustees on
30 September 2020.

(b) Basis of Preparation
The Museum’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accrual basis in
accordance with:
•
•
•

applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)
the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015 and
Treasurer’s Directions issued under the Act.

Property, plant and equipment including collection assets, and financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ are measured
at fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. Judgements, key
assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.
All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.
(c)

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting
Interpretations.
The accruals basis of accounting and applicable accounting standards have been adopted.

(d) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where:
•

the amount of GST incurred by the entity as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is
recognised as part of the cost of an assets’ cost of acquisition or as part of an item of expense
		 and
•
receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST component of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are classified as
operating cash flows.
(e)

Personnel services and other provisions
Personnel Services Arrangements
The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency is an Executive Agency wholly controlled by the Museum of Applied Arts
and Sciences with the objective of providing personnel services to the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences. All payments to
personnel and in relation to related obligations are made by the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency, and are
classified as an ‘Employee Related’ cost on consolidation in these financial statements.

(f)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when: the Museum has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.
Any provisions for restructuring are recognised only when an entity has a detailed formal plan and the entity has raised a valid
expectation in those affected by the restructuring that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those affected.
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(g) Conditions on contributions
The Museum receives funds of which the expenditure is restricted by the conditions under which the donation or bequest is
made. These funds generally have no conditions relating to refundability and are therefore recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are received.
(h) Taxation Status
The activities of the Museum are exempt from income tax. The Museum is registered for GST purposes and has gift deductible
recipient status.
(i)

Comparative information
Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of
the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

(j)

Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised Australian Accounting Standards

(i)
		

Effective for the first time in 2019–20
The Museum applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities, and
AASB 16 Leases for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of these new accounting
standards are described below.

		

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2019–20, but do not have an impact on the financial
statements of the Museum.

		 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
		
AASB 15 supersedes AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue and related Interpretations and it applies, with
limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. AASB 15 establishes a five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
		

AASB 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances
when applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. In addition, the standard requires
relevant disclosures. In accordance with the transition provisions in AASB 15, the Museum has adopted AASB 15 retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the date of initial application, i.e. 1 July 2019.

		

The Museum has used the transitional practical expedients permitted by the standard to reflect the aggregate effect of all of
the modifications that occur before 1 July 2019 when:

		
		
		

•
•
•

		

The impact of applying the above practical expedients is not expected to significantly affect the financial statements. After
analysis, the Museum has determined that the implementation of AASB 15 has had no impact on the financial statements of
the Museum.

identifying the satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations
determining the transaction price
allocating the transaction price to the satisfied and unsatisfied performance obligations.

		 AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
		
AASB 1058 replaces most of the existing requirements in AASB 1004 Contributions. The scope of AASB 1004 is now limited
mainly to contributions by owners (including parliamentary appropriations that satisfy the definition of a contribution by
owners), administrative arrangements and liabilities of government departments assumed by other entities.
		

AASB 1058 applies to income with a donation component, i.e. transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is
significantly less than fair value principally to enable a not-for-profit entity to further its objectives; and volunteer services.
AASB 1058 adopts a residual approach, meaning that entities first apply other applicable Australian Accounting Standards
(e.g. AASB 1004, AASB 15, AASB 16, AASB 9, AASB 137) to a transaction before recognising income.

		

Not-for-profit entities need to determine whether a transaction is/contains a donation (accounted for under AASB 1058) or a
contract with a customer (accounted for under AASB 15).

		

AASB 1058 requires recognition of receipt of an asset, after the recognition of any related amounts in accordance with other
Australian Accounting Standards, as income:

		

•

		

•

		

In accordance with the transition provisions in AASB 1058, the entity has adopted AASB 1058 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying the standard at the date of initial application, i.e. 1 July 2019. The entity has adopted
the practical expedient in AASB 1058 whereby existing assets acquired for consideration significantly less than fair value
principally to enable the entity to further its objectives, are not restated to their fair value.

		

The impact of applying the above practical expedient is not expected to significantly affect the financial statements. After
analysis, the Museum has determined that the implementation of AASB 1058 has had no impact on the financial statements
of the Museum.

34

when the obligations under the transfer is satisfied, for transfers to enable an entity to acquire or construct a
recognisable nonfinancial asset that will be controlled by the entity.
immediately, for all other income within the scope of AASB 1058.
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		 AASB 16 Leases
		
AASB 16 supersedes AASB 117 Leases, Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – Incentives and Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet.
		 Lessee accounting
		
AASB 16 requires the entity to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for
finance leases under AASB 117. As the lessee, the entity recognises a lease liability and right-of-use asset at the inception of
the lease. The lease liability is measured at the present value of the future lease payments, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily
determined. The corresponding right-of-use asset is measured at the value of the lease liability adjusted for lease payments
before inception, lease incentives, initial direct costs and estimates of costs for dismantling and removing the asset or
restoring the site
		

The entity has adopted the partial retrospective option in AASB 16, where the cumulative effect of initially applying AASB 16
is recognised on 1 July 2019 and the comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2019 are not restated.

		

In relation to leases that had previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ under AASB 117, a lease liability is recognised at 1
July 2019 at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at
the date of initial application. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1
July 2019 was 1.42%.

		

The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially recorded on transition at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2019. The exception is right-of-use assets that are subject to accelerated depreciation. These assets are
measured at their fair value at 1 July 2019.

		

In applying AASB 16 for the first time, the Museum has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

		

•

		
		

•
•

		

•

		
		

•
•

		

The effect of adoption of AASB 16 as at July 2019 (increase/(decrease)) is as follows:

not reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at 1 July 2019, for those contracts previously assessed under
AASB 117 and Interpretation 4.
applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics
relying on its previous assessment on whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial application as
an alternative to performing an impairment review
not recognise a lease liability and right-of-use-asset for short-term leases that end within 12 months of the date of initial
application
excluding the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application
using hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or terminate the lease

$000
Assets
Property, plant and equipment

143

Total assets

143

Liabilities
Borrowings

143

Total liabilities

143

Equity

-

Accumulated funds

-

The lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 can be reconciled to the opening lease commitments as of 30 June 2019, as follows:
Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019 (GST included)

162

(Less): GST included in operating lease commitments

(15)

Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019 (GST excluded)

147

Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at 1 July 2019

1.42%

Discounted operating lease commitments as at 1 July 2019

143

Lease Liabilities as at 1 July 2019

143
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(ii)
		

Issued but not yet effective
NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new Australian Accounting Standards, unless Treasury
determines otherwise.

		

The following new Australian Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective as specified in
NSWTC20-01.

		
		
		
		
		
		
		

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

		

The Museum has assessed the impact of the new standards and considers the impact to be insignificant.

36

AASB 17 Insurance Contracts
AASB 2018-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Deferral of AASB 1059
AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Definition of a Business
AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — References to the Conceptual Framework
AASB 2019-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Implementation of AASB 1059
AASB 2019-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
AASB 2019-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Disclosure of GFS Measures of Key Fiscal
Aggregates and GAAP/GFS Reconciliations.
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Economic Entity
2020
2019
$000
$000

Parent
2020
$000

2019
$000

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
(a)

Personnel Services Expenses
Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave)

-

-

27,297

24,447

Voluntary Redundancy Program

-

-

56

779

Superannuation — Defined benefit plans

-

-

309

330

Superannuation — Defined contribution plans

-

-

2,239

2,013

Long Service Leave and Oncosts

-

-

484

598

Workers compensation insurance

-

-

587

321

Payroll tax

-

-

1,624

1,430

Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes

-

-

18

5

-

-

32,614

29,923

27,297

24,447

-

-

(b) Employee related expenses
Salaries and wages (Including Recreation Leave)
Voluntary Redundancy Program
Superannuation — Defined benefit plans
Superannuation — Defined contribution plans
Long Service Leave and Oncosts
Workers compensation insurance
Payroll tax
Other payroll and fringe benefit taxes

56

779

-

-

309

330

-

-

2,239

2,013

-

-

484

598

-

-

587

321

-

-

1,624

1,430

-

-

18

5

-

-

32,614

29,923

-

-

Employee related expenses include redundancy payments $56,000 (2019 $779,000), and Powerhouse Program (refer Note 2(f))
salaries funded by the Department of Premier and Cabinet $8,168,000 (2019 $2,127,000). In addition, employee related expenses
have been incurred on capital projects, including $215,000 (2019: $204,000) for processing costs in accessioning additions to the
collection (refer Note 12). Non-cash contributions of $526,000 (2019: $851,000) via volunteer labour were also received.
(c)

Other Operating Expenses
Advertising and publicity

588

3,315

588

3,315

94

99

94

99

Auditor’s remuneration
– audit of Financial Statements
– other audit fees

(13)

127

(13)

127

Cleaning and laundry

1,014

955

1,014

955

Computer software

443

836

443

836

Consumables

449

361

449

361

Exhibition fit-out

818

748

818

748

4

2,742

4

2,742
1,058

Exhibition hire
Fees — contract services

1,535

1,058

1,535

Consultants

136

48

136

48

Contractors

464

727

464

727

Freight, cartage and handling
Insurance
Maintenance
Operating lease rental payments — minimum lease payments
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets

77

643

77

643

380

366

380

366

1,848

1,512

1,848

1,512

-

38

-

38

6

-

6

-

1,766

2,123

1,766

2,123

Printing and publications

213

259

213

259

Travel and accommodation

120

135

120

135

1,180

1,310

1,180

1,310

Power and water supplies

Security
Other expenditure

914

1,336

914

1,336

12,035

18,738

12,035

18,738

Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2019–20

37

TRUSTEES OF THE MUSEUM OF APPLIED ARTS AND SCIENCES: NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2020

Economic Entity

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

1,848

1,512

1,848

1,512

-

-

670

444

Reconciliation — total maintenance
Maintenance expenses — contracted labour and other
(non-employee related), as above
Personnel services maintenance expense included in Note 2(a)
Employee related maintenance expense included in Note 2(b)

670

444

-

-

Total maintenance expenses included in Note 2(a), 2(b) & 2(c)

2,518

1,956

2,518

1,956

Recognition and Measurement
Maintenance Expense
Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement or
an enhancement of a part or component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
Insurance
The Museum’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for
Government entities. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claims experience.
Lease expense (up to 30 June 2019)
Operating leases
Up to 30 June 2019, operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.
Lease expense (from 1 July 2019)
From 1 July 2019, the Museum recognises the lease payments associated with the following types of leases as an expense on a
straight-line basis:
•
•

Leases that meet the definition of short-term. i.e. where the lease term at commencement of the lease is 12 months or less.
This excludes leases with a purchase option.
Leases of assets that are valued at $10,000 or under when new.

Variable lease payments are not included in the measurement of the lease liability (i.e. variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date). These payments are recognised in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.
(d) Depreciation and Amortisation Expense
Buildings

4,802

4,688

4,802

4,688

Plant & equipment

2,955

3,375

2,955

3,375

32

-

32

-

Right of use asset
Collections

-

7

-

7

7,789

8,070

7,789

8,070

Depreciation charges are lower than the prior year due to the revaluation of the land and buildings at the Museum’s Ultimo site, on
the basis of highest and best use, with a four year remaining life assigned to buildings.
Refer to Note 12 and 14 for recognition and measurement policies on depreciation and amortisation.
(e)

Finance Costs
Interest expense for lease liabilities

2

-

2

-

Total interest expense

2

-

2

-

Recognition and Measurement
Finance costs consist of interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are
recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, in accordance with Treasury’s Mandate to not-for-profit NSW
GGS entities.
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Economic Entity
2020
$000
(f)

Parent

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

Other Expenses
Powerhouse Program Expenses (excluding Employee related)

3,412

859

3,412

859

3,412

859

3,412

859

Reconciliation — Total Powerhouse Program Expenses
Relocation expenses — as above

3,412

859

3,412

859

Employee related relocation expenses

8,168

2,127

8,168

2,127

11,580

2,986

11,580

2,986

The Powerhouse Program is the designated title of the project to build a new museum in Parramatta and which involves the
relocation of the Museum’s Collection from the Ultimo site.
In addition, a further $3,744,000 (2019 $1,207,000) was expended on the purchase of capital equipment in relation to preparing
the Museum for the relocation. Employee related expenditure incurred in relation to the relocation project relates mainly to costs
incurred in preparing the Museum’s Collection for relocation.

3. REVENUE
Recognition and Measurement
Until 30 June 2019, income is recognised in accordance with AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 1004
Contributions.
From 1 July 2019, income is recognised in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
or AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, dependent on whether there is a contract with a customer defined by AASB 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Comments regarding the accounting policies for the recognition of income are
discussed below.
(a)

Deemed Appropriations
Deemed Appropriation money is government money that a GSF Agency receives or recovers of a kind prescribed by the
regulations that forms part of the Consolidated Fund, and is not appropriated under the authority of an Act.
Deemed Appropriation revenue is itemised in Notes 3(b) to 3(f) but excludes non cash items, and the acceptance by the Crown
Entity of employee benefits and liabilities.
2020
$000

2019
$000

-

-

58,575

48,107

(53,661)

(48,107)

4,914

-

612

1,603

612

1,603

26

18

26

18

638

1,621

638

1,621

Movement of Section 4.7 GSF Act — deemed appropriations
Opening balance
Add: additions of deemed appropriations
Less: expenditure charged against deemed appropriations
Closing balance
(b) Sale of goods and services
Sale of goods
Shops
Publications
Rendering of Services
Admissions

2,855

6,199

2,855

6,199

Members organisation

164

487

164

487

Licenced operations

170

262

170

262

1,129

1,754

1,129

1,754

-

70

-

70

Venue hire and catering
Fees for staff services

4,318

8,772

4,318

8,772

4,956

10,393

4,956

10,393
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Economic Entity
2020
$000

Parent

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

Recognition and Measurement
Until 30 June 2019
Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the Museum transfers the significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the goods, usually on delivery of the goods.
Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based
on labour hours incurred to date).
From 1 July 2019
Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the Museum satisfies a performance obligation by transferring the promised
goods. Goods sold are retail items from the Museum’s shop including publications produced by the Museum. The Museum
typically satisfies its performance obligations at the point of sale, when the customer takes possession of the goods. The
payments are typically due at the time of sale. Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price specified in the
contract, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. No
element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a short credit term. No volume discount or warranty is
provided on the sale.
Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the Museum satisfies the performance obligation by transferring the
promised services. The nature of services include Museum entry, workshops and programs, Museum membership, venue hire,
and catering services. The Museum typically satisfies its performance obligations when customers attend the Museum,
workshops/programs or when the relevant function is held. The Museum progressively satisfies its performance obligation in
relation to memberships through the membership period, being one year. Revenue is recognised as the performance obligation is
satisfied, and in relation to memberships, on a monthly basis, progressively over the life of the membership. The payments are
typically due at the time of attendance, or in advance to book a place in a workshop/program or a function, or at the start of the
membership period. The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. No element of financing is
deemed present as payments are due when service is provided.
(c)

Investment Revenue
Net gain/(loss) from TCorp IM Funds measured at fair value
through profit or loss
Dividend income

15

210

15

210

12

15

12

15

27

225

27

225

Recognition and Measurement
TCorp IM Funds distributions and dividend income
Tcorp IM Funds distributions and dividend revenue are recognised when the Museum’s right to receive payment has been
established.
(d) Grants and contributions
Grants withithout sufficiently specific perofrmance obligations
From NSW Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC):
Recurrent Grants
Capital Grants
Total grants from Department of Premier and Cabinet

35,204

29,364

35,204

29,364

1,868

1,868

1,868

1,868

37,072

31,232

37,072

31,232

The Museum receives its funding under grant funding received from Department of Premier and Cabinet which receives
appropriations from the Consolidated Fund. Appropriations for each financial year are set out in the Appropriation Bill that is
prepared and tabled for that year. Due to COVID-19, the State Budget and related 2020–21 Appropriation Bill has been delayed
until November–December 2020. However, pursuant to section 4.10 of the GSF Act, the Treasurer has authorised Ministers to
spend specified amounts from Consolidated Fund. This authorisation is current from 1 July 2020 until the release of the 2020–21
Budget or Appropriation Bill.
The recurrent grant for 2020 included an adjustment of $5.32m to address the Museum’s cash position at 30 June 2019. The
recurrent grant for 2019 comprised solely of the grant as per the State Budget for 2018–19.
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Economic Entity

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

Superannuation — defined benefit

-

-

309

330

Long service leave

-

-

446

455

Personnel services benefits and liabilities provided free of charge by
Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Staff Agency:

Payroll taxes

-

-

17

19

-

-

772

804

15,523

4,530

15,523

4,530

-

9

-

9

From other institutions and individuals:
Grants — Other
Bequests
Public Donations

66

69

66

69

Industry donations and contributions

138

729

138

729

Collection Donations — in kind

1,171

429

1,171

429

47

2,130

47

2,130

16,945

7,896

16,945

7,896

54,017

39,128

54,789

39,932

Other Donations — in kind

Grants — Other includes $15,383,000 in funds provided by DPC in relation to the Powerhouse Program.
Recognition and Measurement
Until 30 June 2019
Income from grants (other than contribution by owners) is recognised when the entity obtains control over the contribution. The
Museum is deemed to have assumed control when the grant is received or receivable. Contributions are recognised at their fair
value. Contributions of services are recognised when and only when a fair value of those services can be reliably determined and
the services would be purchased if not donated.
From 1 July 2019
Income from grants to acquire/construct a recognisable non-financial asset to be controlled by the Museum is recognised when
the Museum satisfies its obligations under the transfer. The Museum satisfies the performance obligations under the transfer to
construct assets over time as the non-financial assets are being constructed. The percentage of cost incurred is used to recognise
income, because this most closely reflects the progress to completion.
Revenue from grants with sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised when the Museum satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring the promised goods. Typically, this is in the form of the delivery of a public/education program, or the
opening of an exhibition. Currently, the Museum is also contributing to the development of a new museum in Parramatta. The
performance obligation in relation to this grant is the progressive undertaking of the activities required to design the new museum
and prepare for the relocation of the Museum’s Collection.
Revenue from these grants is recognised based on the grant amount specified in the funding agreement/funding approval, and
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. No element of financing
is deemed present as funding payments are usually received in advance or shortly after the relevant obligation is satisfied.
Income from grants without sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised when the Museum obtains control over
the granted assets (e.g. cash).
The Museum receives assistance and contributions from third parties by way of the provision of volunteer labour, donations and
bequests to the collection and the provision of goods and services free of charge. Non-Monetary contributions are recognised at
their fair value. Contributions of services are to be recognised when and only when a fair value of those services can be reliably
determined and the services would be purchased if not donated (refer Note 3(e)). It has been determined that the Museum would
not have purchased the services provided by volunteer labour if they have not been donated. The Museum has disclosed the
estimated value of volunteer labour at Note 2.
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Economic Entity

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

Superannuation — defined benefit

309

330

-

-

Long service leave

446

455

-

-

(e) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits
and other liabilities

Payroll tax
(f)

17

19

-

-

772

804

-

-

Other revenue
Rental and Other income

793

846

793

846

793

846

793

846

-

74

-

74

4. GAINS/(LOSSES) ON DISPOSAL
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment
Written down value of assets disposed

(6)

-

(6)

-

(6)

74

(6)

74

Realized Foreign Exchange gains/(losses) from forward contracts

-

(55)

-

(55)

Increase/(decrease) in value of Shares

-

3

-

3

-

(52)

-

(52)

5. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES)

6. CURRENT ASSETS — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand

1,847

-

1,847

-

1,847

-

1,847

-

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash at bank, short-term deposits with
original maturities of three months or less and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and net of outstanding bank
overdraft.
Cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of Financial Position)
Bank Overdraft (refer Note 16)

1,847

-

1,847

-

-

(3,114)

-

(3,114)

1,847

(3,114)

1,847

(3,114)

Refer note 21 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity and market risk arising from financial instruments.

7. CURRENT ASSETS — RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables from contracts with customers

42

2,057

3,694

2,057

3,694

Sale of goods and services

135

428

135

428

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses

(70)

(50)

(70)

(50)

Other debtors

210

183

210

183

Prepayments

227

195

227

195

2,559

4,450

2,559

4,450
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Economic Entity

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

Balance at 1 July

50

34

50

34

Amounts written off during the year

(9)

-

(9)

-

-

-

-

-

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses (ECL):

Receipts against prior ECL provisions
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit and loss

29

16

29

16

Balance at 30 June

70

50

70

50

Decrease in trade receivables from contracts with customers relates to outstanding reimbursements in relation to Powerhouse
Program expenditure.
Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial assets that are either past due or impaired, are
disclosed in Note 21.
Recognition and Measurement
All ‘regular way’ purchases or sales of financial asset are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace. Receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at the transaction price.
Subsequent measurement
The Museum holds receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Changes are recognised in the net result for the year when
impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process.
Impairment
The Museum recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt financial assets not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows that the Museum expects
to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. For trade receivables, the Museum applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. The Museum recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Museum has
established a provision matrix based on its historical credit loss experience for trade receivables, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the receivable.

8. CONTRACT ASSETS
Contract Assets — Current

2,126

-

2,126

-

2,126

-

2,126

-

Recognition and Measurement
Contract assets relate to the Museum’s right to consideration in exchange for works completed, but not billed at the reporting
date in respect of expenditure incurred in relation to the Powerhouse Program.

9. CURRENT ASSETS — INVENTORY
Held for resale
Finished goods at cost

229

226

229

226

229

226

229

226

Recognition and Measurement
Inventories held for distribution are stated at cost, adjusted when applicable, for any loss of service potential. A loss of service
potential is identified and measured based on the existence of a current replacement cost that is lower than the carrying amount.
Inventories (other than those held for distribution) are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using
the ‘first in first out’ method.
The cost of inventories acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration is the current replacement cost as at the date of
acquisition. Current replacement cost is the cost the entity would incur to acquire the asset. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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Economic Entity

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

3,226

3,476

3,226

3,476

308

308

308

308

3,534

3,784

3,534

3,784

10. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
TCorp IM Funds (Medium Term Growth)
Shares

Refer to Note 21 for further information regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.
Recognition and Measurement
All ‘regular way’ purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
Classification and measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value under AASB 9.
Financial assets are held for trading if acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. TCorpIM Funds are managed and their performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis and therefore the business model is neither to hold to collect contractual cash flows or sell the financial asset.
Hence these investments are mandatorily required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Notwithstanding the criteria to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial
assets may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces,
an accounting mismatch.
A gain or loss on a financial asset that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in net results and
presented net within other gains/(losses), except for TCorpIM Funds that are presented in ‘investment revenue’ in the period in
which it arises.

11. RESTRICTED ASSETS
Included in investments are funds donated or bequeathed to the Museum for specific purposes. They are made up of amounts
that are expendable at any time in the future by the Trustees in accordance with the donation or bequest.
Restricted Bequests

12. NON-CURRENT ASSETS — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

1,910

2,005

1,910

2,005

Land and
Buildings
$000

Plant and
Equipment
$000

Collection
Assets
$000

Total
$000

572,354

61,566

313,151

947,071

(186,763)

(48,711)

(97)

(235,571)

385,591

12,855

313,054

711,500

607,277

65,956

327,994

1,001,227

(191,525)

(51,536)

(97)

(243,158)

415,752

14,420

327,897

758,069

2020 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
At 1 July 2019 — fair value
Gross carrying amount
Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2020 — fair value
Gross carrying amount
Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

Collection items acquired free of charge during the year have been valued, where values can be reasonably determined, at
$1,171,000 (2019: $429,000). This amount has been treated as additions under collection at valuation. Further details regarding the
fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 13.
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Land and
Buildings
$000

Plant and
Equipment
$000

Collection
Assets
$000

Total
$000

Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of each reporting
period are set out below.
For the year ended 30 June 2020
Net carrying amount at start of year
Transfers (Reallocation of WIP)

385,591

12,855

313,054

711,500

-

-

-

-

Additions

1,963

4,559

1,576

8,098

Disposals

(33)

(170)

-

(203)

Accum depreciation adjustment for disposal

33

163

-

196

33,000

-

13,267

46,267

Depreciation Expense

(4,802)

(2,987)

-

(7,789)

Net carrying amount at end of year

415,752

14,420

327,897

758,069

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement

The useful lives of buildings and associated plant and equipment at the Museum’s Ultimo site had been reassessed effective from
1 July 2015 as a consequence of the Museum’s relocation to Parramatta, resulting in an additional annual depreciation charge of
$9,077,000 being incurred for the financial years ending June 2016 to June 2018.
The Premier’s April 2018 announcement of the final details of the Museum’s relocation to Parramatta, resulted in management
conducting a revaluation of the Ultimo site (refer Note 13), and reassessing the useful life of all assets associated with the Ultimo
site, thus further impacting the annual depreciation charge. The reduction in the charge was due to the reduction of the useful life
and subsequent value of the buildings on the Ultimo site due to the reassessment of highest and best use.
2019 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
At 1 July 2018 — fair value
Gross carrying amount

561,559

59,241

312,287

933,087

Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment

(182,075)

Net carrying amount

379,484

(45,708)

(89)

(227,872)

13,533

312,198

705,215

At 30 June 2019 — fair value
Gross carrying amount
Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

572,354

61,566

313,151

947,071

(186,763)

(48,711)

(97)

(235,571)

385,591

12,855

313,054

711,500

379,484

13,533

312,198

705,215

Reconciliation
Year ended 30 June 2019
Net carrying amount at start of year
Transfers (Reallocation of WIP)

404

(404)

-

-

Additions

391

2,958

863

4,212

Disposals

-

(371)

-

(371)

Accum depreciation adjustment for disposal

-

371

-

371

Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrement

10,000

-

-

10,000

Depreciation Expense

(4,688)

(3,375)

(7)

(8,070)

Leases recognised
Net carrying amount at end of year

143
385,591

12,855

143
313,054
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Recognition and Measurement
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration
given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset
when initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other AAS.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at
measurement date. Where payment for an asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price equivalent; i.e.
deferred payment amount is effectively discounted over the period of credit. Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal
consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition.
Capitalisation thresholds
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets costing $5,000 and above individually are capitalised. Computer related
assests costing individually $5,000 or less but which form part of a network with a cumulative value in excess of $5,000 are also
capitalised.
Restoration costs
The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset after its use is included in the cost of
the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.
Maintenance
Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of a
component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
Assets not able to be reliably measured
The Museum holds a certain asset that has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position because the Museum is
unable to measure reliably the value for that asset and that asset is likely to be material. This asset is the 1785 Boulton and Watt
steam engine. The steam engine is one of the earliest rotative (wheel turning) steam engines to be built and is the oldest in
existence. The engine is also one of the few in the world to work regularly under steam. The Boulton and Watt was excluded from
the last valuation of the Museum’s Collection on the basis that its value was deemed by the independent valuers to be unable to
be reliably measured due to its unique nature.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Except for certain non-depreciable assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis so as to write off the depreciable
amount of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Museum.
All material identifiable components of assets are depreciated separately over their useful lives.
Land is not a depreciable asset. Certain heritage assets including original artworks and collections and heritage buildings may not
have a limited useful life because appropriate curatorial and preservation policies are adopted. Such assets are not subject to
depreciation. The decision not to recognise depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually.
Depreciation rates are reviewed each year taking into consideration the condition and estimated useful life of the assets.
Depreciation Rate
for 2019 and 2020

Category
Buildings

2.00 – 14.30%

Buildings — internal services and major components

4.00 – 50.00%

Plant and equipment

3.33 – 50.00%

Computer equipment

15.00 – 33.33%

Motor Vehicles

10.00 – 20.00%

Exhibitions

5.88 –50.00%

Collections

0.00 – 20.00%

Right-of-Use Assets acquired by lessees (under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019)
From 1 July 2019, AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset for most leases. The right-of-use
asset and corresponding liability are initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments.
Therefore, at that date property, plant and equipment includes amounts for right-of-use assets in respect of leases previously
treated as operating leases under AASB 117, as well as any arrangements that are assessed as leases under AASB 16 that were not
leases under AASB 117.
Right-of use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term. Where the entity
obtains ownership of the underlying leased asset or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the entity will exercise a
purchase option, the entity depreciates the right-of-use asset overs its useful life.
Further information on leases is contained at Note 14.
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Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the “Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value” Policy and
Guidelines Paper (TPP14-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, and AASB 116
Property, Plant and Equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market participants that is physically possible, legally
permissible and financially feasible. The highest and best use must be available at a period that is not remote and take into
account the characteristics of the asset being measured, including any socio-political restrictions imposed by government. In
most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the highest and best use is the existing use. In limited circumstances,
the highest and best use may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no restrictions on use or where there is a feasible
higher restricted alternative use.
Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on a market participant’s perspective, using valuation techniques (market
approach, cost approach, income approach) that maximise relevant observable inputs and minimise unobservable inputs. Also
refer Note 13 for further information regarding fair value.
Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ
materially from its fair value at reporting date. The Museum conducts a comprehensive revaluation at least every three years for
its land and buildings where the market or income approach is the most appropriate valuation technique, and at least every five
years for other classes of property plant and equipment. In relation to land and buildings, comprehensive valuations for the
Museum’s Castle Hill and Miller’s Point sites were completed on 31 January 2018, and the valuation for the Ultimo site was
completed on 31 May 2018. The Ultimo valuation was updated via interim formal revaluations in February 2019 ,and in February
2020 . The Museum’s Collection was last valued in February 2020. All valuations were based on an independent assessment.
Any balances of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in respect of those assets are credited to the asset accounts to
which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the revaluation increments or decrements.
Revaluation increments are recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation surplus in equity. However,
to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as an
expense in the net result, the increment is recognised immediately as a gain in the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as a loss in the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit balance
exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the revaluation surplus. As
a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a class of non-current assets,
but not otherwise. Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining in the asset revaluation
surplus in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.
The Museum mainly owns specialised assets, including heritage assets, such as Museum buildings which are generally valued
using the current replacement cost. However, if government policy indicates that a specialised asset is to be decommissioned and
rezoned by Property NSW, a revaluation at market value will be obtained for the land and buildings (refer Note 13).
If such specialised assets are not decommissioned by Property NSW, such assets remain on the books at current replacement
cost, until a determination is made on the future of these assets.
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets is unlikely to arise.
Since property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value or an amount that approximates fair value, impairment can only arise
in rare circumstances such as where the costs of disposal are material.
The Museum assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the entity estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. When the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its
recoverable amount.
Specialised assets held for continuing use of their service capacity are rarely sold and their cost of disposal is typically negligible.
Their recoverable amount is expected to be materially the same as fair value, where they are regularly revalued under AASB 13.
As a not-for-profit entity, an impairment loss is recognised in the net result to the extent the impairment loss exceeds the amount
in the revaluation surplus for the class of asset.
After an impairment loss has been recognised, it is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in net result and is treated as a revaluation increase. However,
to the extent that an impairment loss on the same class of asset was previously recognised in net result, a reversal of that
impairment loss is also recognised in net result.
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13. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Fair value measurement and hierarchy
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the use
of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the entity categorises, for disclosure purposes, the valuation techniques based on the
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
•
•
•

Level 1 — quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets/liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.
Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 — inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The entity recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the
change has occurred.

(a)

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total Fair
Value
$000

-

375,898

39,854

415,752

Fair value hierachy
2020 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 12)
Land and Buildings
Collection Assets

-

293,768

34,129

327,897

-

669,666

73,983

743,649

Land and Buildings

-

345,737

39,854

385,591

Collection Assets

-

280,501

32,553

313,054

-

626,238

72,407

698,645

2019 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 12)

(b) Valuation techniques, inputs and processes
Fair value of the Museum’s main Property, plant and equipment assets is estimated based on appraisals performed by
independent, professionally qualified valuers. Land assets are valued using the market approach. Buildings and associated plant
are valued using the cost approach. Certain collection assets such as coins, philately, jewellery, books and furniture that have
observable market prices are valued using the market approach. Other collection assets are valued using the cost approach via a
reproduction or recollection cost. Revaluations of land and buildings were conducted for the Museum’s Castle Hill and Miller’s
Point sites on 31 January 2018. A revaluation for land and buildings at the Museum’s Ultimo site was conducted on 31 May 2018
and updated in February 2019 and in February 2020. The last revaluation of Collection assets was undertaken on 30 March 2020.
On 28 April 2018, the Premier formally announced final details of the relocation of the Powerhouse Museum, from Ultimo to
Parramatta. Funding for the relocation project was subsequently included in the NSW Government State Budget for 2018–19. An
aspect of the relocation project is the re-purposing of the Ultimo site. A final decision on the future use of the site is now expected
by the end of 2020.
Based upon Government’s decision to relocate the Powerhouse Museum, management considers that the existing use of the land
and buildings at Ultimo, is no longer highest and best use. As a consequence, management engaged independent valuers to value
the site on the basis of highest and best use, taking into consideration existing zoning and heritage restrictions, but removing the
current restriction of the site being a museum.
The valuation was predicated upon the Museum maintaining occupancy of the site until the 2021–22 financial year, with an
appropriate discount factor applied. Management has also considered the ongoing use of the site over this period and adopted a
value for buildings based upon a revised useful life of said buildings extinguishing by 30 June 2022 (refer Note 27).
The valuation of collection assets involves the use of sampling techniques by professional statisticians. All assets regarded as highly
significant or of high value are individually valued, with other assets valued by category of item using appropriately sized samples
to determine the overall value of the relevant category. Categories vary from having observable established active markets to an
absence of an active market, and unobservable inputs such as the provenance of an item has a significant impact on its value.
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(c)

Land and
Buildings
$000

Collection
Assets
$000

Total
Recurring
Level 3
Fair Value
$000

39,854

32,553

72,407

Additions

-

1,576

1,576

Depreciation

-

-

-

39,854

34,129

73,983

39,854

31,697

71,551

-

863

863

Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements
2020 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)
Fair value as at June 2019

Fair value as at June 2020
2019 Economic entity (Including parent at same values)
Fair value as at July 2018
Additions
Depreciation
Fair value as at June 2019

-

(7)

(7)

39,854

32,553

72,407

14. LEASES
Museum as a lessee
The Museum leases motor vehicles. Lease contracts are typically made for fixed periods of five years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but
leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. The Museum does not provide residual value guarantees in
relation to leases. There are no extension or termination options included in the relevant lease agreements.
The Museum has elected to recognise payments for short-term leases and low value leases as expenses on a straight-line basis,
instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability. Short term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low value assets are assets with a fair value of $10,000 or less when new.
Right-of-use assets under leases
The following table presents right-of-use assets that are included in the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at
Note 12.
Plant and
Equipment
$000

Total
$000

143

143

-

-

(32)

(32)

111

111

Balance at 1 July 2019
Additions
Depreciation Expense
Balance at 30 June 2020

Lease
Liabilities
Lease Liabilities
The following table presents liabilities under leases.
Balance at 1 July 2019

143

Additions

-

Interest expenses

1

Payments

(33)
111
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Lease
Liabilities
The following amounts were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the
year ended 30 June 2020 in respect of leases where the entity is a lessee:
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets

32

Interest expense on lease liabilities

2

Fixed lease payments

33

Total amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

67

The Museum had total cash outflows for leases of $33,000 in FY2019–20.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease as at 30 June 2019,
are as follows:
Within one year

37

Later than one year and not later than five years

88

Total (including GST)

125

Less: GST recoverable from the ATO

(11)

Total (excluding GST)

114

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for the entity’s leases, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the entity would have
to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to
determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
The entity’s lease liabilities are included in borrowings.
Short-term liabilities are included in borrowings
The entity applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to any short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
Recognition and measurement (under AASB 117 until 30 June 2019)
The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the
inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a
specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset (or assets), even if that asset (or those assets) is not
explicitly specified in an arrangement.
Until 30 June 2019, a lease was classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the entity was classified as a finance lease.
Where a non-current asset was acquired by means of a finance lease, at the commencement of the lease, the asset was
recognised at its fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability was
established at the same amount. Lease payments were apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges were recognised in finance
costs in the statement of comprehensive income.
Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases was depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is
no reasonable certainty that the entity will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset was depreciated over the
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.
An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments were recognised as an operating expense in
the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The Museum is not a lessor.
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Economic Entity

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs

321

76

-

-

Accrued personnel services expenses

-

-

453

181

Trade Creditors

659

1,547

659

1,547

Accruals

1,411

1,193

1,279

1,088

2,391

2,816

2,391

2,816

15. CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PAYABLES

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 21.
Recognition and measurement
Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the entity and other amounts. Short-term payables with no stated
interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial. Payables are financial
liabilities at amortised cost, initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs. These are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised net result when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

16. CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — BORROWINGS
Bank Overdraft
Lease Liabilities — Current
Lease Liabilities — Non-Current

-

3,114

-

3,114

33

33

33

33

78

109

78

109

111

3,256

111

3,256

Details regarding market risk, including currency risk, are disclosed in Note 21.
Recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
transaction costs. These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognised in net result when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

17. CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — PROVISIONS
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Annual leave

2,351

1,833

-

-

Annual leave on-costs

417

194

-

-

Payroll tax on annual leave

140

100

-

-

Long service leave on-costs

645

606

-

-

Payroll tax on long service leave

355

334

-

-

3,908

3,067

-

-

Annual leave

-

-

2,351

1,833

Annual leave on-costs

-

-

417

194

Payroll tax on annual leave

-

-

140

100

Long service leave on-costs

-

-

645

606

Provisions for personnel services expenses

Payroll tax on long service leave

-

-

355

334

-

-

3,908

3,067
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Economic Entity

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

3,828

2,992

-

-

80

75

-

-

Provisions — personnel services — current

-

-

3,828

2,992

Provisions — personnel services — non-current

-

-

80

75

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs (Note 15)

321

76

-

-

Accrued personnel services expenses (Note 15)

-

-

453

181

4,229

3,143

4,361

3,248

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs
Provisions — current
Provisions — non-current

Total current provisions not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date amount to $648,000 (2019 $396,000).
Recognition and measurement
Employee benefits and related on-costs
Salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave
Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts
of the benefits.
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. As such, it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Benefits (although short-cut methods are permitted).
Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed that using the nominal annual leave balance plus the annual leave
entitlements accrued while taking annual leave (calculated using 7.9% of the nominal value of annual leave) can be used to
approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The Museum has assessed the actuarial advice based on the entity’s
circumstances and has determined that the effect of discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave is classified as a
current liability even where the Museum does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months as the Museum does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the future will
be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.
Long service leave and superannuation
The Museum’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The Museum
accounts for the liability as having been extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary
revenue item described as ‘Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities’.
Long service leave is measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided up to
the reporting date. Consideration is given to certain factors based on actuarial review, including expected future wage and salary
levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using
Commonwealth government bond rate at the reporting date.
The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s Directions. The
expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the
employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation
Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.
Consequential on-costs
Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they relate
have been recognised. This includes outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe
benefits tax.

18. CURRENT/NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — OTHER LIABILITIES
Unearned revenue
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19. BUDGET REVIEW
The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to Parliament in respect of the
reporting period. Subsequent amendments to the original budget (eg. Adjustment for transfer of functions between entities as a
result of Administrative Arrangements Orders) are not reflected in the budgeted amounts.
The budget process is finalised prior to the beginning of each financial year. Events can arise after that date that necessitates
variations to the planned activities of the Museum for that year. This in turn may cause variations to the financial activities. Major
variations between the original budget and actual amounts are outlined below. Note that budget figures shown in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position provide greater detail than budget figures published in the NSW
Government Budget Papers 2019–20. Museum management is of the opinion that the greater level of detail provides a more
accurate indication of the Museum’s performance against budget.
Net Result
The actual net result was higher than budget by $2,018,000.
The two major items impacting the Museum’s result, and resulting in variations to budget, were the COVID-19 pandemic, and the
accounting for costs associated with the Museum’s relocation to Parramatta (Powerhouse Program). In compliance with health
orders relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Museum closed to the public from 23 March 2020 to 1 June 2020, although
income streams were impacted through to the end of the financial year as general admissions charges were waived after reopening due to the restrictions that were placed on the visitor experience as a result of the health orders in place at the time.
Public and education programs also remained suspended through to the end of the financial year.
Total Revenue was $11,198,000 lower than budget. Sales of goods and services was $558,000 lower than budget. Grants and
contributions was $10,868,000 lower than budget. This variation was the result of two factors. First a lower than budget variation
of $25,000,000 relating to contributions from a fundraising campaign relating to the construction of the new museum. This
campaign is now expected to commence during 2020–21. Second, an over budget variation being grant funding of $15,383,000
received from Create NSW in relation to expenditure that the Museum incurred in relation to the Powerhouse Program. Of the
total expenditure incurred and reimbursed in relation to the Powerhouse Program, $3,744,000 was capitalised.
Total Expenditure was $13,222,000 lower than budget. As per the major revenue variations, there were two main variations that
contributed to this result. First, the payment of funds raised from a fundraising campaign re the construction of the new museum,
that will now not commence until 2020–21. This was a favourable variation of $25,000,000. Second, an over budget variation of
expenditure incurred in relation to the relocation project of $11,580,000. Depreciation charges were also lower than budget by
$671,000.
Assets and Liabilities
Current assets are lower than budget by $1,860,000. Cash and cash equivalents is lower than budget by $4,361,000 mainly
explained by the variation in receivables of $2,472,000 and the reduction in payables and contract liabilities of $1,088,000. These
variations against budget are mainly a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, with the Museum accelerating the payment of
creditors to help support the economy.
Non- Current assets are significantly higher than budget as a result of the revaluation of land and buildings, and the revaluation of
the Museum’s Collection conducted in February 2020.
Cash flows
Net cash inflows from operating activities is $1,456,000 higher than budget. Net cash outflows from investing activities is
$3,813,000 higher than budget due to capitalisation of costs associated with the digitisation of the Museum’s Collection, being an
aspect of the collection relocation project component of the Powerhouse Program.
The closing cash balance is $4,361,000 lower than budget, with the most significant impact the movement in current payable and
current receivables (see above in assets and liabilities) which are a direct impact relating to the COVID-19 pandemic.
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20. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES TO NET RESULT
Net cash used on operating activities

Economic Entity

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

11,655

(2,195)

11,655

(2,195)

(7,789)

(8,070)

(7,789)

(8,070)

1,171

428

1,171

428

Adjustments for items not involving cash
Depreciation
Donations to the collection
Realised and unrealised gains & (losses)
Impairment Allowance
Decrease/(increase) in creditors
Decrease/(increase) in employee entitlements
Increase/(decrease) in receivables

15

90

15

90

(20)

(16)

(20)

(16)

265

1,006

265

1,006

(841)

(320)

(841)

(320)

222

3,172

222

3,172

Increase/(decrease) in inventory
Increase/(decrease) in prepayments and other assets
Net gain/(loss) re investments
Net Result

3

(2)

3

(2)

32

(342)

32

(342)

(6)

77

(6)

77

4,707

(6,172)

4,707

(6,172)

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Museum’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Museum’s
operations or are required to finance the Museum’s operations. The Museum does not enter into or trade financial instruments,
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.
The Museum’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Museum’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these
financial statements.
The Audit and Risk Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced
by the Museum, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risk. Compliance is reviewed by the internal auditors, with reporting
to the Audit and Risk Committee, on a continuous basis.
(a)

Financial instruments categories

Financial Assets

Note

Category

Economic Entity

Parent

Carrying Amount

Carrying Amount

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

Cash and cash
equivalents

6

Amortised cost

1,847

-

1,847

-

Receivables1

7

Amortised cost

2,122

4,072

2,122

4,072

Contract Assets

8

Amortised cost

2,126

-

2,126

-

Financial assets at fair
value

10

At fair value through the profit
and loss — designated upon
initial recognition

3,534

3,784

3,534

3,784

Financial Liabilties

Note

Category

Economic Entity

Parent

Carrying Amount

Carrying Amount

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

Payables2

14

Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost

2,260

2,713

2,260

2,713

Borrowings

16

Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost

111

3,256

111

3,256

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
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(b) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire; or if the entity
transfers the financial asset:
•
•

where substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred; or
where the entity has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, if the entity has not retained control.

Where the Museum has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the asset
continues to be recognised to the extent of the Museum’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Museum also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Museum has retained.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.
(c)

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility that the counterparty will default on their contractual obligations, resulting in a
financial loss to the entity. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial
assets (net of any allowance for credit losses or allowance for impairment).
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the entity, including cash, receivables, and authority deposits. No collateral is held by
the entity. The entity has not granted any financial guarantees. Credit risk associated with the entity’s financial assets, other than
receivables, is managed through the selection of counterparties and establishment of minimum credit rating standards.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking System.
Accounting policy for impairment of trade receivables and other financial assets
Receivables — trade receivables
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are
followed to recover outstanding amounts.
The Museum applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates. Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst
others a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 90 days past due.
The loss allowance for trade receivables and contract assets as at 30 June 2020 and 2019 was determined as follows;
Current

<30 days

30–60 days

61–90 days

>91 days

Total

2020
Expected credit loss rate
Estimated total gross carrying amount
Expected credit loss

0%

0%

0%

0%

38%

3%

1,623

176

74

134

185

2,192

-

-

-

-

70

70

2019
Expected credit loss rate
Estimated total gross carrying amount
Expected credit loss

0%

0%

0%

0%

35%

1%

2,815

565

541

7

144

4,072

-

-

-

-

50

50

Notes: The analysis excludes statutory receivables, prepayments, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7. Therefore, the ‘total’ will not
reconcile to the sum of the receivables total in Note 7 and the contract assets total in Note 8.

The Museum is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single debtor or group of debtors at 30 June 2020
and 2019.
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(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Museum will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Museum continuously
manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high quality liquid
assets. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of overdrafts.
During the current and prior years there were no defaults on borrowings. No assets have been pledged as collateral. The
Museum’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.
The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced.
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For small
business suppliers, where terms are not specified, payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of correctly
rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month
following the month in which an invoice is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified
time period, simple interest must be paid automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other
suppliers, the Head of an authority (or a person appointed by the Head of an authority) may automatically pay the supplier simple
interest. No interest was paid on late payments during 2020 (2019: Nil).
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Museum’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.
Maturity analysis and interest rate exposure of financial liabilities
Economic Entity
(including parent at same values)
Weighted
Avg Effect
Int Rate

Nominal
Amount1

$000
Interest Rate Exposure
Fixed
Interest
Rate

Variable
Interest
Rate

$000
Maturity Dates

Non-interest
bearing

< 1 yr

1–5 yrs

> 5 yrs

2020
Payables

n/a

2,260

-

-

2,260

2,260

-

-

2,260

-

-

2,260

2,260

-

-

2019
Payables

n/a

2,713

-

-

2,713

2,713

-

-

2,713

-

-

2,713

2,713

-

-

Notes
1. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities and therefore may not reconcile to the
statement of financial position.

(e)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. The Museum’s exposures to market risk are primarily through other price risks associated with the movement in the unit
price of the Hour Glass Investment Facilities.
The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for other
price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the economic environment
in which the Museum operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual reporting period). The
sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the statement of financial position date. The analysis is performed on
the same basis as for 2019. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
Other price risk — TCorpIM Funds
Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorpIM Funds, which are held for strategic rather than
trading purposes. The Museum has no direct equity investments. The Museum holds units in the following TCorpIM Funds trusts:
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
Facility
TCorpIM Medium Term Growth

Investment Sectors

Investment
Horizon

2020
$000

2019
$000

Cash, money market instruments,
Australian and international bonds,
listed property and Australian shares

3 to 7 years

3,226

3,476

The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of the net assets held by the facility divided by the number of units on
issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and published daily.
NSW TCorp as trustee for each of the above facilities is required to act in the best interest of the unit-holders and to administer
the trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp has appointed external managers to manage the performance
and risks of each facility in accordance with a mandate agreed by the parties. TCorp has also leveraged off internal expertise to
manage certain fixed income assets for the TCorpIM Funds. A significant portion of the administration of the facilities is
outsourced to an external custodian.
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Investment in the TCorpIM Funds limits the Museum’s exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of funds with
different investment horizons and a mix of investments.
NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for each of the investment facilities, using historically based volatility
information collected over a ten year period, quoted at two standard deviations (i.e. 95% probability). The TCorpIM Funds are
designated at fair value through profit and loss and therefore any change in unit price impacts directly on profit (rather than
equity). A reasonably possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price (as advised by TCorp) multiplied by the
redemption value as at 30 June each year for each facility (balance from TCorpIM Funds Statement).
Other price risk — TcorpIM Funds
Change in
unit price

Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
TCorpIM Funds — Medium-term growth facility

Impact on profit/loss
2020
$000

2019
$000

194

209

+/- 6%

Interest rate risk
The Museum does not hold any interest bearing liabilities. The Museum does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore for these financial instruments a change in interest rates would not affect profit or
loss or equity. A reasonably possible change of +/- 1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. The basis will be
reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. The Trust’s exposure to
interest rate risk is set out below.
-1%

1%

Carrying
Amount
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

Cash and cash equivalents

1,847

(18)

(18)

18

18

Receivables

2,122

-

-

-

-

Contract assets

2,126

-

-

-

-

Other financial assets

3,534

-

-

-

-

2,260

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Receivables

4,072

-

-

-

-

Other financial assets

3,784

-

-

-

-

Payables

2,713

-

-

-

-

Other financial liabilities

3,256

-

-

-

-

2020
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Other financial liabilities

111

2019
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial Liabilities

Currency risk
The Museum is not currently exposed to currency risk on purchases made in currencies other than Australian Dollars. The
Museum hedges between 80 and 100 percent of any substantial future foreign currency purchases when contracted. The
Museum uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, as soon as the liability arises, with maturity dates on the
same dates as the contracted payments. Hedge accounting has not been applied.
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(f)

Fair value measurment

(i)
		

Fair value compared to carrying amount
Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the TCorpIM Funds facilities which are
measured at fair value. Except where specified below, the amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the
statement of financial position approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments.

(ii)
		

Fair value recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
Management assessed that cash, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafts and other current liabilities
approximate their fair values, largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

		

When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the
use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB 13, the Museum categorises, for disclosure purposes, the valuation techniques
based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

		

•

		
		

•
•

		

The Museum recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which
the change has occurred.

Level 1 — quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets/liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.
Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 — inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

2020
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

3,226

-

-

3,226

308

-

-

308

3,534

-

-

3,534

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

3,476

-

-

3,476

Financial assets at fair value
TCorpIM Funds
Shares

2019
Economic Entity (including parent at same values)
Financial assets at fair value
TCorpIM Funds
Shares

308

-

-

308

3,784

-

-

3,784

The value of the TCorpIM Funds is based on the Museum’s share of the value of the underlying assets of the facility, based
on the market value. All of the TCorpIM Funds facilities are valued using ‘redemption’ pricing.

22. EQUITY
Revaluation Surplus
The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. This accords with
the Museum’s policy on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment (refer Note 12).
Accumulated Funds
The category ‘Accumulated Funds’ includes all current and prior period retained funds.
Reserves
Separate reserve accounts are recognised in the financial statements only if such accounts are required by specific legislation or
AAS (e.g. revaluation surplus and foreign currency translation reserve).

23. NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Assistance and contributions received free of charge from third parties are recorded in the financial statements in relation to
donations to the collection. Total assistance and contributions received free of charge are detailed below:
Donations of collection items are brought to account by creating an asset and crediting non-cash donations (refer notes 3(c), 12
and 20).
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Economic Entity
24. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
(a)

Parent

2020
$000

2019
$000

2020
$000

2019
$000

470

594

470

594

Capital Commitments
Aggregate capital expenditure contracted for various building
services projects at balance date and not provided for:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Total (including GST)

-

-

-

-

470

594

470

594

The total commitments above include input tax credits of $43,000 (2019: $54,000) that are expected to be recovered from the
Australian Taxation Office.

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

2020
$000

2019
$000

1,080

-

1,080

-

Contingent Liabilities
The Trust is unaware of the existence of any contingent liabilities as at balance date (2019: Nil).
Contingent Assets
Insurance claim

The Museum has lodged an insurance claim through its insurers in relation to consequential loss as a result of the loss of
revenues/profits in relation to the revenue generating aspects of its operations, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and
the Museum’s compliance with health orders issued by the NSW Government. The Museum’s claim has been acknowledged by
our insurers and is currently being assessed. A consequential loss reserve has been established in relation to this claim.

26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
The Museum’s key management personnel compensation are as follows:
2020
$000

2020 Economic Entity (including parent at same values)

2019
$000

Short-term employee benefits:
Salaries

1,573

967

-

230

1,573

1,197

Termination benefits
Total remuneration

The aggregate value of material transactions, and related outstanding balances, that the Museum entered into, on arm’s length
terms and conditions, with key management personnel, their close family members and controlled or jointly controlled entities
thereof, are as follows;
2020
$000
Nature of Transaction

Services Received — in Kind

2019
$000

Transaction
Value

Net
receivable/
payable

Transaction
Value

Net
receivable/
payable

-

-

-

-

The above services are recorded as both a revenue and an expense in the Museum’s financial statements. Revenue is included
under Other donations — in kind (refer note 3(c)), whilst expenditure is included under Advertising and publicity (refer note 2(c)).
During the year, the entity entered into transactions with other entities that are controlled/jointly controlled/significantly
influenced by the NSW Government. These transactions in aggregate are a significant portion of the Museum’s rendering of
services and receiving of services.
No Trustee of the Museum has entered into a material contract with the Museum since the end of the previous financial period
and there are no material contracts involving Trustee’s interests existing at the end of the period.
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27. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(a)

Change in status of ongoing operations at Ultimo site
On 4 July, 2020 the NSW Government announced that the Powerhouse Museum at Ultimo would remain open to the public, and
operate alongside the new state-of-the-art facility planned for Western Sydney. This announcement reverses the prior decision to
close the Museum at Ultimo effective from 30 June 2021, upon which the valuation of land and buildings at the Museum’s Ultimo
site, had been predicated.
As a consequence of this decision, the Museum has reviewed the current valuation methodology of the land and buildings at the
Ultimo site which are currently valued at highest and best use, taking into account the heritage aspects of the site but removing
the restriction that the site operates as a museum (refer Note 13).
The Museum has determined that the existing valuation methodology is no longer appropriate, and that the most appropriate
valuation methodology for the Ultimo site, is existing use, being a revision of highest and best use. The Museum has re-engaged
its valuers from May 2018 to provide a formal desk top review of a valuation option that was provided to the Museum at that time.
As a result of this review, the impact of the announcement by the NSW Government has been assessed as follows;
(i)

Non-Current Assets — Property, Plant and Equipment
Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Total
$000

343,000

182,641

525,641

Ultimo site
At 30 June 2020 — fair value
Gross carrying amount
Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

-

(173,166)

(173,166)

343,000

9,475

352,475

63,300

194,665

257,965

Values per revised valuation methodology
Gross carrying amount
Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

-

(102,988)

(102,988)

63,300

91,677

154,977

(279,700)

12,024

(267,676)

Change in Values
Gross carrying amount
Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount
(ii)

-

70,178

70,178

(279,700)

82,202

(197,498)

Actual
$000

Adjusted
$000

Change
in value
$000

4,707

4,707

-

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Net result from continuing operations
Net increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus

46,268

(151,230)

(197,498)

Total other Comprehensive income

46,268

(151,230)

(197,498)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

50,975

(146,523)

(197,498)

As the decision to continue operations at the Powerhouse Museum at Ultimo was made subsequent to the reporting period no
adjustments have been made for the period ended 30 June 2020. All adjustments above will impact the Museum’s financial results
for the year ended 30 June 2021.
(b) Impact of COVID-19 pandemic
The Museum anticipates that the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic will result in reduced revenues during 2020–21 due
to lower visitation associated with capacity limits, travel restrictions and social distancing protocols.Increased costs associated
with increased cleaning within public and office spaces is also expected. Whilst the Museum re-opened to the public on 1 June
2020, a large proportion of staff currently work from home, with rostering arrangements in place to support social distancing
within the workplace. No assets were impaired as a result of the pandemic.

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES
The Board of Trustees from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
comprised the following:
Professor Barney Glover AO, PhD, MSc, BSc(Hons),
DipEd, MAICD
Term: 01.01.15−31.12.17; 01.01.18−31.12.20
President (from 13.07.16)
Professor Barney Glover AO has been a Trustee of the
Museum since January 2015, and President since July 2016.
He is currently Vice-Chancellor and President of Western
Sydney University. Professor Glover is an accomplished
academic leader and experienced vice-chancellor.
Previously Vice-Chancellor at Charles Darwin University
from 2009 to 2013, he has a long record of success in
university management and leadership, particularly in
research, intellectual property management and major
capital development projects. Professor Glover is currently
a Board member for the Committee for Sydney and also
has significant business leadership credentials through
membership on the boards of a range of corporate
organisations and several state and national centres
covering areas such as health and medical research,
energy, mineral exploration and processing and
telecommunications. Professor Glover holds a PhD in
Applied Mathematics.
David Borger BE, MUD
Term: 01.01.19–31.12.21
David is the Western Sydney Director of the Sydney
Business Chamber, a role he has held since 2012. Prior to
this, he served in the NSW Labor Government as the
Minister for Roads, Minister assisting the Minister for
Transport and Roads, Minister for Housing, as well as
Minister for Western Sydney. David also previously held the
office of Lord Mayor of Parramatta, where he served for
three terms. David is currently a Director of Think Planners;
and serves as a non-executive director on the boards of
the Sydney Festival, Evolve Housing, and the Westmead
Medical Research Foundation as well as a member of the
advisory board of the Southern Cross Group.
Paddy Carney, BSc(Hon), ACA, FCA
Term: 01.01.19–31.12.21
Paddy is a chartered accountant and registered company
auditor. She is a Senior Partner at PwC, a member of its
Board of Partners in Australia and a member of the Global
Board overseeing the PwC network internationally where
she also chairs its Risk and Operations Committee. She has
nearly 30 years’ financial experience with PwC in the UK
and Australia across a broad range of clients with a focus
on the retail and consumer sector. Paddy is also a director
and audit committee chair for various not-for-profit
organisations, a member of Chief Executive Women (CEW),
and until recently was a director of PwC’s Indigenous
Consulting Pty Ltd. She has a passion for the arts and is
also a Director of the Sydney Festival and was a Trustee at
Sydney Living Museums from 2013-2018.
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Kellie Hush, BCom
Term: 01.01.19–31.12.21
Kellie is a fashion entrepreneur and former Editor-in-Chief,
Harper’s BAZAAR Australia with more than 20 years’
experience in the Australian and international luxury fashion
market. Before joining BAZAAR, Hush was the Editor-inChief of GRAZIA Australia and fashion editor of The Sydney
Morning Herald. She is also a regular fashion commentator
on television, radio, in print media and a published author.
She is currently a Virgin Australia Melbourne Fashion
Festival Board Director. Kellie is also a founding director
of the Australian Fashion Chamber and formerly a Royal
Hospital for Women Foundation Board Director and judge
for the International Woolmark Prize and the VAMFF
National Designer Award.
Suzie Laundy
Term: 01.01.20–31.12.22
Suzie has a long career working in hospitality, sponsorship
and events marketing management. She has a passion for
working with children and has extensive experience in
community organisations that focus on enhancing the lives
of children. This includes involvement with the Ngurra
Jirrama Foundation that enables indigenous students from
remote NT to complete secondary education in NSW
as well as the ASK Council of Australia that supports
underprivileged children with severe medical conditions in
Manila. Suzie currently works in Western Sydney as part of
the Laundy Hotel Group and has strong connections to the
local communities.
Peter Poulet
Term: 01.01.20–31.12.22
Peter Poulet is the Central District Commissioner with the
Greater Sydney Commission. He is also Professor of
Practice at Western Sydney University School of
Architecture. Peter was the inaugural State Architect of
Tasmania 2009-2012 and was the 23rd NSW Government
Architect 2012-2018. Peter’s projects have received
numerous awards including the Horbury Hunt, the Blacket
Award and an Australian Institute of Architects’ award.
He is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Architects.
He has over 30 years’ experience in both private and
government architectural offices.
Eddie Woo, BEd(Hon)
Term: 31.01.19–31.12.21
Eddie Woo teaches mathematics at Cherrybrook
Technology High School and is the Leader of Mathematics
Growth for the NSW Department of Education. He uploads
his everyday classroom lessons to his Youtube channel,
Wootube, which has more than 500,000 subscribers and
over 27 million views. In 2018, he was named Australia’s
Local Hero in the Australian of the Year Awards and listed
as one of the Top 10 Teachers in the world by the Global
Teacher Prize. He is the host of ABC’s children’s series
Teenage Boss and his first book, Woo’s Wonderful World
of Maths, is published by Pan Macmillan.

Ms Lisa Chung LLB, FAIM, FAICD
Term: 01.01.14–31.12.16; 01.01.17–31.12.19
Deputy President (from 04.11.15)
Lisa Chung was a Trustee of the Museum since January
2014 and was Deputy President since November 2015. Lisa
Chung is a company director with several years’ experience
in sectors including commercial property and infrastructure,
outdoor advertising and mass media, professional services,
education and training, visual and creative arts and social
and community services. Lisa is currently a Non-Executive
Director of Australian Unity and Chairman of privatelyowned Urbis Pty Ltd. She is also Chairman of the Front
Project and a Non-Executive Director of Artspace. Lisa was
previously a Non-Executive Director of APN Outdoor and
the Australian Institute of Management and Chairman of the
Benevolent Society. Lisa is a former Partner of Maddocks
Lawyers and Blake Dawson.

Mr Darren Steinberg, BEc, FAICD, FRICS, FAPI
Term: 01.01.19–30.08.19
Darren Steinberg is the CEO of Dexus and an Executive
Director of Dexus Funds Management Limited. Darren has
over 25 years’ experience in the property and funds
management industry with an extensive background in
office, industrial and retail property investment and
development. He has a Bachelor of Economics from the
University of Western Australia. Darren is a Director and
former National President of the Property Council of
Australia, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and the
Australian Property Institute. He is also a founding member
of Property Male Champions of Change.

Dr Alex Birrell PhD, BVSc, MBA, AICD
Term: 01.01.17–31.12.19
Dr Alex Birrell has 20 years’ experience in technology and is
currently CEO of PAFtec, a manufacturer and global leader
in advanced powered air purifying respirators. During her
career, she has worked with Australian technology
organisations such as CSIRO, CSL and ResMed. Before
joining PAFtec, she was the Director of Commercialisation
at ATP Innovations. Dr Birrell also previously worked for
Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, one of Australia’s leading
teaching hospitals, where she was responsible for research
programs in renal and diabetic medicine. In 2010, she
co-founded Heads Over Heels, an organisation supporting
women CEOs of growth companies. Dr Birrell has a PhD in
Medicine (University of Sydney), an MBA (University of
NSW) and is a member of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors.
Mr Tim Ebbeck BEc, FCPA, MAICD, FAIM
Term: 11.01.12–31.12.14; 01.01.15–31.12.17; 01.01.18–31.12.19
Tim Ebbeck was a Trustee of the Museum since 2013 and sat
on the Museum’s Financial Audit and Risk Management
Committee. Tim is a chairman, non-executive director,
board advisor, committee chair, CEO and CFO with
extensive experience across technology, media, sport,
consulting and finance industries. Tim is currently A/NZ
CEO of Automation Anywhere Inc, and a Non-Executive
Director at Nextgen Distribution. His previous board roles
have included IXUP Ltd, GeoOp Ltd, NVOI Ltd, Syndicate
Chairman of the CEO Institute, CPA Australia, Member of
Innovation Taskforce and Sustainable Growth Taskforce at
the Business Council of Australia, Board Advisor to My
Wave Limited, Non-Executive Chairman for Insite
Organisation Pty Ltd and Non-Executive Director for
SkynetGlobal Limited (ASX). Tim also has extensive
executive experience as CEO of Oracle Australia New
Zealand, Chief Commercial Officer of NBN Co and CEO of
SAP Australia New Zealand. He is a former CFO, and
investment director in the venture capital industry.
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PRINCIPAL OFFICERS AT 30 JUNE 2020

LOANS

Chief Executive
Lisa Havilah
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences loaned 218
collection objects to 33 institutions in 41 individual loan
arrangements in 2019-2020. The 33 institutions were:

Director, Corporate Resources and Chief Financial Officer
Andrew Elliott B Comm (Accy), CPA, GIA (Cert), MAICD
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
A/Director, Programs and Engagement (from 0.03.2020)
Eloise Eaton
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
A/Director, Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions
(from 16.03.2020)
Matthew Connell
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Director, Communications (from 16.06.2020)
Chris Lawrence
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Director, Strategic Projects (from 9.12.2020)
Lisa Ffrench
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Project Director, Powerhouse Program (from 16.12.2020)
Alex Bowen
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Director, Campaign (from 10.03.2020)
Yvonne Zammit
Address: 500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007

Anzac Memorial Hyde Park, Sydney, NSW
Art Gallery of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW
Arts Centre Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC
Australian National Maritime Museum, Sydney, NSW
Australian War Memorial, Sydney, NSW
Bathurst Regional Art Gallery, Bathurst, NSW
Biennale of Sydney, Sydney, NSW
Broken Hill City Council, Broken Hill, NSW
Hazelhurst Regional Gallery & Arts Centre, Gymea, NSW
Heide Museum of Modern Art, Bulleen, VIC
Kudos Gallery, Paddington, NSW
Meadowbank College of TAFE, Meadowbank, NSW
Mornington Peninsula Regional Gallery, Mornington, VIC
Sancta Sophia College, Sydney, NSW
Museum and Art Gallery of the Northern Territory,
Darwin, NT
Museum of Australian Democracy at Old Parliament
House, Canberra, ACT
National Museum of Australia, Acton, ACT
National School of Art, Darlinghurst, NSW
Newcastle Museum, Newcastle, NSW
Old Treasury Building Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC
Reserve Bank of Australia, Sydney, NSW
RMIT Gallery, Melbourne, VIC
Royal Flying Doctor Service (South Eastern Section),
Broken Hill, NSW
State Library of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW
Sydney Living Museums, Sydney, NSW
Sydney Tramway Museum, Loftus, NSW
TAFE NSW Western Institute, Broken Hill, NSW
The National Trust of Australia (NSW), Sydney, NSW
The Sheep’s Back, Naracoorte, SA
TradeCoast Central, Eagle Farm, QLD
Transport Heritage NSW Ltd, Eveleigh, NSW
Tumbarumba Historical Society Museum,
Tumbarumba, NSW
UNSW Galleries, Paddington, NSW
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ACQUISITIONS
A total of 132 new acquisitions comprising 505 objects were
added to the Museum’s collection throughout 2019–20:
Electronic costume, ‘Cyber Mayan Interactive’, foam /
metal / plastic / wire / various materials / electronic
components, designed, made and worn by Balder
Moreno, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1999. Gift
of Balder Moreno, 2019. 2019/41/1
Electronic Costume, ‘Luma: Intergalactic Hacker Urban
Beast’, foam / metal / plastic / various materials, designed,
made and worn by Balder Moreno, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, 2003. Gift of Balder Moreno, 2019.
2019/41/2

Boomerang, engraved, wood, made by Indigenous people
in western New South Wales or central Queensland, used
by Lord McAlpine, Australia, 1900–1925. Purchased 2004.
2019/49/4
Boomerang, engraved, wood, made by Indigenous people
in western New South Wales or central Queensland, used
by Lord McAlpine, Australia, 1900–1925. Purchased 2004.
2019/49/5
Cardigan, ‘Koala, Kooka, Kanga’, mohair, designed by
Jenny Kee, hand-knitted by Jan Ayres for Flamingo Park,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1974–1976.
Purchased 2019. 2019/50/1

Banner screen, tape lace, made by Rose Helen Hall,
Australia, 1893–1943. Gift of Helen Rosemary (Lloyd)
Venton, granddaughter of Rose Helen (Cullen) Hall, 2019.
2019/42/1

Umbrella, ‘Bird Garden’, polyester / plastic / metal /
leather, artwork designed by Akira Isogawa, umbrella
designed by Blunt, Auckland, New Zealand, 2018.
Purchased 2019. 2019/51/1

Electric guitar with case and strap, Stratocaster, serial
number 69250, wood / plastic / metal / electronic
components, made by Fender, Fullerton, California, United
States of America, 1961, used by Jim Skiathitis to write,
record and perform the instrumental song ‘Bombora’ by
The Atlantics, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1961.
Purchased with the assistance of the Australian
Government through the National Cultural Heritage
Account, 2019. 2019/43/1

Model of Macquarie Lighthouse, 3D printed, titanium /
glass / metal, 3D representation created through
photography by Michael Rampe, Yann Tristant, Joanne
Stephan and Craig O’Neill, laser scanning by Rory
Williams, digital photogrammetry and modelling by
Michael Rampe and Peter Reeves, manufacture of
physical object by Ben Johnston and Peter Dekker,
Macquarie University, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 2019. Gift of Macquarie University, 2019.
2019/52/1

Panels (3), ‘Thap Yonk 1’, and ochre samples (3), ochre /
oxides / acrylic / canvas, made by Mr Ngallametta Jnr,
Aurukun, Queensland, Australia, 2018. Purchased with
funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2019. 2019/44/1
Traditional headdress, ‘Green Dancing Dhoeri (Dhari)’,
Torres Strait dove feathers / cane / string / acrylic paint /
Burnie Seed, made by John Barsa, Murray Island, Torres
Strait Islands, Australia, 2012. Purchased with funds from
the MAAS Foundation, 2019. 2019/45/1
Tiles (3), asbestos cement, made by James Hardie,
installed at the English family home, Greystanes, New
South Wales, Australia, 1963–2001. Gift of Kathy Hackett,
2019. 2019/46/1
Medicine bottle with minim measure, ‘Nux Vomica’,
glass / paper / leather, Martin and Pleasance Chemists /
S Maw Son and Thompson, Australia / London, England,
1870–1955. Gift of Jeni Foran, 2019. 2019/47/1
Textile in packaging, ‘Biame’, cotton / acrylic paint, Mary
Miles, Redfern Aboriginal Corporation, Sydney, New
South Wales, Australia, 2003. Gift of Redfern Aboriginal
Corporation, 2019. 2019/48/1
Boomerang, engraved, wood, made by Indigenous people
in western New South Wales, used by Lord McAlpine,
Australia, 1900–1925. Purchased 2004. 2019/49/1
Boomerang, engraved, wood, made by Indigenous people
in western New South Wales, used by Lord McAlpine,
Australia, 1900–1925. Purchased 2004. 2019/49/2
Boomerang, engraved, wood, made by Indigenous people
in western New South Wales or central Queensland, used
by Lord McAlpine, Australia, 1900–1925. Purchased 2004.
2019/49/3

Vase, ‘White Queen’, glazed stoneware, designed and
made by Donna Green, Long Island City, New York, United
States of America, 2019. Purchased with funds provided
by MAAS Friends of Ceramics through Utopia Art Sydney,
2019. 2019/53/1
Teapots (3), brass / rhodium / gold / copper /
acrylic, designed and made by Hendrik Forster and
Kenny Yong-soo Son, Calulu, Victoria, Australia, 2019.
Purchased 2019. 2019/54/1
Sculpture, ‘Translated Vase 2016 TVJ 4’, celadon /
porcelain / gold leaf / epoxy, by Yeesookyung, Republic
of Korea, 2016. Donated by Kim Moonjoo in memory of
her mother Lee Jonson, 2019. 2019/55/1
Hairpin, kingfisher feathers / metal, Beijing, China,
1900–1920. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/1
Hairpin, kingfisher feathers / metal, Beijing, China,
1900–1920. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/2
Hairpin, kingfisher feathers / metal, Beijing, China,
1900–1920. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/3
Brooch, kingfisher feathers / metal, Beijing, China,
1900–1920. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/4
Ornament, kingfisher feathers / metal, Beijing, China,
1900–1920. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/5
Ornament, kingfisher feathers / metal, Beijing, China,
1900–1920. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/6
Hairpin, cloisonné, metal, Qingdao, Shandong province,
China, 20th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019.
2019/56/7
Hairpin, metal, Qingdao, Shandong province, China, 20th
century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/8
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Hairpin, metal, Qingdao, Shandong province, China, 20th
century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/9
Hairpin, metal / glass, Qingdao, Shandong province,
China, 20th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019.
2019/56/10
Chatelaine in box with lid and tag, silver / cardboard /
paper / organic material, Qingdao, Shandong province,
China, late 19th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019.
2019/56/11

Puppet head painted white face and moveable jaw,
‘Hu Li-Jing’, painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th
century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/28
Puppet head, wrinkled forehead and white hair, ‘Nv
Lao-tou’, painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th
century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/29
Puppet head, long black hair tied with string, ‘Nv Xian’
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/30

Cap, embroidered cotton / plastic, maker unknown,
China, 20th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019.
2019/56/12

Puppet head, gold five-Buddha crown, ‘Tang San-Zang’,
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/31

Hat, childs, embroidered cotton, maker unknown, China,
20th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/13

Puppet head, short orange hair and orange hat, ‘Yao Dao’,
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/32

Hat, childs, embroidered cotton, maker unknown, China,
20th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/14
Hat, embroidered sateen, maker unknown, China, 20th
century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/15
Earmuffs, embroidered satin / cotton / fur, maker
unknown, China, 1875–1925. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts,
2019. 2019/56/16
Puppet head, ‘Xu Da’, red face and black eye sockets,
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/17
Puppet head, green hat, ‘Xu Xian’, painted clay, Fujian
province, China, 20th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts,
2019. 2019/56/18
Puppet head, gold hat and long black beard, ‘Ye Seng’,
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/19
Puppet head, red hair and beard, ‘Shen Gong-Bao’,
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/20
Puppet head, green and yellow face, ‘Yu Hong’, painted
clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century. Gift of Dr Claire
Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/21
Puppet head, orange hat and long black braid, ‘Shi Xiu’,
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/22
Puppet head, green hat decorated with three balls,
‘Lu Xun’, painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th
century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/23
Puppet head, white forehead and moveable jaw, ‘ Qian
Li-Yan’, painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/24
Puppet head, ‘third eye’, ‘Yang Jian’, painted clay, Fujian
province, China, 20th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts,
2019. 2019/56/25
Puppet head, green hat with two decorative balls,
‘Fu Ma’, painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/26
Puppet head, black moustache and red hat, ‘He Shang’,
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century. Gift of
Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/27
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Puppet head, short red hair and green face with moveable
jaw, ‘Yang Zhi’, painted clay, Fujian province, China,
20th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/33
Puppet head, white face with green and gold hat, ‘Jiao
Zan’, painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/34
Puppet head, long black hair and beard, ‘Xi Ba-Wang’,
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/35
Puppet head, large black moustache and tall black hat,
possibly ‘Xu Gan’, painted clay, Fujian province, China,
20th century. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/36
Puppet head, red face with a green hat, painted clay,
Fujian province, China, 20th century. Gift of Dr Claire
Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/37
Puppet head, white face with a gold hat, moveable mouth,
painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century. Gift of
Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/38
Puppet head, blue skin with a white forehead, moveable
tongue, painted clay, Fujian province, China, 20th century.
Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/39
Papercuts and associated packaging and notebooks,
paper / cardboard / plastic, various regions, China,
1920–2000. Gift of Dr Claire Roberts, 2019. 2019/56/40
Set of epidiascope slides and lecture notes, paper / ink,
written by Dr Wernher von Braun, then Director of NASA,
place of production unknown, c. 1962. MAAS Collection,
2019. 2019/57/1
Jigsaw puzzle (130 piece), ‘Ansett Travel Service, Tourist
Map of Australia’, wood / paper, designed by R A Calwell,
1948, maker unknown, Australia, 1948–2001. MAAS
Collection, 2019. 2019/58/1
Figure, ‘Two heads are better than one’, earthenware,
Stephen Bird, Dundee, Scotland, 2008. Donated through
the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by
Stephen Bird, 2019. 2019/59/1
Wall platter, ‘A darker heartlessness’, painted stoneware,
Stephen Bird, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2010.
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural
Gifts Program by Stephen Bird, 2019. 2019/59/2

Toby jug, ‘Orange death toby’, press moulded and hand
built, porcelain, Stephen Bird, Adelaide, South Australia,
2010. Donated through the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program by Stephen Bird, 2019. 2019/59/3

Boots (pair), elastic sided with mock lacing, childs, leather
/ elastic, maker unknown, worn by Theresa McKay,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1878. Transferred
from the Historic Houses Trust of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/6

Wall platter, ‘Adam and Eve with eyes in dishes’, white
earthenware, Stephen Bird, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 2014. Donated through the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Stephen Bird,
2019. 2019/59/4

Needlework sampler, embroidered miniature apron,
cotton, G Ferguson, Woollahra, New South Wales,
Australia, 1885–1910. Transferred from the Historic
Houses Trust of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/7

Microprinter, desktop reader-printer, model M2044
Microprinter 60, plastic / metal / glass, designed by
Canon, Lake Success, New York, United States of
America, used by Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences
Registration Department and Archives, Ultimo, New South
Wales, Australia, c. 1970–1989. MAAS Collection, 2019.
2019/60/1
Abaya, floor length, long sleeved, grey polyester / metal /
plastic, designed by Hijab House, Bankstown, New South
Wales, Australia, 2011. MAAS collection, 2019. 2019/61/1
Cap, modest wear, womens, with packaging, cotton /
plastic, designed by Hijab House, Bankstown, New South
Wales, Australia, made in China, 2011. MAAS collection,
2019. 2019/61/2
Retail packaging comprising hijab box, tote bag and
swing tag, card / paper / plastic, designed by Hijab
House, Bankstown, New South Wales, Australia, 2011.
MAAS collection, 2019. 2019/61/3
Scarf rings (2), plastic / card, designed by Hijab House,
Bankstown, New South Wales, Australia, made in China,
2011. MAAS collection, 2019. 2019/61/4
Dress, long sleeved, red polyester / lace, designed by
Hijab House, Bankstown, New South Wales, Australia,
made in China, 2017. MAAS collection, 2019. 2019/61/5
Hijab, multi coloured floral design, polyester, designed by
Hijab House, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2017.
MAAS collection, 2019. 2019/61/6
Day ensemble, consisting of mantle, bodice, skirt and
belt, womens, silk moiré, maker unknown, England,
1863–1873. Transferred from the Historic Houses Trust
of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/1
Petticoat, quilted, Patent Number 9152, down / silk, made
by Booth & Fox, London, England, 1865–1870. Transferred
from the Historic Houses Trust of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/2
Day dress, womens, brown silk faille / silk brocade,
possibly made in Australia, 1880–1885. Transferred from
the Historic Houses Trust of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/3
Shoes (pair), babys, ‘Our Baby’, embroidered and applied
decoration, cream silk / leather / glass, maker unknown,
location of manufacture unknown, 1875–1900. Transferred
from the Historic Houses Trust of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/4
Needlework picture, ‘Queen Catherine reproaching
Cardinal Wolseley’, Berlin woolwork, wool / silk / wood,
needlework by Rosina Priscilla Starkey, Fort Street School,
Sydney, New South Wales, made 1868, displayed in the
Intercolonial Exhibition, Sydney, New South Wales, 1870
and Sydney International Exhibition, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, 1879.Transferred from the Historic
Houses Trust of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/5

Needlework sampler, embroidered apron with large
front pocket, red cotton thread / cotton / lace, made by
G Ferguson, Woollahra, New South Wales, Australia
date unknown. Transferred from the Historic Houses
Trust of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/8
Needlework sampler, silk / linen / wood, made by
Annie Maria Gillies, Belgium, c. 1888. Transferred from
the Historic Houses Trust of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/9
Needlework picture, ‘Christ and the Tribute Money’,
erlin woolwork, framed, wool / wood, maker unknown,
possibly Australia, 1860–1885. Transferred from the
Historic Houses Trust of NSW, 1998. 2019/62/10
Coat and accessories, cotton / plastic / cane, designed
and made by Greer Taylor, Yarramalong, New South
Wales, Australia, 1988, owned by Sylvia Pepper, Australia,
1988–2019. Gift of Maurice Keric Pepper and Sylvia Sarah
Pepper, 2019. 2019/63/1
Hat and accessories, cotton / plastic / cardboard / ribbon
designed and made by Greer Taylor, Yarramalong, New
South Wales, Australia, 1988, owned by Sylvia Pepper,
Australia, 1988–2019. Gift of Maurice Keric Pepper and
Sylvia Sarah Pepper, 2019. 2019/63/2
Paper sewing pattern for coat (5 pieces) with label and
tape, paper / ink / pencil / cotton, designed and made by
Greer Taylor, Yarramalong, New South Wales, Australia,
1988, owned by Sylvia Pepper, Australia, 1988–2019. Gift
of Maurice Keric Pepper and Sylvia Sarah Pepper, 2019.
2019/63/3
Sculptural forms (2), ‘Molluscoid’ series, stoneware, Peter
Travis, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1973.
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural
Gifts Program in memory of Peter Travis, 2019. 2019/64/1
Dress, ‘Palace’, created as part of the Commonwealth
Fashion Exchange, wool / raffia / shell / PET, designed by
Kit Willow, KITX, Australia, made in Solomon Islands and
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2018. Donated
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
Program by KITX, 2019. 2019/65/1
Souvenir luggage, vinyl / metal / plastic, designed for
Qantas Empire Airways Ltd, made by Duffy Electronics
Pty Ltd, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia c. 1950–
1960. MAAS Collection, 2019. 2019/66/1
Furniture collection, consisting stools (6), table and floor
covering, Nyinajimanha (Sitting Together), Tasmanian
Blackwood timber / gold plated steel / kangaroo pelt,
designed and made by Nicole Monks, Australia, 2016.
Purchased 2019. 2019/67/1
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Garden installation / sculptural form, mixed media,
collected, designed and assembled by Joan Marsh,
Oatley, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1958–2011. Gift of
Gordon and Kenneth Beattie, in memory of Joan and Russ
Marsh, 2019. 2019/68/1
Blue room installation, mixed media, collected, designed
and assembled by Joan and Russell Marsh, Oatley, New
South Wales, Australia, c. 1958–2011. Gift of Gordon and
Kenneth Beattie, in memory of Joan and Russ Marsh,
2019. 2019/68/2
Religious ephemera installation from the blue room, mixed
media, collected, designed and assembled by Joan
Marsh, Oatley, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1958–2011.
Gift of Gordon and Kenneth Beattie, in memory of Joan
and Russ Marsh, 2019. 2019/68/3
Red room sculptural form, ‘Taj Mahal’, glass / marble /
synthetic fabric, collected, designed and assembled
by Joan Marsh, Oatley, New South Wales, Australia,
1981–2011. Gift of Gordon and Kenneth Beattie, in memory
of Joan and Russ Marsh, 2019. 2019/68/4
Sunroom installation / sculptural form, mixed media,
collected, designed and assembled by Joan Marsh,
Oatley, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1981–2011. Gift of
Gordon and Kenneth Beattie, in memory of Joan and Russ
Marsh, 2019. 2019/68/5
Cross and religious medallion, mixed media, various
makers, used by Joan Marsh, Oatley, New South Wales,
Australia, c. 1981–2011. Gift of Gordon and Kenneth
Beattie, in memory of Joan and Russ Marsh, 2019.
2019/68/6
Jardiniere and cup, ‘Daisy ware’, glazed earthenware,
made by Irene ‘Daisy’ Lucas, Mittagong, New South
Wales, Australia, used by Joan Marsh, Oatley, New South
Wales, Australia, c. 1973–2011. Gift of Gordon and
Kenneth Beattie, in memory of Joan and Russ Marsh,
2019. 2019/68/7
Collection of crocheted items made and used by Joan
Marsh, Oatley, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1981–2011.
Gift of Gordon and Kenneth Beattie, in memory of Joan
and Russ Marsh, 2019. 2019/68/8
Books (22), paper / leather, various makers, used by Joan
Marsh, Australia / United Kingdom / United States of
America, 1909–1999. Gift of Gordon and Kenneth Beattie,
in memory of Joan and Russ Marsh, 2019. 2019/68/9
Clothing ensemble, womens, comprising evening gown
and shoes, silk / plastic / metal / leather / suede, gown
designed and made by Prada and shoes by Miu Miu, Italy,
worn by Catherine Martin at Academy Awards, Los
Angeles, California, United States of America, 2014. Gift
of Catherine Martin under the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/1
Clothing ensemble, comprising dress, coat and stiletto
shoes, silk / wool / viscose / leather / plastic / metal,
designed and made by Miu Miu, Italy, worn by Catherine
Martin to the British Academy of Film and Television Arts
(BAFTA) ceremony, London, England, 2014. Gift of
Catherine Martin under the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/2
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Performance costumes (2), ‘Fruity Mambo’, mens and
womens, lycra / leather / suede / cotton / synthetic /
metal / plastic, designed by Catherine Martin made by
Catherine Martin and Rosie Boylan, for ‘Strictly Ballroom
The Musical’, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2014.
Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/3
Clothing ensemble, comprising Driza-Bone trench coat,
jodhpurs (2 pairs), riding jacket and silk blouse, waterproof
cotton / plastic / leather / metal / silk / elastane / linen /
polyester, designed by Catherine Martin for RM Williams
in association with the film ‘Australia’, Australia, worn by
Catherine Martin, 2008. Gift of Catherine Martin under
the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018.
2019/69/4
Collection of interior design samples, including swatch
books (9), countertop display card, fabric roll of ‘Antique
lace’ and wallpaper sample book, textile / paper / card /
plastic / metal, designed by Catherine Martin, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, made by Mokum Textiles,
New Zealand, 2012. Gift of Catherine Martin under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018.
2019/69/5
Clothing ensemble, comprising dress and coat, wool /
silk / synthetic fibre / plastic / metal, designed and made
by Prada, Milan, Italy, worn by Catherine Martin to her
induction at the Rodeo Drive Walk of Style awards,
Beverley Hills, California, United States of America, 2014.
Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/6
Cocktail dress, ‘Mirabella’, polyester / viscose / nylon /
silk / spandex, designed and made by Collette Dinnigan,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, Spring / Summer
2012, worn by Catherine Martin to accept The Fashion
Wizard Award at the Glamour Women of the Year Awards,
United Kingdom, 2013. Gift of Catherine Martin under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018.
2019/69/7
Jacket, womens, silk / viscose /elastane / shell / metal,
designed and made by Kit Willow, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, made in India, date unknown, worn by
Catherine Martin, date unknown. Gift of Catherine Martin
under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program,
2018. 2019/69/8
Dress, womens, from ‘Dream On’ collection, silk / metal,
designed and made by Romance was Born, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, February 2014, worn by
Catherine Martin at the Strictly Ballroom stage show
premiere, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, April 2014.
Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/9
Ensemble, comprising dress and jacket, silk / metal,
designed and made by Romance Was Born, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, Spring 2013 / Summer 2014,
worn by Catherine Martin at Faena Hotel, Miami, Florida,
United States of America, January 2014. Gift of Catherine
Martin under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
Program, 2018. 2019/69/10

Evening dress, womens, silk / leather / metal, designed
and made by Catherine Martin, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, worn by Catherine Martin to 2009
Academy Awards Ceremony, Los Angeles, California,
United States of America, 2009. Gift of Catherine Martin
under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program,
2018. 2019/69/11
Coat, womens, polyester / silk / viscose / metal, designed
and made by Prada, Italy, Spring / Summer, 2013, worn by
Catherine Martin, 2013. Gift of Catherine Martin under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018.
2019/69/12
Coat, womens, silk / metal, designed and made by Prada,
Italy, Spring / Summer, 2013, worn by Catherine Martin to
the Tiffany and Co Great Gatsby Dinner, Sydney, New
South Wales, Australia, 2013. Gift of Catherine Martin
under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program,
2018. 2019/69/13
Ensemble, comprising top and skirt, womens, cotton /
spandex / silk / plastic / metal, designed and made by
Romance Was Born, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia,
‘Dream On’ collection, February 2014, worn by Catherine
Martin in the video ‘Behind the Scenes: Women of Style
Winners, 2014. Gift of Catherine Martin under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018.
2019/69/14
Ensemble, comprising top, skirt and sandals (pair),
womens, silk crepe / silk / beads / leather / wool / rubber,
top and skirt designed and made by Romance was Born,
Sydney, Australia, Spring / Summer, 2013/2014, and
sandals designed and made by Prada, Italy, Spring /
Summer, 2013, worn by Catherine Martin when being
interviewed about Australian fashion designer Orry-Kelly
in Gillian Armstrong’s film ‘Women He’s Undressed’, 2015.
Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/15
Ensemble, womens, comprising top and sleeves,
polyamide / silk / wool / elastane / plastic, designed and
made by Willow, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia,
fabric made in China and Italy, hand beaded in India, worn
by Catherine Martin, date unknown. Gift of Catherine
Martin under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
Program, 2018. 2019/69/16
Ensemble, comprising top, blouse, pants and jacket,
womens, silk / cotton / metal / plastic / glass, designed
and made by Romance Was Born, Sydney, Australia,
Spring/Summer 2013/2014, worn by Catherine Martin.
Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/17
Shoes (pair), womens, leather / metal / glass / plastic /
rubber, made by Prada, Milan, Italy, 2012, worn by
Catherine Martin. Gift of Catherine Martin under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018.
2019/69/18

Shoes (pair), womens, silk / leather / rubber / glass /
plastic / metal, designed and made by Prada, Milan, Italy,
2012, worn by Catherine Martin to the New York City ‘The
Great Gatsby’ Premiere, 2013. Gift of Catherine Martin
under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program,
2018. 2019/69/20
Shoes (pair), womens, leather / cotton / metal, designed
and made by Prada, Milan, Italy, worn by Catherine
Martin, date unknown. Gift of Catherine Martin under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018.
2019/69/21
Platform thongs (pair), womens, leather / rubber, made by
Prada, Milan, Italy, worn by Catherine Martin, date
unknown. Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/22
Mules (pair), womens, leather / petersham / textile,
designed and made by Prada, Milan, Italy, worn by
Catherine Martin, date unknown. Gift of Catherine Martin
under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program,
2018. 2019/69/23
Sandals (pair), womens, silk / leather / plastic / glass /
metal, designed and made by Prada, Milan, Italy, worn by
Catherine Martin, date unknown. Gift of Catherine Martin
under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program,
2018. 2019/69/24
Sandals (pair), womens, leather / rubber / metal, designed
by Catherine Martin, made by RM Williams, Australia, c.
2008. Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/25
Sandals (pair), womens, leather / silk / metal / glass /
turquoise / rubber, designed and made by Dolce and
Gabbana, Italy, worn by Catherine Martin, date unknown.
Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/26
Evening cheongsam, womens, silk organza / cotton,
designed by Catherine Martin, made by Cheryl Pike,
Sydney, Australia, worn by Nicole Kidman in the film,
‘Australia’, Darwin, Northern Territory, Australia, 2007. Gift
of Catherine Martin under the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/27
Ensemble, womens, comprising ‘Eucalyptus Home
coming’ dress and sandals (pair), womens, digital print on
wool crepe and leather, dress and digital print designed by
Catherine Martin, printed by Think Positive and made by
Cheryl Pike, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2007,
shoes, suede / raffia / leather / elastic, designed and
made by Salvatore Ferragamo, Florence, Italy, c. 2007
worn by Nicole Kidman in the movie ‘Australia’, 2007. Gift
of Catherine Martin under the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/28

Shoes (pair), womens, leather / rubber / metal, made by
Prada, Milan, Italy, 2012, worn by Catherine Martin. Gift of
Catherine Martin under the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/19
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Ensemble, womens, comprising Boab Christmas dress
with belt and shoes (pair), digital print on wool crepe / silk
/ kid skin / suede, digital print and dress designed by
Catherine Martin, printed by Think positive and made by
Cheryl Pike, belt designed by Catherine Martin and made
by Cheryl Rounsefeld, (shoes) leather / elastic / metal /
rubber, designed and made by Ferragamo, Florence, Italy,
c. 2007, worn by Nicole Kidman on the film, ‘Australia’, at
‘Faraway Downs during the Christmas dinner under the
Boab tree’ scene, Northern Territory, Australia, 2007. Gift
of Catherine Martin under the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/29
Ensemble, womens, comprising day cheongsam and belt,
digital print on linen / silk / leather / bakelite plastic,
digital print and dress designed by Catherine Martin,
Sydney New South Wales, Australia, 2007 printed by
Think Positive, Redfern, New South Wales, Australia, 2007,
dress made by Cheryl Pike, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 2007, belt made by Cheryl Rounsefeld, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, 2007 and worn by Nicole
Kidman in the film, ‘Australia’ 2008 at ‘the back of the pub
when she is trying to convince the Drover to be manager
of Faraway Downs’ scene, Northern Territory, Australia,
2007. Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/30
Film costume, ‘Green fairy’, comprising leotard and wings,
sequins / silk satin / chiffon, designed and made by
Catherine Martin, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia,
worn by Kylie Minogue in ‘Moulin Rouge!’, 1999–2000.
Gift of Catherine Martin under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program, 2018. 2019/69/31
Dress, womens, from the ‘Mysteria Wisteria’ collection
2016, cotton / synthetic fabric / plastic / glass / metal,
designed by Romance Was Born, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, worn by Catherine Martin, Metropolitan
Museum of Art, New York City, New York, United States
of America, 2016. Donated through the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Catherine Martin,
2018. 2019/70/1
Shoes (pair), womens, leather / metal, made and
designed by Prada, Milan, Italy, worn by Catherine Martin,
2015–2016. Donated through the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program by Catherine Martin, 2018.
2019/70/2
Shoes (pair), womens, leather/ metal, made and designed
by Miu Miu, Milan, Italy, worn by Catherine Martin, c.
2016. Donated through the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program by Catherine Martin, 2018.
2019/70/3
Shoes (pair), womens, leather suede / plastic / metal,
made and designed by Prada, Milan, Italy, worn by
Catherine Martin, c. 2014. Donated through the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Catherine Martin,
2018. 2019/70/4
Shoes (pair), womens, leather / metal, made and designed
by Miu Miu, Italy, worn by Catherine Martin, c. 2016.
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural
Gifts Program by Catherine Martin, 2018. 2019/70/5
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Boots (pair), leather, designed and worn by Catherine
Martin, made by RM Williams, Australia, 2008. Donated
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
Program by Catherine Martin, 2018. 2019/70/6
Film costume, wings and sandals (pair), for ‘Juliet’, played
by Claire Danes in the film ‘Romeo + Juliet’, feathers /
leather, designed by Catherine Martin / Kym Barrett,
sandals by Manolo Blahnik, Australia / Italy, 1995–1996.
Donated through the Australian Government’s Cultural
Gifts Program by Bazmark Inq., 2018. 2019/71/1
Film costume, mens, top, choker, gun holster and shoes,
synthetic fabrics / leather, worn by the character Mercutio
played by Harold Perrineau in the film ‘Romeo + Juliet’,
designed by Catherine Martin / Kym Barrett, Australia,
1995–1996. Donated through the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program by Bazmark Inq., 2018. 2019/71/2
Collection of costume jewellery (9), gun holster and belt,
worn by various cast members in the Bazmark film ‘Romeo
+ Juliet’, silver / leather / metal, production by Catherine
Martin / Kym Barrett, Australia, 1995–1996. Donated
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
Program by Bazmark Inq., 2018. 2019/71/3
Shoes (pair) and belt, womens, designed and made by
Ferragamo / Catherine Martin, Italy / Australia, worn by
the character of Lady Sarah Ashley, played by Nicole
Kidman in ‘Australia’, 2008. Donated through the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by
Bazmark Inq., 2018. 2019/71/4
Shoes (pair) and belt, leather / suede / metal, designed
and made by Ferragamo / Catherine Martin, Italy, worn by
the character of Lady Sarah Ashley, played by Nicole
Kidman in the Bazmark film ‘Australia’, 2008 Donated
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
Program by Bazmark Inq., 2018. 2019/71/5
Bazmark Inq. design and production archive created by
Catherine Martin and Baz Luhrmann consisting primarily
of research material, costume illustrations, production
notes and photography relating to Bazmark productions
‘Strictly Ballroom’, ‘Moulin Rouge!’, ‘Romeo + Juliet’,
‘Australia’ and ‘The Great Gatsby’, 1991–2013. Donated
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
Program by Bazmark Inq., 2018. 2019/72/1
Outfit, ‘Humane Palace’, comprising top and skirt,
womens, silk / viscose, made by Manavi Creations,
Kolkata, India for KITX, designed by Kit Willow for KITX,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2017. Purchased with
funds from The Australian Fashion Fund, 2019. 2019/73/1
Artwork, ‘Yilaalu Cont’, ceramic / porcelain, designed and
made by Lucy Simpson, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 2016. Purchased with funds from the MAAS
Foundation, 2019. 2019/74/1
3D printed model and mould (2), plastic / plaster /
ceramic, designed and made by Lucy Simpson, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, 2016. Purchased with funds
from the MAAS Foundation, 2019. 2019/74/2
Echidna quill necklace, grass / echidna quills, made by
Lucy Simpson, Sydney, Australia, 2016. Purchased with
funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2019. 2019/74/3

Wedding dress, mosquito net / metal, custom made in
Australia, worn by Bernadette Burns on her marriage to
Adrian Louis d’Hage, Neutral Bay, New South Wales,
Australia, 1945. Gift of Julie Smiles, 2019. 2019/75/1
Photograph, black and white print, paper, related to the
marriage of Bernadette Burns and Adrian Louis d’Hage,
photographer unknown, Neutral Bay, New South Wales,
Australia, 1945. Gift of Julie Smiles, 2019. 2019/75/2
Artwork, ‘Thap yongk’, natural earth pigments on wood,
by Mr Ngallametta Snr, Aurukun, Queensland, Australia,
2004. Purchased with funds donated through the annual
appeal and from the MAAS Foundation, 2019. 2019/76/1
Artwork, ‘A Woman’s Rite of Passage’, comprising cloaks
(3) and display supports, jute / emu feathers / possum skin
/ mussel shell / beads / wool / velvet / coin / silver chain /
beads / mirror / plastic, Glenda Nicholls, Victoria, 2015.
Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2019.
2019/77/1
Artwork, ‘Otchocut’, jute, Glenda Nicholls, Australia, 2019.
Purchased with funds from the MAAS Foundation, 2019.
2019/77/2
Qantas flight attendant uniforms, ‘Wirriyarra’ in Dusk,
womens, leather / fabric / metal, designed by Peter
Morrissey at Balarinji Design Studio, for Qantas Airways,
Crows Nest, New South Wales, Australia, 2003, made by
Dowd Corporation of Victoria, 2008–2013. Gift of Qantas,
2019. 2019/78/1
Qantas flight attendant uniforms, ‘Wirriyarra’ in Dusk,
mens, leather / fabric / metal, designed by Peter
Morrissey at Balarinji Design Studio, for Qantas Airways,
Crows Nest, New South Wales, Australia, 2003, made by
Dowd Corporation of Victoria, 2008–2013. Gift of Qantas,
2019. 2019/78/2
Barbie STEM Kit, plastic / fabric / paper, made by Thames
& Kosmos for Mattel, Providence, Rhode Island, United
States of America, 2016. MAAS collection, 2019. 2019/79/1
Drum and case, floor-tom, 16 inch Dandy ‘Super Serie’,
wood / metal / plastic, made by Drouyn and Drouyn
Instrument Makers, Brisbane, Queensland, distributed by
Suttons Pty Ltd, Melbourne, Victoria, used by Peter Hood
to write and perform the song ‘Bombora’ by The Atlantics,
Australia, 1960. Gift of Peter Hood, 2019. 2019/80/1
Computer chips, test board, used in the development of
WiFi technology, plastic / metal / electronic components,
designed and manufactured by Radiata, Australia and
United States of America, 2000–2002. Gift of David
Goodall, 2019. 2019/81/1
Embroidered hanging or oi palyak, cotton / silk, Tashkent,
Uzbekistan, late 1800s. Donated through the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Michelle Butler,
2019. 2019/82/1

Installation, ‘Dresses for Soulaf’, comprising wedding
dresses (8), commissioned by Ben Quilty and designed
and made by Raghda Alwari, for short film ‘The Dress’
directed by Ben Quilty and Ralph Baydoun, scripted by
Kylie Needham, life jacket artwork ‘Eye’ made by Ben
Quilty with assistance from ‘The Dirty Girls’ and UNHCR
blankets (45), all elements produced with assistance from
World Vision International, Lebanon / Greece / Australia,
2016. Donated through the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts Program by Ben Quilty, 2018. 2019/83/1
Model of the Antikythera mechanism; brass / perspex /
paper, designed by Allan Bromley, made by Allan Bromley
and Frank Percival, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia,
1985–1989. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan
Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
program 2017. 2019/84/1
Trial pieces (2) and boxes (2) of spare parts for the
Antikythera mechanism model, brass, designed by Allan
Bromley, made by Allan Bromley and Frank Percival,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1985–1989. Gift of
Anne Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017.
2019/84/2
Decorative weaving, depicting Joseph Marie Jacquard,
silk, designed by Michel-Marie Carquillat, France, 1839,
made by Maschinenfabrik Ruti, Switzerland, c. 1845. Gift
of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017.
2019/84/3
Book, ‘Nelson’s Reconstructive Surgery’ with stereoscopic
plates, paper / cardboard / leather / metal, written by Dr
Ferris N Smith, published T Nelson and Sons, Chicago,
Illinois, United States of America, 1928. Gift of Anne
Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017. 2019/84/4
Book, ‘Factor Tables for the First Ten Millions’, paper /
cardboard, compiled by Derrick Norman Lehmer,
Published by Hafner Publishing Company, New York, New
York, United States of America, 1956. Gift of Anne
Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017. 2019/84/5
Book, ‘The Logical Basis of High Speed Computer Design’,
paper, written by Trevor Pearcey and Maston Beard,
owned and annotated by Trevor Pearcey, published by the
Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, Sydney, New
South Wales, Australia, 1948. Gift of Anne Bromley in
memory of Allan Bromley under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017. 2019/84/6
Book, ‘Tables of the Products and Powers of Numbers’,
paper / card / leather, produced by Charles Hutton, by
William Richardson at the Strand, London, England, 1781.
Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under
the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017.
2019/84/7
Barrel gauging rule, wood / brass, produced by PLA
Farrow and Jackson, location of production unknown,
19th century. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan
Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
program 2017. 2019/84/8
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Barrel gauging rule, wood / brass, designed and
manufactured by Dring and Fage, location of production
unknown, 19th century. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory
of Allan Bromley under the Australian Government’s
Cultural Gifts program 2017. 2019/84/9
Meccano model of Jacquard loom, metal / card / string,
possibly made by Allan Bromley from standard Meccano
kit, c. 1960. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan
Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
program 2017. 2019/84/10
Camera rangefinder, ‘Balda Distanzer D.R.G.M.’ metal /
glass, made by Balda, Germany, after 1950. Gift of Anne
Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under the Australian
Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017. 2019/84/11
Wheatstone type stereoscope, mirror system, metal /
glass, maker unknown, place of production unknown,
date unknown. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan
Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
program 2017. 2019/84/12
Game, ‘WFF ‘N Proof: the Game of Modern Logic’, paper /
cardboard / plastic, designed by Layman E Allen, Yale
University, New Haven, Connecticut, United States of
America, 1961. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan
Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
program 2017. 2019/84/13
Meccano model, Steam Excavator SML 19a, metal, maker
unknown, kit produced by Meccano, England, c. 1930.
Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under
the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017.
2019/84/14

Book, ‘The Mechanical Engineer’s Reference Book for
Machine and Boiler Construction’, paper, written by
Nelson Foley, published by Crosby Lockwood and Son,
London, England, 1891. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of
Allan Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural
Gifts program 2017. 2019/84/20
Stereometer, parallax bar in a wooden case, metal / wood
/ felt, made by Esdaile and Sons, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, 1942. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of
Allan Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural
Gifts program 2017. 2019/84/21
Signalling light, Admiralty Pattern no.1038 wood /metal /
glass, manufactured by Harry Crabb, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, 1942. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of
Allan Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural
Gifts program 2017. 2019/84/22
Artillery plotting board, wood /paper /metal / canvas,
maker unknown, place of production unknown, mid 20th
century. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley
under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts program
2017. 2019/84/23
Artillery plotting boards with maps (3), wood /paper /
metal, maker unknown, England, mid 20th century. Gift of
Anne Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017.
2019/84/24
Figure, ‘Bush Multicreature’, various materials, designed
and made by Jenny Orchard, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 2019. Acquired with funds from the Barry
Willoughby Bequest, 2019. 2019/85/1

Calipers, for measuring barrels, wood / brass, maker
unknown, place of production unknown 19th century. Gift
of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017.
2019/84/15

Figure, ‘Kudu Catwalker’, glazed earthenware / ﬁbre,
designed and made by Jenny Orchard, Sydney, New
South Wales, Australia, 2018. Donated through the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts Program by Jenny
Orchard, 2020. 2019/86/1

Barrel calipers, metal, Dring & Fage, London, England,
date unknown, Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan
Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
program 2017. 2019/84/16

Third Class Passengers’ Contract Ticket No.378 and
souvenir booklet, ‘Sports and Amusements Souvenir What
I Did in the Great War R.M.S. ‘Orsova’ England to Australia
April-May 1920’, for Orient Line steam ship ‘Orsova’ from
Port of London (Tilbury) to Sydney to depart 3 April ,
paper, ticket issued by Thomas Cook & Son, Bradford,
England, 25 March 1920, booklet printed by F. Werth,
ship’s printer, Great Britain, 1920, ticket and booklet used
by Mr and Mrs John J.R. North and son. Gift of Eric D.
North, 2018. 2019/87/1

Meccano mechanical gear train, metal, designed and
assembled by Allan Bromley, parts made by Meccano,
England, date unknown, some gear wheels made by Allan
Bromley and Frank Percival, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 1985–1990. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of
Allan Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural
Gifts program 2017. 2019/84/17
Book, ‘14000 Gear Ratios’, compiled by Ray M Page
published by Industrial Press, Connecticut, United States
of America, 1961. Gift of Anne Bromley in memory of Allan
Bromley under the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
program 2017. 2019/84/18
Booklet, ‘Liste des nombres premiers du onzieme million’,
paper; from the handwritten table by J Ph Kulik, L Poletti
and R J Porter, Amsterdam, Netherlands, 1951. Gift of
Anne Bromley in memory of Allan Bromley under the
Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts program 2017.
2019/84/19
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Installation, ‘A People’s Choir’, comprising powder coated
aluminium rings (3), custom speaker array, recording
booth, audio software, lighting, various materials,
designed and made by Lawrence English / Studio Plus
Three, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2017. Donated
through the Australian Government’s Cultural Gifts
Program by Lawrence English, 2019. 2019/88/1
Electrical conduit (DC), ‘Edison Street Tube’, 2-core tube,
with joining boxes attached, sectioned into four lengths,
cast iron /copper / asphaltum, designed by Thomas
Edison and made by Edison Co in New York, United States
of America, c. 1881, installed in William Street, Brisbane,
Queensland, Australia, 1884, recovered February 2018 as
part of the Queen’s Wharf Brisbane redevelopment. Gift of
Energex Ltd, 2018. 2019/89/1

Electrical conduit (DC), ‘Edison Street Tube’, 3-core tube,
with joining boxes attached, sectioned into four lengths,
cast iron / copper / asphaltum, designed by Thomas
Edison and made by Edison Co in New York, United States
of America, c. 1883, installed in William Street, Brisbane,
Queensland, Australia, 1892, recovered February 2018 as
part of the Queen’s Wharf Brisbane redevelopment. Gift of
Energex Ltd, 2018. 2019/89/2
Electrical conduit (DC), ‘Edison Street Tube’, short samples
of 2-core and 3-core tube, with 2-core and 3-core joining
boxes, cast iron / copper / asphaltum, designed by
Thomas Edison and made by Edison Co in New York,
United States of America, c. 1883, installed in William
Street, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia, 1884–1892,
recovered early 2018 as part of the Queen’s Wharf
Brisbane redevelopment. Gift of Energex Ltd, 2018.
2019/89/3
Test boards (9), used in the development of WiFi
technology, plastic / metal / electronic components,
designed and manufactured by Web Gear and Radiata,
United States of America / Australia, 2000–2002. Gift of
Neil Weste, 2019. 2019/90/1
Evening dress, womens, machine-embroidered, synthetic
organdie / silk satin, designed and made by Beril Jents,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, worn by Fayette
Lundgren, 1952. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of
her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/1
Evening dress, womens, nylon net / nylon lace, designed
and made by Beril Jents, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 1959, worn by Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette
Lundgren in memory of her mother Madeleine Hayek,
2019. 2019/91/2
Court shoes, womens, suede / leather, Fragiacomo, Milan
/ Rome, Italy, 1959, worn by Fayette Lundgren, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, 1960 Gift of Fayette
Lundgren in memory of her mother Madeleine Hayek,
2019. 2019/91/3
Evening dress, womens, silk brocade / silk taffeta / silk
velvet, designed and made by Beril Jents, Sydney, New
South Wales, Australia, 1959, worn by Fayette Lundgren.
Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of her mother
Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/4
Dress and jacket, womens, silk / mohair, custom-designed
and made by Beril Jents for Fayette Lundgren as her going
away outfit, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1962.
Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of her mother
Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/5
Evening dress, womens, organza / lace, designed and
made by Beril Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia,
1960, worn by Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren
in memory of her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019.
2019/91/6
Evening dress, womens, chiffon, designed and made by
Beril Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1962,
worn by Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in
memory of her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/7
Dress, womens, silk, designed and made by Beril Jents,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1964, worn by
Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of
her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/8

Dress, womens, chiffon, designed and made by Beril
Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1964, worn by
Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of
her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/9
Petticoat, womens, nylon / silk, designed and made by
Beril Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1958,
worn by Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in
memory of her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/10
Evening dress, womens, silk / glass beads, designed and
made by Beril Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia,
1958, worn by Madeleine Hayek. Gift of Fayette Lundgren
in memory of her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019.
2019/91/11
Suit, womens, wool / cashmere / fur, designed and made
by Beril Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1955,
worn by Madeleine Hayek. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in
memory of her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/12
Suit, womens, wool, designed and made by Beril Jents,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1958, worn by
Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of
her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/13
Suit, womens, wool, designed and made by Beril Jents,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1960, worn by
Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of
her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/14
Dress and jacket, womens, wool / silk, designed and made
by Beril Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, late
1950s, worn by Madeleine Hayek. Gift of Fayette
Lundgren in memory of her mother Madeleine Hayek,
2019. 2019/91/15
Suit, three-piece, womens, designed and made by Beril
Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1962, worn by
Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of
her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/16
Suit, womens, linen / silk, designed and made by Beril
Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1963, worn by
Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of
her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/17
Coat, womens, mohair, designed and made by Beril Jents,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1955, worn by
Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of
her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/18
Wedding dress, womens, silk, designed and made by Beril
Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1962, worn by
Fayette Lundgren on her wedding day. Gift of Fayette
Lundgren in memory of her mother Madeleine Hayek,
2019. 2019/91/19
Evening coat, womens, silk, designed and made by Beril
Jents, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1970, worn by
Fayette Lundgren. Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of
her mother Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/20
Evening shoes, womens, made by Creazon V Buzo, Rome
Italy, date unknown, worn by Fayette Lundgren, 1950s.
Gift of Fayette Lundgren in memory of her mother
Madeleine Hayek, 2019. 2019/91/21
Apron, womens, silk satin with silk embroidery / silk cord
/ glass, maker unknown, made in Great Britain, 1860–1875.
Gift of Alison Muir, 2019. 2019/92/1
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Child Personal Health Record (CPHR), ‘Blue Book’, plastic
/ paper / cardboard / metal, made by NSW Ministry of
Health, Australia, owned and used by Erika Taylor, Lennox
Head, New South Wales, Australia, 2015–2017. Gift of
Erika Taylor, 2019. 2019/93/1
Planimeter, in case, metal / wood / textile / paper /
plastic, made by Maho, Pfronten, Germany, about 1930.
MAAS Collection, 2019. 2019/94/1
Swimsuit, womens, comprising swim dress and swim
legging, Modesty range, nylon / elastane, designed by
Speedo, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in
China, 2017. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/95/1

Swimsuit, mens, LZR Racer Elite 2 High waisted Jammer,
nylon (polyamide) / elastane, designed by Speedo
Aqualab for the Gold Coast XXI Commonwealth Games
Australian Swim Team, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, made in Portugal, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific,
2019. 2019/96/8
Swimsuit, womens, LZR Racer Elite 2 Open back Fastskin,
nylon (polyamide) / elastane, designed by Speedo
Aqualab for the Gold Coast XXI Commonwealth Games
Australian Swim Team, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, made in Portugal, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific,
2019. 2019/96/9

Swimsuit, womens, comprising swim tunic and swim pant,
Modesty range, nylon / elastane, designed by Speedo,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2017.
Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/95/2

Swim cap, unisex, moulded silicone, designed and made
by Speedo Australia for the Gold Coast XXI
Commonwealth Games Australian Swim Team, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific,
2019. 2019/96/10

Swim hood, womens, Speedo Modesty range, nylon /
elastane, designed by Speedo, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, made in China, 2017. Gift of Speedo Pacific,
2019. 2019/95/3

Packaging (2), Speedo Aqualab, plastic, designed and
made by Speedo, Nottingham, United Kingdom, 2017–18.
Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/96/11

Swimsuit, mens, training brief, nylon, designed by Speedo
for the Gold Coast XXI Commonwealth Games Australian
Swim Team, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in
China, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/96/1
Swimsuit, mens, 8cm training brief, Implode print,
ENDURANCE 10, nylon (polyamide) / elastane / polyester,
designed by Speedo for the Gold Coast XXI
Commonwealth Games Australian Swim Team, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of
Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/96/2
Swimsuit, mens, 5cm diving training brief, Implode print,
ENDURANCE 10, nylon (polyamide) / elastane / polyester,
designed by Speedo for the Gold Coast XXI
Commonwealth Games Australian Swim Team, Sydney
New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of
Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/96/3
Swimsuit, womens, training suit, Implode print,
ENDURANCE 10, nylon (polyamide) / elastane / polyester,
designed by Speedo for the Gold Coast XXI
Commonwealth Games Australian Swim Team, Sydney
New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of
Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/96/4
Swimsuit, womens, diving suit, Implode print,
ENDURANCE 10, nylon (polyamide) / elastane / polyester,
designed by Speedo for the Gold Coast XXI
Commonwealth Games Australian Swim Team, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of
Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/96/5
Swimsuit, mens, LZR Racer X High waisted Jammer, nylon
(polyamide) / elastane, designed by Speedo Aqualab for
the Gold Coast XXI Commonwealth Games Australian
Swim Team, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in
Portugal, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/96/6
Swimsuit, womens, LZR Racer X Open back Fastskin,
nylon (polyamide) / elastane, designed by Speedo
Aqualab for the Gold Coast XXI Commonwealth Games
Australian Swim Team, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, made in Portugal, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific,
2019. 2019/96/7
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Swimsuit with tags, mens, ‘Archive 60s’, polyester / card,
designed by Speedo for the Archive Collection, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2017. Gift of
Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/1
Board shorts with tags, mens, ‘70’s Watershort’, High
Summer 2017, polyester / metal / card, designed by
Speedo for the Archive Collection, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, made in China, 2017. Gift of Speedo
Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/2
Board shorts with tags, mens, ‘80’s Watershort’, High
Summer 2017, polyester / metal / card, designed by
Speedo for the Archive Collection, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, made in China, 2017. Gift of Speedo
Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/3
Board shorts with tags, mens, ‘90’s Watershort’,
Swimwear Summer 2017, polyester / card, designed by
Speedo for the Archive Collection, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, made in Vietnam, 2016. Gift of Speedo
Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/4
Swimsuit with tags, womens, comprising balconette top
and pants, ‘Archive 60’s’, polyester / nylon / elastane /
plastic / card, designed by Speedo for the Archive
Collection, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in
China, 2017. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/5
Swimsuit with tags, womens, ‘Archive 70’s Splice
one-piece’, polyester / card, designed by Speedo for the
Archive Collection, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia,
made in China, 2017. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019.
2019/97/6
Swimsuit with tags, womens, ‘Archive 80’s one-piece’,
polyester / card, designed by Speedo for the Archive
Collection, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in
China, 2017. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/7
Swimsuit with tags, womens, ‘Archive 90’s one-piece’,
polyester / card, designed by Speedo for the Archive
Collection, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in
China, 2017. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/8

Swimsuit with tags, womens, comprising top and pant,
‘Archive 2000’s’, polyester / card, designed by Speedo for
the Archive Collection, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, made in China, 2017. Gift of Speedo Pacific,
2019. 2019/97/9
Board shorts with tags, mens, ‘60’s Makaha Watershort’,
High Summer 2018, polyester taslon / paper, designed by
Speedo for the Archive Collection, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of Speedo
Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/10
Board shorts with tags, mens, ‘70’s Sand piper
Watershort’, Swimwear Summer 2018, polyester taslon /
metal / card, designed by Speedo for the Archive
Collection, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in
China, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/11
Board shorts with tags, mens, ‘70’s Surf Rider Watershort’,
Swimwear Summer, polyester taslon / metal / card,
designed by Speedo for the Archive Collection, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of
Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/12
Board shorts with tags, mens, ‘80’s Jungle Leaf
Watershort’, High Summer 2018, polyester / cotton /
elastane / card, designed by Speedo for the Archive
Collection, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in
China, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/13
Board shorts with tags, mens, ‘80’s Pier 49 Watershort’,
High Summer 2018, polyester / cotton / elastane / card,
designed by Speedo for the Archive Collection, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of
Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/14
Board shorts with tag, mens, ‘90’s Letterman Watershort’,
polyester taslon / card, designed by Speedo as a sample
for the Archive Collection, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, made by MZ Garment Co, Xiamen, China, 2018.
Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/15
Board shorts with tags, mens, ‘90’s Letterman Watershort’,
Swimwear Summer 2018, polyester taslon / card,
designed by Speedo as a sample for the Archive
Collection, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made by
MZ Garment Co, Xiamen, China, 2018. Gift of Speedo
Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/16
Swimsuit with tags, womens, comprising Balconette top
and pant, ‘60s Makaha’, polyester / nylon / elastane /
plastic / paper, designed by Speedo for the Archive
Collection, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in
China, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/17
Swimsuit with tags, womens, super back one piece, ‘70’s
Beautiful Blue/Stars ‘N’ Stripes’, polyester / paper,
designed by Speedo for the Archive Collection, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of
Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/18
Swimsuit, womens, bound cross back one piece, ‘70’s USA
Red/Primary Stars’, polyester / paper, designed by Speedo
for the Archive Collection, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific,
2019. 2019/97/19

Swimsuit, womens, Racer one piece, ‘80’s Jungle Leaf’,
polyester, designed by Speedo for the Archive Collection,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018.
Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/20
Swimsuit with tags, womens, ‘90’s Logo’, polyester / PVC
/ paper, designed by Speedo for the Archive Collection,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018.
Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/21
Swimsuit, womens, ‘90’s Logo’, polyester / PVC, designed
by Speedo for the Archive Collection, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, made in China, 2018. Gift of Speedo
Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/22
Catalogue, ‘Speedo Swimwear High Summer & Winter
2018’, paper / metal, designed and made by Speedo,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2018. Gift of Speedo
Pacific, 2019. 2019/97/23
Catalogue, ‘Speedo Swimwear Summer 2018’, paper /
metal, designed and made by Speedo, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, 2018. Gift of Speedo Pacific, 2019.
2019/97/24
Waistcoat, mens, silk / cotton, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, c. 1860, owned by the D’Arcy family of
Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/1
Riding waistcoat, womens, silk / leather, maker unknown,
possibly made in Ireland, c. 1888, owned by the D’Arcy
family of Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane
D’Arcy in memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy
(1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/2
Waistcoat, mens, silk, maker unknown, possibly made in
Ireland, c. 1835–1860, owned by the D’Arcy family of
Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/3
Waistcoat, mens, silk / velvet, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, 1850–1865, owned by the D’Arcy family of
Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/4
Waistcoat, mens, silk / velvet, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, c. 1870, owned by the D’Arcy family of
Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/5
Waistcoat, mens, silk, maker unknown, possibly made in
Ireland, c. 1890, owned by the D’Arcy family of Dublin and
Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her
husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/6
Evening coat, womens, silk, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, c. 1925, owned by Mrs Noel D’Arcy née
Wakefield. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her husband
Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/7
Capelet, womens, silk, maker unknown, possibly made in
Ireland, c. 1860, owned by the D’Arcy family of Dublin and
Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her
husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/8
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Court suit, mens, wool / linen / metal, maker unknown,
possibly made in Ireland, c. 1820, owned by the D’Arcy
family of Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland, Gift of Jane
D’Arcy in memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy
(1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/9
Waistcoat, mens, wool / silk, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, c. 1880, owned by the D’Arcy family of
Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/10
Tailcoat, mens, wool / silk, made by G Sykes & Son,
Dublin, Ireland, c. 1850, owned by the D’Arcy family of
Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/11
Evening dress, womens, silk, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, c. 1847, owned by the D’Arcy family of
Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/12
Afternoon dress, comprised of two bodices and a skirt,
womens, silk / metal, maker unknown, possibly made in
Ireland, c. 1856, owned by the D’Arcy family of Dublin and
Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her
husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/13
Evening dress, womens, comprised of a separate bodice
and skirt, silk, maker unknown, possibly made in Ireland,
c. 1842, owned by the D’Arcy family of Dublin and
Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her
husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/14
Afternoon dress, comprised of a bodice and skirt,
womens, silk, maker unknown, possibly made in Ireland,
c. 1860, owned by the D’Arcy family of Dublin and
Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her
husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/15
Dress, womens, silk, maker unknown, possibly made in
Ireland, c. 1815, owned by the D’Arcy family of Dublin and
Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her
husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/16
Petticoat, womens, cotton, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, 1860s, owned by the D’Arcy family of
Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/17
Petticoat, womens, cotton, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, late 19th century, owned by the D’Arcy
family of Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane
D’Arcy in memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy
(1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/18
Underbodice, womens, cotton, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, late 19th century, owned by the D’Arcy
family of Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane
D’Arcy in memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy
(1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/19
Drawers, womens, cotton, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, late 19th century, owned by the D’Arcy
family of Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane
D’Arcy in memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy
(1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/20
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Drawers, womens, cotton, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, c. 1910. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of
her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/21
Blouse, womens, cotton muslin, owned by the D’Arcy
family of Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland, maker unknown,
possibly made in Ireland, c. 1910, owned by the D’Arcy
family of Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane
D’Arcy in memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy
(1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/22
Shawl, womens, cotton voile, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, c. 1910, owned by the D’Arcy family of
Dublin and Westmeath, Ireland. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/23
Dress, girls, cotton voile, maker unknown, possibly made
in England, 1928–1929, owned by Jane D’Arcy nee
Battershill. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her husband
Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/24
Dress, girls, cotton voile, maker unknown, possibly made
in England, 1928–1929, owned by Jane D’Arcy nee
Battershill. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her husband
Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/25
Wedding dress, womens, silk / metallic thread, made by
Sheba, London, England, worn by Joan Gellibrand to her
marriage to W D Battershill on 21 October 1924. Gift of
Jane D’Arcy in memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy
(1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/26
Evening dress, silk / metallic thread, maker unknown,
Palestine, 1939, worn by Joan Battershill. Gift of Jane
D’Arcy in memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy
(1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/27
Purse, silk / metallic thread, maker unknown, worn by
Joan Battershill, Palestine / Israel, 1951. Gift of Jane D’Arcy
in memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013),
2019. 2019/98/28
Petticoat, womens, cotton, maker unknown, possibly
made in Ireland, late 19th century, owned by the D’Arcy
family of Dublin and Westmeath. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in
memory of her husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019.
2019/98/29
Dolls house and contents, ‘Trevor Square’, wood / glass /
plaster / paper/ metal / cotton / textile / ceramic / plastic
/ wax, made by Lines Bros under Tri-ang Toys, used by
Georgina Brady London, England, c. 1925, used by
Georgina Brady. Gift of Jane D’Arcy in memory of her
husband Michael D’Arcy (1922–2013), 2019. 2019/98/30
Model, concept development, timber / twine, designed
and made by Leslie John Wright, Curtin University, Perth,
WA, 1983. Gift of David Walker in memory of Leslie John
Wright, 2019. 2019/99/1
Theatre program booklet, ‘Joseph and the Amazing
Technicolor Dreamcoat’, paper / metal, made by Pan
Enterprises, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, 1972. Gift of
Susan Wann, 2017. 2019/100/1
Program sheet, for the musical ‘Tommy’, paper, made by
Group Media Promotions, Melbourne, Australia, 1973. Gift
of Susan Wann, 2017. 2019/100/2

Booklet, ‘Superstar Blasphemy’, paper / metal, made by
Presbyterian Reformed Church, Adelaide, Australia,
1972–1973. Gift of Susan Wann, 2017. 2019/100/3
Childrens plate, ‘Emigrants to Australia’, slip-cast
earthenware, transfer printed, made by William Davenport
and Company, Longport, Staffordshire, England,
c 1835–1840. Purchased 2019. 2019/101/1
Industrial Robot with accessories, ‘Cincinnati Milacron T3’,
metal / electronic components / paper, made by
Cincinnati Milacron in United States of America, c. 1980,
possibly used at Ford manufacturing facility, Homebush,
New South Wales, Australia, 1980 – 1994. Gift of Philip
Jewell, 2019. 2019/102/1
Photographic print, black and white, silver gelatin, portrait
of designer Shirley Martin and her future husband John de
Vocht, photographed by Hector Brown, Ryde, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, 1947. Gift of Nicolle Drake
and Vaughn de Vocht, 2019. 2019/103/1
Vase, glazed ceramic, designed by Shirley Vocht (nee
Martin), made by Modern Ceramic Products (MCP),
Redfern, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1947–1948.
Gift of Nicolle Drake and Vaughn de Vocht, 2019.
2019/103/2
Vase, glazed ceramic, designed by Shirley de Vocht (nee
Martin), made by Modern Ceramic Products (MCP),
Redfern, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1947–1948.
Gift of Nicolle Drake and Vaughn de Vocht, 2019.
2019/103/3
Dish, boomerang shaped, made by Norman Sherratt /
Diana Pottery, Marrickville, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 1956–1960. Gift of Nicolle Drake and Vaughn de
Vocht, 2019. 2019/103/4
Poster, Vietnam anti-war, ‘Who pays? Who profits?’,
printed paper, Vietnam Moratorium Movement /
Comment Publishing Company, Sydney, Australia, c. 1970.
Purchased 2019. 2019/104/1
Poster, Vietnam anti-war, ‘Stop the War!’, offset printed
paper, Vietnam Moratorium Committee / Comment
Publishing Company, Sydney, Australia, c. 1970. Purchased
2019. 2019/104/2
Poster, ‘Stop the War’, paper, made by Vietnam
Moratorium Movement / Comment Publishing Company,
Australia, 1965–1973. Purchased 2019. 2019/104/3
Poster, paper, made by Vietnam Moratorium Movement /
Comment Publishing Company, Australia, 1965–1973.
Purchased 2019. 2019/104/4
Poster, ‘We Are Them, They Are Us’, paper, artwork by
Martin Sharp, made by Vietnam Moratorium Movement /
Comment Publishing Company, Australia, 1965–1973.
Purchased 2019. 2019/104/5
Poster, ‘Vietnam Moratorium May 8, 9, 10’, paper, made by
Vietnam Moratorium Movement / Comment Publishing
Company, Australia, 1965–1973. Purchased 2019.
2019/104/6
Poster, ‘Or Forever Hold Your Peace’, paper, made by
Vietnam Moratorium Movement / Comment Publishing
Company, Australia, 1965–1973. Purchased 2019.
2019/104/7

Poster, ‘Four out of Five of These Men Chose Their
Career’, paper, artwork by Garry Shead, made by Vietnam
Moratorium Movement / Comment Publishing Company,
Australia, 1965–1973. Purchased 2019. 2019/104/8
Poster, ‘Mora-Torium Action!’, paper, made by Vietnam
Moratorium Movement / Comment Publishing Company,
Australia, 1965–1973. Purchased 2019. 2019/104/9
Poster, ‘Music for a Change’, paper, made by Vietnam
Moratorium Movement / Comment Publishing Company,
Australia, 1965–1973. Purchased 2019. 2019/104/10
Poster, ‘Out Now!’, paper, made by Vietnam Moratorium
Movement / Comment Publishing Company, Australia,
1965–1973. Purchased 2019. 2019/104/11
Poster, ‘Repeal The National Service Act’, paper, made by
Vietnam Moratorium Movement / Comment Publishing
Company, Australia, 1965–1973. Purchased 2019.
2019/104/12
Poster, ‘Vietnam Moratorium logo – Vietnam Moratorium
May 8.9.10’, paper, made by Vietnam Moratorium
Movement / Comment Publishing Company, Australia,
1965–1973. Purchased 2019. 2019/104/13
Poster, ‘Teachers of Conscience’, paper, made by Vietnam
Moratorium Movement / Comment Publishing Company,
Australia, 1965–1973. Purchased 2019. 2019/104/14
Poster, ‘The Moratorium Is You’, paper, made by Vietnam
Moratorium Movement / Comment Publishing Company,
Australia, 1965–1973. Purchased 2019. 2019/104/15
Poster, ‘In The Year of The Pig’, paper, made by Resistance,
Sydney University Socialist Club, Australia, 1965–1973.
Purchased 2019. 2019/104/16
Figure, ‘Hog/Human’, earthenware / LED / MDF / acrylic
paint / automotive paint, Ramesh Mario Nithiyendran,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2019. Purchased
2019. 2019/105/1
Womans skirt cloth, warp ikat, ‘utan hawatan lea’, cotton,
made by Sikka Krowe people, Flores, Indonesia, c. 1980.
Gift of Heather Crompton, 2019. 2019/106/1
Computer chip plot and WiFi access points, plastic /
metal / electronic components, designed and
manufactured by Radiata, Australia / United States of
America, 2000–2002. Gift of David Goodall, 2019.
2020/1/1
Automobile with accessories, Morris Minor 1000, metal /
fabric / glass / paper / plastic, designed by Alec Issigonis,
England, made by British Motor Corporation, England,
manufactured by Nuffield Pty Ltd, Zetland, New South
Wales, Australia, 1958. Gift of Michael Rose AM, 2019.
2020/2/1
Stereographic cards (412) and cases (2), card / paper,
various makers, England / United States of America /
Australia / New Zealand, 1890–1915. Gift of the estate of
Owen Shiels, 2019. 2020/3/1
Stereographic Viewer, Holmes type, wood / metal / glass,
designed by Oliver Wendel Holmes, manufactured by H C
White Co, North Bennington, Vermont, United States of
America, c. 1895. Gift of the estate of Owen Shiels, 2019.
2020/3/2
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Chair and components, blackwood / leather, designed by
Fred Lowen, manufactured by Tessa, Victoria, Australia,
1968–2019. Gift of Tessa Furniture, 2019. 2020/4/1
Archive, Tessa trade brochures and photographic
transparencies, various materials, manufactured by Tessa
Furniture, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, 1968–2019.
Gift of Tessa Furniture, 2019. 2020/4/2
Samples, timber and upholstery, various materials, various
materials, manufactured by Tessa Furniture, Melbourne,
Victoria, Australia, 1968–2019. Gift of Tessa Furniture,
2019. 2020/4/3
Chair components, T21 side assemblies and timber
capping for feet and nT6 side assembly, designed by
Fred Lowen, manufactured by Tessa, Victoria, Australia,
1968–2019. Gift of Tessa Furniture, 2019. 2020/4/4
Chest and clothing, wood / leather / silk / cotton / metal,
used by Sarah Young Wai, owned by Dr John Yu, China /
Australia, late 19th century. Gift of Dr John Yu AC, 2019.
2020/5/1
Archive, Billy Blue / Billy Blue Creative, North Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, 1977–2009. Gift of Billy Blue
Creative, 2009. 2020/6/1
Complex-number slide rule and accessories, metal / wood
/ paper / plastic, made by W F Stanley & Limited, New
Eltham, England, retailed by Esdaile & Sons Pty Ltd,
Glebe, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1960. Gift of Dr
David Hollway, 1999. 2020/7/1
Pinard horn, metal, maker unknown, place of production
unknown, c. 1988. Gift of Sue Le Bas, 2019. 2020/8/1
Archive, Club Tropical Resort, prospectus, artwork, textile
samples, prints and stencils, paper / paint / pencil /
acetate / cotton / linen, designed by Linda Jackson for
‘Club Tropical Resort’, Port Douglas, Queensland,
2000–2001. Gift of Linda Jackson, 2019. 2020/9/1
Textile lengths (4), part of the Alice Springs series, cotton
/ silk, designed and made by Linda Jackson, Alice Springs,
Northern Territory, Australia, 1997. Gift of Linda Jackson,
2019. 2020/10/1
Coat, ‘Penguin’, screen-printed cotton, designed and
made by Linda Jackson, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 1987–1988. Gift of Linda Jackson, 2019.
2020/10/2
Evening dress, ‘Gladioli’, rayon crepe, designed and made
by Linda Jackson, hand-painted by Charlotte Barnes,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia / possibly London,
England, 1975, worn by Marcia Hines, Australia, 1976. Gift
of Linda Jackson, 2019. 2020/10/3
Jewellery (14), acrylic / plastic / metal / cotton, designed
by Peter Tully, Sydney, Australia, 1975–1981. Gift of Linda
Jackson, 2019. 2020/10/4
Brooches (2), ‘Linda’s Light’, mirror glass / resin / opals /
metal, designed and made by Andrew Logan, London,
England, 1980–1981. Gift of Linda Jackson, 2019.
2020/10/5
Belt, for ‘Black Banksia’ outfit, womens, silk satin / silk
taffeta, designed and made by Linda Jackson, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, 1986. Gift of Linda Jackson,
2019. 2020/11/1
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Headpiece, for ‘Seaweed’ outfit, womens, silk organza /
cotton, designed and made by Linda Jackson, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, 1977. Gift of Linda Jackson,
2019. 2020/11/2
Dress with matching sash and belt, womens, polyamide
jersey / synthetic, designed and made by Frank Usher,
London, England, United Kingdom, c. 1969. Gift of Julia
Hush in memory of Thea Lesley Hush, 2019. 2020/12/1
Crushed scrap car, steel / plastic, car manufacturer and
date of production not recorded, car crushed by
Metalcorp Recyclers, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 2001. MAAS Collection, 2020. 2020/13/1
Ship model, half model, 1876 schooner ‘Annie Hill’ of Huon
River, Tasmania, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton,
New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug,
2019. 2020/14/1
Ship model, half model, 1878 barque ‘Loongana’ of Hobart,
Tasmania, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New
South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019.
2020/14/2
Ship model, half model, 1897 schooner ‘Annie McDougall’
of Tasmania, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New
South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019.
2020/14/3
Ship model, half model, 1870 barque ‘Harriet McGregor’ of
Hobart, Tasmania, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton,
New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug,
2019. 2020/14/4
Ship model, half model, 1922 schooner ‘Leprena’ of
Hobart, Tasmania, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton,
New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug,
2019. 2020/14/5
Ship model, half model, 1868 topsail schooner ‘Hally
Bayley’ of Hobart, Tasmania , timber, made by Ron Haug,
Stockton, New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of
Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/6
Ship model, half model, 1876 barque ‘Oceania’ of Hobart,
Tasmania, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New
South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019.
2020/14/7
Ship model, half model, 1919 schooner ‘Amelia J.’ of
Hobart, Tasmania, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton,
New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug,
2019. 2020/14/8
Ship model, half model, 1867 schooner ‘Waterman’ of
Williams River near Raymond Terrace, New South Wales,
timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/9
Ship model, half model, 1872 barque ‘Australian Sovereign’
of Paterson River near Morpeth, New South Wales,
timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, part of a collection of ship models and plans
made by Ron Haug, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019.
2020/14/10
Ship model, half model, 1869 schooner ‘Eagleton’ of
Eagleton, near Raymond Terrace, New South Wales,
timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/11

Ship model, half model, 1869 schooner ‘The Sons’,
renamed ‘Mary Campbell’, of Pelican Point, Manning
River, New South Wales, timber, made by Ron Haug,
Stockton, New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of
Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/12

Ship model, half model, 1883 Down Easter clipper
‘Benjamin F. Packard’ of Bath, Maine, United States of
America, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New
South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019.
2020/14/25

Ship model, half model, prototype brig of 1880s never
built but probably designed by Matthew Holmes of
Nambucca River, New South Wales, timber, made by Ron
Haug, Stockton, New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018.
Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/13

Ship model, half model, 1866 side-wheel paddle steamer
‘SS China’ of New York, United States of America, timber,
made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/26

Rigging plan, copy of the ship builder’s rigging plan for
1891 barque ‘Pass of Melfort’, ship No. 361, built by the
Fairfield Shipbuilding and Engineering Co of Govan,
Glasgow, Scotland, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/14
Ship model, half model, schooner ‘Helena Davies’
launched from Stockton, New South Wales, 1879, timber,
made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 2019. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/15
Ship model, half model, ketch ‘Rock Lily’, timber, built by
Joseph T Young, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New
South Wales, Australia, 1887. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019.
2020/14/16
Ship model, half model, 1884 downeaster clipper ‘Henry B.
Hyde’ of Bath, Maine, United States of America, timber,
made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/17
Ship model, half model, 1890 barque ‘Shenandoah’ of
Bath, Maine, United States of America, timber, made
by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales, Australia,
1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/18
Ship model, half model, 1874 ship ‘William D. Lawrence of
Maitland, Nova Scotia, Canada, timber, made by Ron
Haug, Stockton, New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018.
Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/19
Ship model, half model, 1854 clipper ‘Donald McKay’ of
East Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America,
timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/20
Ship model, half model, 1853 clipper barque ‘Great
Republic’ of East Boston, Massachusetts, United States of
America, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New
South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019.
2020/14/21
Ship model, half model, 1881 barque ‘Adolph Obrig’ of
Camden, Maine, United States of America, timber, made
by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales, Australia,
1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/22
Ship models (2), half model, 1873 extreme clipper ‘North
American’ of East Boston, Massachusetts, United States of
America, and 1873 ship ‘Frank Jones’ of Portsmouth,
Maine, United States of America, timber, made by Ron
Haug, Stockton, New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018.
Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/23
Ship model, half model, 1885 ship ‘Francis’ of Bath, Maine,
United States of America, timber, made by Ron Haug,
Stockton, New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of
Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/24

Ship model, half model, 1889 barque ‘Matanzas’ of Bath,
Maine, United States of America, timber, made by Ron
Haug, Stockton, New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018.
Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/27
Ship model, fully rigged scale model of the American 1883
‘down easter’ ‘Benjamin F. Packard’ of Bath, Maine, United
States of America, in its own display case, timber, made
by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales, Australia,
1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/28
Ship model, unrigged full model, 1891 Scottish barque
‘Pass of Melfort’, timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton,
New South Wales, Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug,
2019. 2020/14/29
Ship model, half model, 1917 steam tug boat SS ‘Moruya’
of Walsh Island, Newcastle, New South Wales, Australia,
timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/30
Ship model, half model, 1880 schooner ‘Cairndu’ of
Eagleton, near Raymond Terrace, New South Wales,
timber, made by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/31
Collection of traditional shipwright’s tools, standard and
bent caulking irons and mallet, timber / steel, some made
by Ward & Payne, Sheffield, England, used by Australian
shipwright by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales,
Australia, 1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/32
Collection of ship plans and research notes, for Australian,
American and Canadian sailing ships built mid to late
1800s and early 1900s, includes some reference plans but
mostly original ones drawn the Australian shipwright, Ron
Haug, part of a collection of ship models and plans, made
by Ron Haug, Stockton, New South Wales, Australia,
1978–2018. Gift of Ron Haug, 2019. 2020/14/33
Paintings (3), paper / water colour / oil / acrylics, Philip
Shepherd, Gladesville Pottery Studios, Gladesville Mental
Hospital, New South Wales, Australia, 1973–1994. Gift of
Gladesville Pottery Studios Inc, 2019. 2020/15/1
Photograph albums (9), paper / metal / plastic, Gladesville
Pottery Studios, Gladesville Mental Hospital, New South
Wales, Australia, 1973–1994. Gift of Gladesville Pottery
Studios Inc, 2019. 2020/15/2
Architectural model, ‘Flooded Sydney’, mixed materials,
made by Modelcraft, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia,
c. 1985–2010. Gift of Modelcraft, 2019. 2020/16/1
Fine art print reproduction and Certificate of Authenticity,
titled ‘Strictly Ballroom 2014’, featuring Fran and Scott
Hastings, paper, photographed by Douglas Kirkland,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2014. Gift of Douglas
Kirkland, 2019. 2020/17/1
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Fine art print reproduction and Certificate of Authenticity,
titled ‘Strictly Ballroom 2014’, featuring Liz Holt and Scott
Hastings, paper, photographed by Douglas Kirkland,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2014. Gift of Douglas
Kirkland, 2019. 2020/17/2
Fine art print reproduction and Certificate of Authenticity,
titled ‘Strictly Ballroom 2014’, featuring Liz Holt and Scott
Hastings, paper, photographed by Douglas Kirkland,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2014. Gift of Douglas
Kirkland, 2019. 2020/17/3
Cold weather mask, felt / cotton / metal / plastic,
manufactured for the United States Navy, probably
International Hat Company, St Louis, Missouri, United
States of America, c. 1940. Gift of William L Chapman,
2018. 2020/18/1
Coins, commemorative 6-piece coin set in case, metal /
paper, made by the Royal Australian Mint, Canberra,
Australia, 2019. Gift of the Royal Australian Mint, 2019.
2020/19/1
‘Florence’ mobile game design and development archive
including source code, source art, graphic files, design
documents, concept art, sketchbooks, collector cards and
pins, vinyl record with score, ‘Making of’ film, digital /
paper / plastic / metal, by Mountains Studio, Melbourne,
Victoria, Australia, 2016–2018. Gift of Mountains Studio,
2019. 2020/20/1
Board shorts, cotton, designed and made by Speedo,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1974–1975. Gift of
Skot Biner, 2020. 2020/21/1
Archive, correspondence and business papers,
photographs, artworks, factory materials and ephemera,
Donald Clark Associates Pty Ltd, fabric / wood / plastic /
paper, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1954–1990.
Gift of Stuart Clark, Katie Breatnach and Tony Clark, 2019.
2020/22/1
Archive, correspondence and business papers, artworks,
factory materials and ephemera, Donald Clark Associates
Pty Ltd, fabric / wood / plastic / paper, Sydney, New
South Wales, Australia, 1954–1990. Gift of Stuart Clark,
Katie Breatnach and Tony Clark, 2019. 2020/22/2
Collection of ephemera (22), paper / plastic, maker
unknown, for The Rex and Carlton-Rex Hotels, collected
and used by Margaret Clark, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia / Canberra, Australian Capital Territory,
Australia, 1958–1962. Gift of Stuart Clark, Katie Breatnach
and Tony Clark, 2019. 2020/22/3
Photograph, black and white print, Rosina Darcey
(nee Lewis), paper, photographer unknown, England,
1865–1869. Gift of Rosina Wainwright, 2020. 2020/23/1
Photograph, black and white print, Rosina Darcey (nee
Lewis) and daughters, paper, photographer unknown,
Australia, c. 1915. Gift of Rosina Wainwright, 2020.
2020/23/2
Photograph, black and white print, Rosina Darcey (nee
Lewis) and family, paper, photographer unknown, Australia,
c. 1915. Gift of Rosina Wainwright, 2020. 2020/23/3
Postcard, black and white print, Rosina Darcey (nee Lewis)
and Olive Darcey, card, photographer unknown, Australia,
c. 1915. Gift of Rosina Wainwright, 2020. 2020/23/4
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Postcard, black and white print, Rosina Darcey (nee Lewis)
and Edward Darcey, card, photographer unknown,
Australia, c. 1915. Gift of Rosina Wainwright, 2020.
2020/23/5
Placard, ‘Dude, Where’s My Ice?’, paper / plastic / wood /
metal, designed and made by Racheal Rauch,
Shellharbour, New South Wales, Australia, used at the
Sydney Climate Strike, Sydney, New South Wales, 20
September 2019. Gift of Racheal Rauch, 2020. 2020/24/1
Dance costume, womens, comprising ballroom gown
and hair accessory, chiffon / cotton / ostrich feathers /
sequins / diamantés / metal, worn by Anna Piper, made by
Nola Lowe, Canterbury, New South Wales, Australia,
1991–2000. Gift of Don Herbison-Evans, 2019. 2020/25/1
Dance costume, mens, comprising tailcoat, formal dinner
shirt and bowtie, cotton / polyester / satin / plastic, worn
by Don Herbison-Evans, made by Tony Bonnici / Philippe
Anton, New South Wales, Australia, 1991–2000. Gift of
Don Herbison-Evans, 2019. 2020/25/2
Dance costume, womens, comprising ballroom gown and
hair accessories (2), satin jersey / lurex / lamé / sequins /
diamantés / metal / cotton, worn by Anna Piper, New
South Wales, Australia, 1990–1992. Gift of Don HerbisonEvans, 2019. 2020/25/3
Dance costume, mens, comprising bodysuit and trousers
and vertical band, satin jersey / lamé / lurex / plastic /
velcro / cotton / polyester, worn by Don Herbison-Evans,
New South Wales, Australia, 1990–92. Gift of Don
Herbison-Evans, 2019. 2020/25/4
Shoes, womens, synthetic materials, worn by Anna Piper,
New South Wales, Australia, 1990–2006, made by
Diamant Shoes, Europe, c. 1990. Gift of Don HerbisonEvans, 2019. 2020/25/5
Ephemera related to ballroom dancing costumes worn
by Anna Piper and Don Herbison-Evans, Australia,
1991–2000. Gift of Don Herbison-Evans, 2019. 2020/25/6
Ephemera related to ballroom dancing costumes worn
by Anna Piper and Don Herbison-Evans, Australia,
1990– 1992. Gift of Don Herbison-Evans, 2019. 2020/25/7
Photographs (56), colour, Anna Piper and Don HerbisonEvans ballroom dancing partnership and others,
photographed by Neville Lowe / Marney’s Magic
Moments, New South Wales, Australia, 1990–2003. Gift
of Don Herbison-Evans, 2019. 2020/25/8
Swatchbooks (4), paper / cardboard / inks / acetate,
Tennyson Textiles Mills, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 1940s– 1967. Gift of George Hardwick, 2003.
2020/26/1
Textile designs, paisley patterns, gouache and inks on
paper and cloth, G H Hardwick for Tootal Ltd,
Manchester, England, 1940–1965. Gift of George
Hardwick, 2003. 2020/26/2
Coat, womens, mink fur / leather / silk / plastic / metal,
designed and made by Cornelius Furs, used by Mrs Lorna
Miriam ‘Mirrie’ Allison, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 1970–1979. Gift of Christine Pitkin, 2017.
2020/27/1

Coat, womens, mink fur / silk / velvet, designed and made
by Cornelius Furs, used by Mrs Lorna Miriam ‘Mirrie’
Allison, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 1970–1979.
Gift of Christine Pitkin, 2017. 2020/27/2
Advertisements (19), proof prints, for Berlei bras and
girdles, ink / paper, photographed by David Hewison,
copywriter Erica Aronsten, art direction Jules Sher,
creative director Leo Schofield, advertising agency
Jackson Wain (later Leo Burnett), for Berlei, Sydney, New
South Wales, Australia, 1965–1969. Gift of Erica Aronsten,
2019. 2020/28/1
Costume, inflatable palm tree, nylon net / plastic / fabric,
made by Tasman Munro, Sydney, Australia, 2019, used at
Sydney Climate Strike 20 September 2019. Gift of Tasman
Munro, 2020. 2020/29/1
Wedding outfit, consisting of a dress, top, hat, gloves,
garter and shoes, silk / silk satin / lace / guipure lace /
nylon / leather / diamantes, designed by Merivale
Hemmes, made by the House of Merivale, worn by
Bronwynn Comerford during her marriage to William
Comerford, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 22
December 1979. Gift of Bronwynn Comerford, 2020.
2020/30/1
Zip Fridge Defroster and original packaging, metal /
electrical components / plastic / cardboard, designed and
made by ZIP Heaters (Aust) Pty Ltd, Marrickville, New
South Wales, Australia, 1947–1962. Gift of Joan Baggs,
2020. 2020/31/1
Hat, womens, netting and braid, maker unknown, place of
manufacture unknown, c. 1967. Gift of Bek Jelbart, 2003.
2020/32/1
Hat, womens, straw, designed by William Beale, made by
Mr Individual, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, 1975–1979.
Gift of Bek Jelbart, 2003. 2020/32/2
Placard, double-sided, ‘Business as usual. Leads to
extinction’, ‘Stop the 0.1% from Destroying the planet!’,
paper / plastic / ink, designed and made by Mark Liu,
used at the Sydney Climate Strike Sydney, New South
Wales Australia, 20 September 2019. Gift of Mark Liu,
2020. 2020/33/1
Archive (47 items), relating to motoring in New South
Wales, comprising booklets, brochures, maps and reports,
paper, produced by various organisations including
NSW Department of Motor Transport, RTA and NRMA,
1932–2006. MAAS Collection, 2020. 2020/34/1
Posters (4), ‘Wunala Dreaming’, airline advertising, paper,
designed by Balarinji Australia, QANTAS Airways, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, c. 1995. Gift of Qantas
Airways, 2018. 2020/35/1
Posters (2), ‘Nalanji Dreaming’, airline advertising, paper,
designed by Balarinji Australia, QANTAS Airways, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, c. 1995. Gift of Qantas
Airways, 2018. 2020/35/2
Aircraft model packaging, ‘Wunala Dreaming’, cardboard,
designed by Balarinji Australia, QANTAS Airways, Sydney,
New South Wales, Australia, c. 1995. Gift of Qantas
Airways, 2018. 2020/35/3

Aircraft model and packaging, Qantas Airlines Boeing
747-300 ‘Nalanji Dreaming’, Scalecraft, plastic / metal /
cardboard, livery designed by Balarinji Australia, QANTAS
Airways, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1995. Gift
of Qantas Airways, 2018. 2020/35/4
Postcards (2), ‘Wunala Dreaming’, cardboard, designed by
Balarinji Australia, QANTAS Airways, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, c. 1995. Gift of Qantas Airways, 2018.
2020/35/5
Postcards (2), ‘Nalanji Dreaming’, cardboard, designed by
Balarinji Australia, QANTAS Airways, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, c. 1995. Gift of Qantas Airways, 2018.
2020/35/6
Flotation device, ‘Pixie Bubble’, polystyrene / synthetic
material / metal, possibly made by Hanimex Pty Ltd, New
South Wales, Australia, used in Perth, Western Australia,
c. 1975. Gift of the Tucak Family, Perth, 2020. 2020/36/1
Lace flounce, Youghal, linen / cotton, maker unknown,
Ireland, c. 1880–1900. Gift of Vicki Brooke, 2020. 2020/37/1
Badge, ‘Chairman Mao’, metal, maker unknown, China,
1960–1981. Gift of Claire Roberts, 2018. 2020/38/1
Badge, ‘Chairman Mao’, plastic / metal, maker unknown,
China, 1960–1981. Gift of Claire Roberts, 2018. 2020/38/2
Badge, ‘Chairman Mao’, metal, maker unknown, China,
1960–1981. Gift of Claire Roberts, 2018. 2020/38/3
Poster, ‘I’m Voting Yes’, for the ‘Yes’ campaign for marriage
equality national survey 2017, paper, printed by Jefferies
Printing for Unions New South Wales, Revesby, New South
Wales, Australia, 2017. Gift of Unions New South Wales,
2017. 2020/39/1
Hardware from the Murchison Widefield Array (MWA),
metal / plastic / electronics components, Murchison,
Western Australia, 2007–2011. Gift of Curtin Institute of
Radio Astronomy, Curtin University, 2018. 2020/40/1
Mobile game, ‘Florence’, for iPad and Android tablet,
accompanied by short film, 30-minute duration, by
Mountains Studio, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia,
2016–2018. Purchased 2020. 2020/41/1
Model train, 0-gauge, ACE LNE.R Record Train of 3 July
1938 comprising Class A4 No 4468 ‘Mallard’ 4-6-2 Pacific
steam locomotive and tender of 1938, dynamometer car of
1906 and six Coronation coaches of 1937, used but in
original packaging, metal / plastic / cardboard, designed
by ACE Electric Train Company, London, England, made
in Bangkok, Thailand, , c. 2007. MAAS Collection, 2020.
2020/42/1
Collector cards (20), ‘Mobil Top Performance Cars’,
depicting cars made between 1901 and 1965, card, maker
unknown, for Mobil Oil Australia Ltd, Australia, 1965.
MAAS Collection, 2020. 2020/43/1
Posters (16), collection of farriers price lists, , paper, issued
by Master Farriers Association of NSW, printed by The
Standard Publishing House, 69 Nelson Street, Rozelle,
New South Wales, Australia, 1948–1967 / M.S. Simpson &
Sons Pty Ltd, Sydney and Alexandria, New South Wales,
Australia, 1969–1970, used by Norm Stead, 127 Phillip
Street, Waterloo, New South Wales, Australia, 1948–1970.
MAAS Collection, 2020. 2020/44/1
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Ferry Model, ‘Solar Sailor’ with stand, various materials,
Solar Sailor Holdings Ltd, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 1999. Purchased 2020. 2020/45/1
Note, Eine Krone (1 Crown) / Theresienstadt
Concentration Camp, paper, Terezin, Czech Republic,
German Occupation, 1943–1945. Gift of John Schwarzer,
1990. 2020/46/1
Loud Shirt, ‘Suburbia’, screen printed, rayon / coconut
shell, designed by Reg Mombassa, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, made by Mambo, Sulo, Indonesia, c.
1998. Purchased, 2020. 2020/47/1
Loud Shirt, ‘Mambo Cosmology: Biscuits of the Southern
Hemisphere’, screen printed, rayon / coconut shell,
designed by Reg Mombassa, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, made by Mambo, Sulo, Indonesia, 2000.
Purchased, 2020. 2020/47/2
Placard, , ‘Activism Is Learning’ / ‘Stop The Boasts’, double
sided, cardboard / acrylic, made by Tracy Allen,
Springwood, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, used at
the Sydney Climate Strike, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 20 September 2019. Gift of Tracy Allen, 2020.
2020/48/1
Laptop Computer, instruction manuals (5) and accessories
(4), ‘Laser PC4 portable computer’, plastic / electronic
components / paper / textile / plastic / rubber, made by
Laser Computer Inc, Hong Kong and China, 1988–1990,
used by John Millington, New South Wales, Australia,
1990–1994. Gift of John Millington, 2018. 2020/49/1
Handkerchief, for the 1956 Melbourne Olympic Games,
cotton, maker unknown, place of production unknown,
1956. MAAS Collection, 2020. 2020/50/1
Dress, Tricel (cellulose triacetate), designed by Carla
Zampatti, Surry Hills, New South Wales, Australia, retailed
through Smartee Boutique, Newcastle, New South Wales,
Australia, worn by Annette Morgan, Australia, 1976. Gift of
Annette Morgan, 2020. 2020/51/1
Posters (2), ‘Nature Laughs Last’, paper / ink, made by
Peter Drew, original photograph by Che Chorley,
Adelaide, South Australia, 2020. Purchased 2020.
2020/52/1
Boots, ‘Totem’, womens, suede / leather, designed by
Christian Louboutin, Paris, France, made in Italy,
1991–1996. Gift of Christian Louboutin, 1997. 2020/53/1
Headpiece, ‘Carmen Miranda,’ lurex / cane / foam /
polystyrene / jersey / foil, made by Michael Gates,
Lismore, New South Wales, Australia, worn by Erif
Benham, Australia, 2008. Gift of Erif Benham, 2017.
2020/54/1
Book, ‘Commonwealth Oil Corporation Limited Rules and
Regulations for the Conduct of Traffic on the Wolgan
Valley Railway and for the Guidance of the Officers and
Men in the Service of the Commonwealth Oil Corporation
Limited’, 177 pages, hardcover, paper / cardboard, made
by John Sands Limited, printers, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, 1911. Gift of Lorraine Spice, 2018.
2020/55/1
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Bricks (5) and brick ties (2) designed for the Chau Chak
Wing Building, sand / cement / metal, by Brickworks
Building Products, Horsley Park, New South Wales,
Australia, manufactured by Bowral Bricks, Bowral, New
South Wales, Australia, 2015. Gift of Brickworks Building
Products, 2017. 2020/56/1
Papers (6), bound folders (2), DVDs (2), relating to Bishop
Austrans automatic personal rapid transport (PRT) system,
various materials, by Bishop Austrans, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, 1991–2003. Gift of Rosemary Bishop,
2018. 2020/57/1
Washing dress, comprising bodice and skirt, womens,
cotton flannelette / metal,used by the Flavelle family, New
South Wales, Australia, 1906–1913. Gift of the estate of
Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/1
Undergarment, womens, cotton flannelette, used by the
Flavelle family, New South Wales, Australia, c. 1880. Gift
of the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/2
Washing dress, comprising bodice and skirt, womens,
cotton flannelette / metal, used by the Flavelle family,
New South Wales, Australia, 1906–1913. Gift of the estate
of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/3
Undergarment, womens, cotton, used by the Flavelle
family, New South Wales, Australia, late 19th century. Gift
of the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/4
Shirtwaist, womens, cotton, used by the Flavelle family,
New South Wales, Australia, c. 1905. Gift of the estate of
Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/5
Maid’s cap, cotton, used in New South Wales, Australia,
1900–1910. Gift of the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies,
2020. 2020/58/6
Bloomers, possible cycling knickers, cotton, used by the
Flavelle family, New South Wales, Australia, 1900–1930.
Gift of the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/7
Breast flattener, womens, cotton / metal, made by Berlei,
Australia, c. 1920. Gift of the estate of Jean Flavelle
Davies, 2020. 2020/58/8
Brassiere, womens, cotton / metal, made by Berlei,
Australia, c. 1920. Gift of the estate of Jean Flavelle
Davies, 2020. 2020/58/9
Vest and drawers, ‘Velnit’, cotton, designed and made by
Morley’s, United Kingdom for David Jones, Australia, used
by the Flavelle family in New South Wales, Australia, c.
1930. Gift of the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020.
2020/58/10
Underwear, mens, ‘Velnit’, cotton, designed and made by
Morley’s, United Kingdom for David Jones, Australia, used
by the Flavelle family in New South Wales, Australia, c.
1930. Gift of the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020.
2020/58/11
Undergarment, girls, cotton, used by the Flavelle family in
New South Wales, Australia, 1900–1920. Gift of the estate
of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/12
Day dress, girls, cotton, used by the Flavelle family in New
South Wales, Australia, 1895–1920. Gift of the estate of
Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/13

Day dress, teenagers, cotton, used by the Flavelle family
in New South Wales, Australia, 1895–1920. Gift of the
estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/14
Day dress, teenagers, cotton, used by the Flavelle family
in New South Wales, Australia, 1895–1920. Gift of the
estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/15
Chemise, boys, cotton flannelette, used by the Flavelle
family in New South Wales, Australia, 1895–1930. Gift of
the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/16
Drawers, boys, cotton, retailed by Hordern Brothers,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, used by the Flavelle
family in New South Wales, Australia, early 20th century.
Gift of the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020.
2020/58/17
Vest, babys, machine-knitted cotton, made by Bonds,
used by the Flavelle family in New South Wales, Australia,
1920–1930. Gift of the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies,
2020. 2020/58/18
Vest, babys, hand-knitted wool, used by the Flavelle
family in New South Wales, Australia, 1920–1930. Gift of
the estate of Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/19
Swimsuit, mens, wool, used by the Flavelle family in New
South Wales, Australia, 1920–1940. Gift of the estate of
Jean Flavelle Davies, 2020. 2020/58/20
Cassette tape answering machine and accessories,
‘Monitor 300’, TA300, plastic / metal, made by Telstra
Technologies Pty Ltd, Thailand, c. 2000, used by Mr
Norman Barnes, Australia, date unknown. Gift of the
family of Mr Norman Barnes, 2020. 2020/59/1
Placard, ‘Stop Adani’, cardboard / metal / plastic / textile /
paint, designed and made by Maeve and Oscar O’Connell,
used at the ‘Sydney Climate Strike’, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, 20 September 2019. Gift of Nicole
O’Connell, 2020. 2020/60/1
Poster, ‘Tanks must have radio for contact with base’,
offset lithograph, paper, made by Amalgamated Wireless
Australia (AWA), Australia, 1939–1945. Gift of the
Australian War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/1
Poster, ‘Blackout outside, plenty of light inside with Philips
lamps’, offset lithograph, paper, made by Phillips Electrical
Industries Pty Ltd, Australia, 1939–1945. Gift of the
Australian War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/2

Poster, ‘Make her proud to say my son overseas’, offset
lithograph, paper, made by Australian Commonwealth
Military Forces, Australia, 1943. Gift of the Australian War
Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/6
Poster, ‘See it through with Philips lamps’, offset
lithograph, paper, made by Philips Electrical Industries Pty
Ltd, Australia, 1939–1945. Gift of the Australian War
Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/7
Poster, ‘Tangle with the Angle’, offset lithograph, paper,
made by Royal Australian Air Force, Australia, 1957. Gift of
the Australian War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/8
Poster, ‘Regulations for danger buildings and storage of
explosives’, offset lithograph, paper, made by Royal
Australian Air Force, Australia, 1942. Gift of the Australian
War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/9
Poster, ‘Emergency’, offset lithograph, paper, made by
Royal Australian Air Force, Australia, 1953. Gift of the
Australian War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/10
Poster, ‘International Women’s Year 1975’, offset
lithograph, paper, made by Australian National Advisory
Committee for International Women’s Year, Australia, 1975.
Gift of the Australian War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/11
Poster, ‘International Women’s Year 1975’, offset
lithograph, paper, made by Australian National Advisory
Committee for International Women’s Year, Australia, 1975.
Gift of the Australian War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/12
Poster, ‘Join the AIF: Make dad proud to say My boy in the
East’, offset lithograph, paper, made by Australian
Commonwealth Military Forces, Australia, 1943. Gift of
the Australian War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/13
Poster, ‘Join the AIF: Make her proud to say We’re
engaged’, offset lithograph, paper, made by Australian
Commonwealth Military Forces, Australia, 1942. Gift of
the Australian War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/14
Poster, ‘You love them, fight for them! Men and More Men
Urgently Wanted!’, offset lithograph, paper, made by
Australian Commonwealth Military Forces, Australia,
1943. Gift of the Australian War Memorial, 2020.
2020/61/15
Sketchbook, of tailoring pattern drawings, paper, hand
drawn by Edmund Caesar, Sydney, New South Wales,
Australia, 1941. Gift of Margaret Lindhout, 2020. 2020/62/1

Poster, ‘Make them proud of you! Never been so fit I
wouldn’t have missed it for worlds!’, offset lithograph,
paper, made by Australian Commonwealth Military
Forces, Australia, 1943. Gift of the Australian War
Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/3

Archive, The Australian Costume and Textile Society
(ACTS), produced and compiled by members of the
ACTS, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia 1978–1997.
Gift of the former members of the Australian Costume and
Textile Society, 2020. 2020/63/1

Film poster, ‘Sons of the Anzacs’, offset lithograph, paper,
made by Australian National Film Board, Australia, 1943.
Gift of the Australian War Memorial, 2020. 2020/61/4

Mask and mask layers (8), ‘Eight treasures mask’,
papercut, mature rice paper / paint / elastic, designed and
made by Tianli Zu, St Ives, New South Wales, Australia,
2020. Purchased, 2020. 2020/64/1

Poster, ‘How proud they’ll be to pass around your snaps,
Join the A.I.F!’, offset lithograph, paper, made by
Australian Commonwealth Military Forces, Australia,
1942. Gift of the Australian War Memorial, 2020.
2020/61/5

Promotional material (7), handmade, assorted sizes, paper
/ seeds, made and used by Paper-Go-Round, Australia,
c. 2000–2018. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/1
Calendar with tear outs (4), paper / seeds / metal,
designed by Green Scribble, made by Paper-Go-Round,
Australia, used by City West Water, Australia c. 2014. Gift
of Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/2
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Run sheet, paper / seeds, made by Paper-Go-Round,
Australia, 2008, used by Institute for Sustainable
Solutions, The University of Sydney, Australia, 2008. Gift
of Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/3
Media Release, AFL Grand Final, paper / seeds, made by
Paper-Go-Round, Australia, 2010, used by the Australian
Football League and Origin Energy, 2010. Gift of Dave
Gray, 2020. 2020/65/4
Advertising flyers (5), ‘Dan the Man’, paper / seeds, made
by Paper-Go-Round, Australia, 2011, used by ‘Dan the Man’
catering and events company, Australia, 2011. Gift of Dave
Gray, 2020. 2020/65/5
Award Entry Booklet, ‘Tricky Solution’, paper / seeds,
designed and used by Tricky Jigsaw Company, 2017, made
by Paper-Go-Round, Australia, 2017. Gift of Dave Gray,
2020. 2020/65/6
Business Cards (4), ‘Bouquet Babes’, seeds / paper, made
by Paper-Go-Round, Australia, c. 2017, used by the
Bouquet Babes, c. 2017. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020.
2020/65/7
Invitation, ‘Ecologic: creating a sustainable future’, paper /
seeds, made by Paper-Go-Round, Australia, 2010, used by
the Powerhouse Museum, 2010. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020.
2020/65/8
Card (2), thank you flyer ‘Friends of Earth Hour’, paper /
seeds, made by Paper-Go-Round, Australia, 2011, used by
World Wildlife Foundation, Australia, 2011. Gift of Dave
Gray, 2020. 2020/65/9
Cards (2), ‘Thank you for Indigenous Community
Volunteers’, paper / seeds, made by Paper-Go-Round,
Australia, 2010–2018, used by Indigenous Community
Volunteers. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/10
Promotional cards (3), ‘Thank you for supporting
Australia’s environment, Australian Conservation
Foundation’, paper / seeds, made by Paper-Go-Round,
Australia, date unknown, used by the Australian
Conservation Foundation. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020.
2020/65/11
Card (3), ‘The Wilderness Society’, paper / seeds, made by
Paper-Go-Round, Australia, date unknown. Gift of Dave
Gray, 2020. 2020/65/12
Flyer, ‘Landcom’ promotion, paper / seeds, made by
Paper-Go-Round, Australia, c. 2000–2018, used by
Landcom, Australia. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/13
Paper (3), paper / seeds, made by Paper-Go-Round,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, c. 2000–2018.
Gift of Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/14
Coaster, ‘100 Mile Café’, paper / seeds, made by PaperGo-Round, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, used by
100 Mile Cafe, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, date
unknown. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/15
Coaster (3), ‘42 Below Vodka’, paper / seeds, made by
Paper-Go-Round, Australia, date unknown. Gift of Dave
Gray, 2020. 2020/65/16
Card, promotional, paper / seeds, made by Paper-GoRound, Australia, c. 2000–2018, used by AMP. Gift of
Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/17
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Cards (11), ‘Plant a Card’, paper / seeds, made by PaperGo-Round, Australia, c. 2018. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020.
2020/65/18
Wedding invitation (2), seeds / paper, made by Paper-GoRound, Australia, c. 2000–2018. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020.
2020/65/19
Cards (5), paper / seeds, designed by Cathy Hamilton,
made by Paper-Go-Round, Australia, c. 2000–2018.
Gift of Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/20
Cards (4), paper / seeds, made by Paper-Go-Round,
Australia, designed by Sonnet, Australia, c. 2000–2018.
Gift of Dave Gray, 2020. 2020/65/21
Cards (4), paper / seeds, made by Paper-Go-Round,
Sydney, Australia, 2000, used by Sydney Olympics,
Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, 2000. Gift of Dave
Gray, 2020. 2020/65/22
Card, ‘Bees Needs’, paper / seeds, paper made by PaperGo-Round, Australia, 2011, card made by Avant Card, 2011,
used by Sydney Wildlife World, Sydney, New South
Wales, Australia, 2011. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020.
2020/65/23
Cards (4), ‘New Shoots’, paper / seeds, made by PaperGo-Round, used by New Shoots: Garden of Poems, Red
Room Poetry, Australia, 2017. Gift of Dave Gray, 2020.
2020/65/24
Fashion sketch, original design for a purple evening dress,
pencil and watercolour paint on paper / fabric swatches,
by Sir Norman Hartnell, England, 1949. Gift of the estate
of Herbert Nathaniel Spike, 2020. 2020/66/1
Fashion sketch, original design for a tucked crepe dress,
pencil and watercolour paint on paper / fabric swatches,
by Sir Norman Hartnell, England, 1949. Gift of the estate
of Herbert Nathaniel Spike, 2020. 2020/66/2
Fashion sketch, original design for a pink evening dress,
pencil and watercolour paint on paper / fabric swatches,
by Sir Norman Hartnell, England, 1949. Gift of the estate
of Herbert Nathaniel Spike, 2020. 2020/66/3
Fashion sketch, original design for a grey evening dress,
pencil and watercolour paint on paper / fabric swatches,
by Sir Norman Hartnell, England, 1949. Gift of the estate
of Herbert Nathaniel Spike, 2020. 2020/66/4
Fashion sketch, original design for a brown dress, pencil
and watercolour paint on paper / fabric swatches, by Sir
Norman Hartnell, England, 1949. Gift of the estate of
Herbert Nathaniel Spike, 2020. 2020/66/5
Fashion sketch, original design for a green check dress,
pencil and watercolour paint on paper / fabric swatches,
by Sir Norman Hartnell, England, 1949. Gift of the estate
of Herbert Nathaniel Spike, 2020. 2020/66/6

PARTNERS

PUBLICATIONS

The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences is an
Executive Agency of and principally funded by the
NSW State Government.

The Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Media published
three new publications throughout the year, focusing on the
Museum’s collection, and collaborating with creative and
academic authors, artists, designers and illustrators.

Partners

2020 Australasian Sky Guide
September 2019
Published annually, and written by astronomer and author
Dr Nick Lomb, the 2020 guide contains monthly astronomy
maps, viewing tips and highlights, the latest celestial events
and an Indigenous astronomy section. The publication is
also available as an eBook.

Principal Partners
CSIRO
Western Sydney University
Major Partners
ERCO
Lendlease
Supporting Partners
Microsoft
ResMed
Media Partner
NITV
Preferred Wine Partner
Tamburlaine Organic Wines
Event Partners
Four Pillars Gin
Young Henrys

Donors
Governor ($50,000+)
Australian Business and Community Network
Custodian ($1,000 – $4,999)
Dr Elizabeth Houlihan
Supporter ($2 – $499)
Gilberto Aguirre
Alison Allmark
Andrew Antoniou
Peter Bailey
Anna-Rosa Baker
Rosemary Barker
James A Bird
Honey Birdette
Jo Blackman
Michael Carter
Ruixue Chen
Peter Denham
Robin Dyke
Julia Eose
Christine Everett
Christine
Hatzikalimnios
David Hunt
Graham Johnson
Liam Kerr
Andrew Lamond
Eugenia Langley

Tina Le
Charmion Luden
Albert Mathews
Karen Mazonas
Dr Stephen McNamara
Michael Molnar
Dr Katherine Neville
Thi My Nhung Nguyen
Catherine Nolan
Pauline O’Loughlin
Madeleine Richard
Harold Rogers
Joanne Selfe
Mark Sieckman
David Swift
Evonne Tim
John A Vipond
Janette Weeding
Jia Jia Wong
Ang Xu
Tao Yang
and those who have asked
to remain anonymous.

Jenny Kee and Linda Jackson: Step into Paradise
October 2019
Step into Paradise explores the compelling stories and
creative practice of iconic Australian designers Jenny Kee
and Linda Jackson. This first in-depth survey captures
the dynamic energy of their partnership and draws on
over four decades of their work and archives, including
more than 150 garments, textiles, photographs and
artworks. The designers gave generously of their time and
their personal archives to help create a record of their
careers, with new photography of their works, a foreword
by English model and writer Penelope Tree, an introduction
by the Museum’s fashion curator Glynis Jones, and
chapters written by fashion writer Georgina Safe.
The book was co-published with Thames & Hudson.
Success and Failure
May 2020
The third book in the Museum’s Collection series,
Success and Failure delves into the collection to find
examples of research, design and development that have
led to unconventional outcomes, disappointments,
challenges and triumphs. Acclaimed Australian writers
Bruce Pascoe and Delia Falconer as well as Museum
authors have contributed essays sparked by more than
100 collection objects, along with archival material
providing insight into the processes behind significant
developments. Exploring the origins of porcelain and
board games, and innovation in engineering, architecture
and design, agriculture, medicine, weapons, sound
technology, women’s clothing and robotics, this publication
reveals how, surprisingly, nearly every story of success
also speaks of failure. Success and Failure is illustrated
with new object photography and historic images from the
collection. The guest authors’ contributions were supported
by a grant from the Copyright Agency Cultural Fund.
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VOLUNTEERS
Talya Aarons
John A’Beckett
Joanne Acton
Amelia Adams-Acton
Vinod Ahluwalia
Timothy Almonte
Beth Bailey
Katherine Ball
Peter Bamford
Clare Banks
Marion Barker
Judith Bedford
Kate Belfield
Danielle Bell
Joel Bell
Celia Berry
Terry Blanch
George Bolton
Edna Boyd
Joyce Bradbury
Rowland Broady
Ken Bruce
Riley Buchanan
Robert Burford
Remy Burgess
Maree Burnett
Andrew Burrell
Roderick Byatt
Judith Campbell
Victor Candor
Sam Cejvan
Rebecca Chan
Yifei Chan
Emily Chen
Lesley Cherry
Lynne Cheshire
Aliza Chin
Stephanie Chinneck
Kenneth Chuang
Wendy Circosta
Jean Clark
Greg Coan
Geoff Cocks
Robert Cole
Jon Comino
John Cooper
Jennifer Cockish
Diane Creaming
Benjamin Crestani
Graham Dare
Marcus Day
Catherine De Lorenzo
Rika Deamer
Ian Debenham
Siobhan Dickson
Kevin Dodds
Manisha Carol DSouza
Lucy Dumitrescu
Wayne Eagle
Amanda Easterbrook
John Ebner
Maria Echeverri
Alan Edwards
Jay Ekers
David Elliott
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Roger Elliott
Safaa Elmasri
Jessica Fisher
Claudia Fisk
Julia Foong
Zoe Ford
Robert Gardiner
Lynnette Gaze
Christina Geeves
Catherine Gibson
Maureen Gibson
Millicent Gigg
Cindy Gordon
Andrew Grant
Dorothy Green
Cathie Griffith
Dinah Hales
Fatima Harris
Seanna Harrison
Lesley Harwood
Xiaodan He
Lauren Hearne
Rachel Hendery
Scott Hewitt
Susanne Hledik
Garry Horvai
John Howse
Tao Huang
Ray Huckin
Debra Hudson
Christina Jameson
Alfred Johnson
Cierwen Jones
Ivana Jovanovic
Matti Keentok
Methinee Khanapanya
Faezeh Kheiri
Michael Khoury
Diana Kincaid
Ron Koenig
Nisha Labade
Po Yee Lam
Denise Larcombe
John Lauder
Linda Lawrence
Paul Laxton
Lorraine Le Blang
David Lee
Michael Leslie
Pamela Leuzinger
Joanne Lewis
Junyi Li
Krystal Li
Zeyao Li
Stephanie Liang
Eileen Lim
Jasmin Lin
Timothy Lindeback
Yiling Liu
Scarlett Li-Williams
Rodrigo Llauro
Matthew Lloyd
Wun Ting Lo
Tom Lockley
Annie Lord

Kadie Luong
Gail Luthy
Mai-Anh Ly
Molly Anne Macinante
Bess Maher
Peter Martin
Jennifer Marty
Herb Mathews
Kate McDougall
Julie McFarland
Geoff McGirr
Sandra McKirdy
Sue McMunn
Kathleen Mist
Jenny Mitchell
Danny Mok
Hette Mollema
Ernie Mollenhauer
Jill Monro
Denis Moore
Cedric Muller
Norman Myers
Isabel Navarro Marote
Victoria Nelson
Chiu Ng
Chloe Nguyen
Franklin Nieh
Barry Nielson
Farrah Nouri
Trevor Oates
Ross O’Brien
Tess O’Brien
Kelvin O’Keefe
Tom O’Keeffe
Daniela Ortiz Castillo
Madeleine Pagget
Emily Paine
Christinne Patton
James Pettigrew
Richard Pike
Jim Poole
Chantal Powell
Cate Purcell
Thomas Pywell
Peter Radcliffe
Helena Rainert
Judith Rainsford
Diane Reed
Joanne Ritchie
Robert Ryan
Alexis Sawyer
Olga Sawyer
Iain Scott-Stevenson
Bridget Scully
Pranav Sharma
Asti Sherring
Dare Skinner
Sue Slattery
Emma Slee
Christine Smalley
Keryn Smart
Kok So
Daniel Soto Garcia
Joanne Steele
Alan Stennett

Heather Stevens
Ian Stevens
Meg Stevenson
Barbara Stokes
Ryan Suhardjo
Christina Sumner
Maria Townsend
Taylor Tracy
An Thy Tran
John Tsioulos
Zayar Tun
David Uren
Kim Vo
Jim Vodanovich
Paul Waite
Amanda Wang
Yanan Wang
Norma Warnecke
Colin Watts
Robyn Wienholt
Ken Williams
Erin Wilson
Georgina Wily
Peter Wong
Victor Wongdoo
John Wright
Meng Xia
Michelle Xiang
Mengyuan Ying
Joseph Yiu
Mary Zarate
Kamil Zielinski
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STAFFING NUMBERS (AGAINST LAST 3 YEARS)
FTE at June 30 (non casual)
Directorate
Directors
Executive Support
Total
Powerhouse Program
Directors
Campaign
Strategy and Operations
Design and Delivery
Total
Curatorial Collections & Exhibitions
Curatorial
Library Services
Collections and Major Projects
Indigenous Engagement and Strategy
Exhibitions
Workshop
Registration
Conservation
Production
Editorial and Publishing
Total
Corporate Resources
Human Resources
Governance, Planning and Reporting
Finance
Property Services
Mechanical Services
Facilities and Asset Management
Security Operations
Records
Volunteer Programs
Commercial
Retail
Events
Information and Communications Technology
Total
Communications and External Affairs
Communications
Development
Memberships Program
Total
Programs and Engagement
Sydney Observatory
Regional Programs
Discovery Centre
Media Technologies
Public Programs (Partnerships and Festivals)
Digital and Media
Education and Digital Learning
Programs
Visitor Services and Venues
Digital Studio
Total
MUSEUM TOTAL (non-casual)
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2018

2019

2020

Difference
19–20

4
4.4
8.4

3
2
5

4
3
7

1
1
2

6
0
2
1
9

6
0
2
1
9

20.8
4
2
2
11
4
15.4
15.8
1
4.6
80.6

23
4
2
2
12
5
13
17
2
4.8
84.8

18
6
93.6
2
9.8
5
9
6.8
2
4.4
156.6

-5
2
91.6
0
-2.2
0
-4
-10.2
0
-0.4
71.8

4
3
11.2
4
0
3
5
2
2.4
1
1
5.6
6.6
48.8

5
2
11.2
0
0
7
6
2
2.4
1
1
4.6
5
47.2

4.8
1
11.2
0
0
8
6
2
1.8
1
1
3.6
9
49.4

-0.2
-1
0
0
0
1
0
0
-0.6
0
0
-1
4
2.2

5.6
3.2
2.8
11.6

5
4
1.8
10.8

4.6
1.2
1.6
7.4

-0.4
-2.8
-0.2
-3.4

1
1
1
6
5

0
1
1
5
5

0
0
1.8
6
5

5
1.6
24.4
9
54
199

5
3
24
6
50
197.8

5
4
24.9
5
51.7
281.1

0
-1
0.8
1
0
0
0
1
0.9
-1
1.7
83.3

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) STATISTICS
A. Trends in the Representation of EEO Groups
EEO Group
Women

2018

2019

2020

68%

67%

66%

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders

1%

1%

3%

People whose first language was not English

8%

7%

8%

People with a disability

5%

2%

4%

People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment

0%

0%

1%

2018

2019

2020

Women

107

107

107

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders

n/a

n/a

n/a

People whose first language was not English

n/a

n/a

n/a

People with a disability

n/a

n/a

n/a

People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment

n/a

n/a

n/a

B. Trends in the Distribution of EEO Groups
EEO Group

Notes:
1.
Includes casual staff.
2.
A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the centre of the distribution of the EEO group across salary levels is equivalent to that of
other staff. Values less than 100 mean that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at lower salary levels than is the case for other staff.
The more pronounced this tendency is, the lower the index will be. In some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that the
EEO group is less concentrated at lower salary levels. The Distribution Index is automatically calculated by the software provided by the
Department of Premier and Cabinet.
3.
The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.

Comparison of staff by occupational category
Staff Numbers (FTE) Powerhouse Museum (non-casual)
Occupation Group

2017–18 2018–19 2019–20

Manager and administrators

33

36

57

Professionals

75

75

126

Technicians and associate professionals

40

38

45

Tradespersons and related workers

6

5

4

Advanced clerical, sales and service workers

3

2

13

Intermediate clerical, sales and service workers

37

36

16

Elementary clerical, sales and service workers

8

5

20

202

197

281

TOTAL
Notes:
Staff employed at the Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences are part of the Department of Premier and Cabinet
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SENIOR EXECUTIVE
During 2019–20 the following were members of the
State Government Senior Executive Service:

Band Position title

Gender

Employed
at 30 June

Chief Executive
Lisa Havilah

3

Chief Executive
Lisa Havilah

Female

Y

Director, Corporate Resources, Chief Financial Officer
Andrew Elliott

2

Director Campaign
Yvonne Zammit

Female

Y

Acting Director Public Programs and Engagement
Eloise Eaton

2

Project Director Strategy –
Powerhouse Program
Alex Bowen

Female

Y

1

Director Corporate
Resources, Chief Financial
Officer – Andrew Elliott

Male

Y

1

Director Programs and
Engagement – Eloise Eaton

Female

Y

1

Director Curatorial,
Collections and Exhibitions
Peter Denham

Male

N

1

Director Curatorial,
Collections and Exhibitions
Matthew Connell

Male

Y

Director Strategy and Operations
Simon Walkom

1

Male

Y

Director Design and Delivery
Chaya Braetova

Director Strategy and
Operations
Simon Walkom

1

Director Communications
Chris Lawrence

Male

Y

1

Director Strategic Projects
Lisa Ffrench

Female

Y

1

Director Design and
Delivery – Chaya Braetova

Female

Y

1

Director Communications
and External Affairs
Siobhan Rennie

Female

N

Acting Director Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions
Matthew Connell
Director Communications
Chris Lawrence
Project Director Strategy – Powerhouse Program
Alex Bowen
Director Campaign
Yvonne Zammit
Director Strategic Projects
Lisa Ffrench

Director Curatorial Collections and Exhibitions
(until August 2019)
Peter Denham
Director Communications and External Affairs
(until October 2019)
Siobhan Rennie

Average Remuneration

Band

2017/8

2018/19

2019/20

-

$385,000

$394,625

3
2

$315,187

$315,187

$280,920

1

$226,461

$232,123

$209,698

Exec expenses as a % of Employee Related
Expenses (ERE) = 8.6%
Band
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30-Jun-20

4

0

3

1

2

2

1

7

CEO under s11A

0

Total

10

Number of female SES

6

OVERSEAS TRAVEL (LIST AND PURPOSE)
M Kim, 31 August – 8 September, Japan. To attend the
International Council of Museums Conference.
D Lawler-Dormer, 25 February – 8 March, France.
To participate in Museum Symposium.

LEGISLATIVE CHANGES
There was no legislative change which affected the
Museum in 2019–20.

MAJOR WORKS STATEMENT
There was no major capital works project undertaken by
the Museum over the 2019–20 financial year. The Museum
classifies major works as a single project funded by NSW
Treasury Capital Grant in excess of $5 million.

DIGITAL INFORMATION SECURITY
ATTESTATION STATEMENT
I, Andrew Elliot, Director, Corporate Services and Chief
Financial Officer, am of the opinion that the Museum of
Applied Arts and Sciences ICT team have managed cyber
security risks in a manner consistent with the Mandatory
Requirements set out in the NSW Government Cyber
Security Policy.
Risks to the information and systems of the Museum have
been assessed and are managed.
Governance is in place to manage the cyber-security
maturity and initiatives of MAAS.
There exists a current cyber incident response plan for the
Museum which has been tested during the reporting period.

GUARANTEE OF SERVICE AND
CONSUMER RESPONSE
Our commitment to our customers
The Museum is committed to continuous improvement in its
quality of service. We regularly evaluate our exhibitions,
programs and services.
Our service standards
Visitors to the Museum will find:
– friendly, responsive and efficient staff;
– well-maintained exhibitions and buildings;
– a commitment to caring for objects in the collection
and on loan to the Museum;
– accurate and appropriate information in response to
your inquiries;
– a high standard of safety and security;
– appropriate facilities (rest areas, cafes, toilets, baby
change room) for you to use;
– appropriate access and services for those with special
needs (eg people with disabilities and those with a
language background other than English);
– signage and information brochures that are helpful and
easy to understand;
– printed information about Museum events in plain English;
– special services including:
• g
 uided tours in community languages, including sign
language, on a booked basis (minimum two weeks’
notice), depending on availability of guides;
• g
 uided tours for visitors with blindness or low vision on
a booked basis (minimum two weeks’ notice) depending
on availability of guides. For bookings and enquiries
please call (02 9217 0222) or email book@maas.museum.
Our expectations of our visitors
We expect our staff, volunteers and exhibitions to be treated
with care and respect. We reserve the right to refuse
admission to patrons who behave inappropriately.
What to do if you have a suggestion or complaint
We welcome comments and suggestions from visitors
regarding improving our services. A comments form is
available at the cloaking desk for visitors who have a
compliment, suggestion or complaint they wish to put in
writing. Alternatively, visitors can email the Museum
(feedback@maas.museum).
This year the Museum received 186 pieces of feedback via
our public inbox and onsite paper forms. As an outcome
from this feedback collection process, the Museum
responded to growing requests for weekend trading at
the Museums Discovery Centre by reviewing its opening
hours and opening its doors on the weekend as of
September 2019.
The Museum also receives feedback on the Powerhouse
Program via project@maas.museum. In 2019-20 the
Museum responded to more than 47 pieces of feedback
via this inbox.
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PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE
REPORTING AS REQUIRED BY THE
PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE ACT 1994
(ALSO TO BE PROVIDED TO THE
NSW OMBUDSMAN)
Public Interest Disclosures:
Number of officials who made PIDs
Number of PIDs received
Number of PIDs finalised

0
0
0

PRIVACY REVIEWS UNDER THE
PRIVACY AND PERSONAL INFORMATION
PROTECTION ACT 1998
The Museum did not receive any privacy reviews during the
reporting year under the Privacy and Personal Information
Protection Act 1998.

PUBLIC ACCESS TO INFORMATION
Under section 7(3) of the Government Information (Public
Access) (GIPA) Act 2009 the Museum has reviewed the
currency and nature of information made publicly available
and has reported on this in the reporting template below.
The Museum releases information regarding exhibitions,
programs and venues on the Museum’s website. In addition
to this, the online collection is a source of information made
available to the public with over 136,000 object records
available as at 30 June 2020.
The Museum publishes the following blogs online:
Inside the Collection and Observations (a blog to help the
public learn about the southern night sky, with Sydney
Observatory providing an audio guide or podcast with a
transcript of that audio and a sky map or chart each month)
and also publishes articles from the MAAS Magazine.
Following the Government announcement regarding the
creation of Powerhouse Parramatta, the Museum developed
a website dedicated to the project and proactively releases
information about the project, consultation undertaken,
frequently asked questions and media releases.
The following information has been submitted to the NSW
Information and Privacy Commission as part of annual
reporting obligations of agencies under section 125 of the
Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009.
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GIPA REPORTING AS REQUIRED BY THE
GOVERNMENT INFORMATION (PUBLIC ACCESS) ACT 2009
(ALSO TO BE PROVIDED TO THE NSW INFORMATION AND
PRIVACY COMMISSION )
Clause 8A: Details of the review carried out by the agency under section 7 (3) of the Act during the reporting year
and the details of any information made publicly available by the agency as a result of the review
Reviews carried out by the agency

Yes

Information made publicly available by the agency

Yes

Clause 8B: The total number of access applications received by the agency during the reporting year
(including withdrawn applications but not including invalid applications)
Total number of applications received

7

Clause 8C: The total number of access applications received by the agency during the reporting year that the agency
refused either wholly or partly, because the application was for the disclosure of information refered to in Schedule 1
to the Act (information for which there is conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure)
Number of Applications Refused
% of Total

Wholly

Partly

Total

1

3

4

25%

75%

Schedule 2 Statistical information about access applications to be included in annual report
Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome*
Access Access Access Information Information Refuse to
Granted Granted Refused not Held
Already
Deal with
in Full
in Part
in Full
Available Application

Refuse to
Application
Confirm/
Withdrawn
Deny
whether
information
is held

Total

% of
Total

Media

0

2

1

0

0

0

0

1

4

57%

Members of
Parliament

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

14%

Private sector
business

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0%

Not for profit
organisations or
community
groups

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0%

Members of the
public (by legal
representative)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0%

Members of the
public (other)

2

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2

29%

7

Total
% of Total

2

3

1

0

0

0

0

1

29%

43%

14%

0%

0%

0%

0%

14%

* More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application.
If so, a recording must be made in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B.
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome*
Access Access Access Information Information Refuse to
Granted Granted Refused not Held
Already
Deal with
in Full
in Part
in Full
Available Application

Refuse to
Application
Confirm/
Withdrawn
Deny
whether
information
is held

Total

% of
Total

Personal
information
applications*

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0%

Access
applications
(other than
personal
information
applications)

2

4

1

0

2

0

0

0

9

100%

Access
applications
that are partly
personal
information
applications and
partly other

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0%

9

Total
% of Total

2

4

1

0

2

0

0

0

22%

45%

11%

0%

22%

0%

0%

0%

* A personal information application is an access application for personal information
(as defined in clause 4 of Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual).

Table C: Invalid applications
Reason for invalidity

No of
applications

% of Total

Application does not comply with formal requirements (section 41 of the Act)

0

0%

Application is for excluded information of the agency (section 43 of the Act)

0

0%

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act)

0

0%

Total number of invalid applications received

0

0%

Invalid applications that subsequently became valid applications

0

0%
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Table D: Conclusive presumption of overriding public interest against disclosure: matters listed in Schedule 1 of Act
Number of times
consideration
used*

% of Total

0

0%

Cabinet information

3

100%

Executive Council information

0

0%

Contempt

0

0%

Legal professional privilege

0

0%

Excluded information

0

0%

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety

0

0%

Transport safety

0

0%

Adoption

0

0%

Care and protection of children

0

0%

Ministerial code of conduct

0

0%

Aboriginal and environmental heritage

0

0%

Privilege generally - Sch 1(5A)

0

0%

Information provided to High Risk Offenders Assessment Committee

0

0%

Total

3

Overriding secrecy laws

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access
application and if so, each such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application).
This also applies in relation to Table E

Table E: Other public interest considerations against disclosure: matters listed in table to section 14 of Act
Number of times
consideration
used*

% of Total

Responsible and effective government

5

72%

Law enforcement and security

0

0%

Individual rights, judicial processes and natural justice

1

14%

Business interests of agencies and other persons

1

14%

Environment, culture, economy and general matters

0

0%

Secrecy provisions

0

0%

Exempt documents under interstate Freedom of Information legislation

0

0%

Total

7

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation to a particular access
application and if so, each such consideration is to be recorded (but only once per application).
This also applies in relation to Table E

Table F: Timeliness
Number of
applications*

% of Total

Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus any extensions)

3

43%

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant)

4

57%

Not decided within time (deemed refusal)

0

0%

Total

7
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Table G: Number of applications reviewed under Part 5 of the Act (by type of review and outcome)
Decision varied Decision upheld

Total

% of Total

Internal review

0

0

0

0%

Review by Information Commissioner*

1

0

1

100%

Internal review following recommendation under
section 93 of Act

0

0

0

0%

Review by NCAT

0

0

0

0%

Total

1

0

0

100%

0%

% of Total

*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary decisions, but can make recommendations to the original
decision-maker. The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold the original decision has been made by the
Information Commissioner.

Table H: Applications for review under Part 5 of the Act (by type of applicant)
Number of
applications
for review

% of Total

Applications by access applicants

0

0%

Applications by persons to whom information the subject of access application relates
(see section 54 of the Act)

0

0%

Total

0

Table I: Applications transferred to other agencies
Number of
applications
transferred

% of Total

Agency-Initiated Transfers

0

0%

Applicant-Initiated Transfers

0

0%

Total

0
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BUDGET ESTIMATES
Budgets for the year under review and for the next financial year are set out hereunder in accordance with section 7(1)(a)(iii)
of the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984. The budgets have been prepared on an accrual basis.
Expenditure

2019/20
$000

2020/21
$000

27,714

24,152

Operating Expenses
Employee Related
Other Operating Expenses
Grants and Subsidies
Depreciation and Amortisation

8,020

13,012

24,878

25,000

8,460

6,560

Finance Costs

2

2

69,074

68,726

34,961

35,154

Capital Grant

1,868

3,868

Sale of Goods and Services

5,514

2,085

Total Expenditure
Revenue
Recurrent Grant

Investment Income

164

164

28,056

27,540

Other Revenue

309

70

Acceptance of State Liabilities

890

1,063

-

-

71,762

69,944

Grants and Contributions

Gain on disposal of non current assets
Total Revenue

CONSULTANTS (>50K and <50K)
Budgets for the year under review and for the next financial year are set out hereunder in accordance with section 7 (1)(a)(iii) of
the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984. The budgets have been prepared on an accrual basis.
Engagements costing less than $50,000		
Service provided

Number of engagements

Cost $

Collection Development

1

44,550

Work Health and Safety

2

12,457

Program Development

3

23,000

Governance

1

30,470

Recruitment

1

3,675

Statistical Reporting

1

8,550

Strategic Planning

1

13,528

Total Consultancies

136,230

Museum of Applied Arts and Sciences Annual Report 2019–20

97

PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS/TIME FOR PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS
Payment Performance Indicators 2019/20
Value of accounts due and payable by the Museum at the end of each quarter
As at
30-Sep-19
$

As at
31-Dec-19
$

As at
31-Mar-20
$

As at
30-Jun-20
$

884,542

767,250

254,850

519,644

Less than 30 days overdue

-

2,759

1,578

261

Between 30 & 60 days overdue

-

258

-

4,021

Between 60 & 90 days overdue

-

7,259

2,851

1,749

Current

More than 90 days overdue

4,392

-1,691

257

-

884,542

763,008

259,536

517,111

These amounts do not include accruals of expenses for which no claim for payment had been made at the end of the quarter.

Amount and value of accounts paid by the Museum on time in each quarter
Quarter ending

Accounts Paid

Paid on Time

No.

$000

No.

%

$000

%

1,996

8,331

1,961

98.2%

8,278

99.4%

31 December 2019

2,270

9,959

2,224

98.0%

9,830

98.7%

31 March 2020

2,405

8,173

2,385

99.2%

7,993

97.8%

30 June 2020

2,053

7,524

2,006

97.7%

7,494

99.6%

30 September 2019

The Museum’s policy is to endeavour to ensure that all payments to suppliers are made promptly and in line with State Government
guidelines. In some circumstances, certain issues relating to claims for payment require further clarification with suppliers. In such cases
payment is made promptly once agreement is reached on matters requiring clarification. No interest was paid in relation to late payments.
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CONTACT INFORMATION
Powerhouse Museum

Sydney Observatory

Museums Discovery Centre

500 Harris Street, Ultimo NSW 2007
Postal address: 500 Harris Street,
Ultimo NSW 2007
Phone (02) 9217 0111
Open daily: 10am to 5pm
(closed Christmas Day)
Infoline (for information about
what’s on): phone (02) 9217 0111
info@maas.museum

1003 Upper Fort Street
Millers Point NSW 2000
Postal address: 500 Harris Street
Ultimo NSW 2007
Phone: (02) 9217 0111
Open daily: 10am to 5pm
Open nightly: Monday to Sunday
(closed Christmas day/night,
Boxing day/night and New Year’s Eve)
Evening Tour start times vary
according to time of year
Bookings required
booking@maas.museum

172 Showground Road
Castle Hill NSW 2154
Postal address: PO Box 8025
Baulkham Hills NSW 2153
Phone: (02) 9217 0111
Open Saturday and Sunday:
10am to 4pm
Access only for pre-booked groups
Wed–Friday.

Free Admission from 1 June 2020

General Admission: Free
Day Tour Charges*
Adult $26
Children (under 16) $22
Concession $23.50
Family (1 adult and up to 3 children;
or 2 adults and up to 2 children) $84
Member adult $19.50
Member child (under 16 years)
or concession $17.50
Member family (1 adult and up to
3 children; or 2 adults and up to
2 children) $63
Night Tour Charges*
Adult $40
Children (under 16) $34
Concession $36
Family (1 adult and up to 3 children; or
2 adults and up to 2 children) $129.50
Member (adult or concession) $30
Member (child) $27
Member (family) $97
Includes Space Theatre, telescope
viewing and a guided tour
Discounts are offered to Members
for all activities
* Tours suspended on 23 March 2020
due to COVID-19.

General Admission: Free
Tour Charges
Collection Galleries Tour
(minimum 8 people) Free
Behind the Scenes Tour
(minimum 8 people) Adult $35
Discounts are offered to Members
for all activities
Other discounts may apply

Members
Members Lounge* at Powerhouse
Museum open daily:
10am to 4.30pm
(closed Christmas Day)
Phone: (02) 9217 0600
membership@maas.museum
* Members Lounge closed from 23
March 2020 due to COVID-19.
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